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Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which we refer to as this Annual
Report or report, to “Upwork,” “Company,” “our,” “us,” and “we” and similar references refer to Upwork Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Trademarks, Trade Names, and Service Marks

Upwork, the Upwork logo, Elance, oDesk, “Uma, Upwork’s Mindful AI,” “Talent Cloud,” “Work Without Limits,” and other registered or common law trade
names, trademarks, or service marks of Upwork appearing in this Annual Report are the property of Upwork. This Annual Report contains additional trade
names, trademarks, and service marks of ours and of other companies. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names,
trademarks, or service marks to imply a relationship with these other companies, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by these other companies. Other
trademarks appearing in this Annual Report are the property of their respective holders. Solely for convenience, our trademarks and trade names referred
to in this Annual Report appear without the ® and ™ symbols, but those references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the
fullest extent under applicable law, our rights, or the right of the applicable licensor, to these trademarks and trade names.



SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements include all
statements other than statements of historical fact, including any statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, information or
predictions concerning the future of our business or strategy, anticipated events and trends, including future research and development, sales and
marketing, and general and administrative expenses, and provision for transaction losses, potential growth or growth prospects, competitive position,
technological and market trends, industry environment, the economy, our plans with respect to share repurchases, the expected impact of cost-savings
initiatives, the expected impact of our acquisition of Objective AI, Inc., and other future conditions. Words such as “believes,” “may,” “will,” “estimates,”
“potential,” “continues,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “expects,” “could,” “would,” “projects,” “plans,” “targets,” and variations of such words and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections as of the date of this filing about future events and
trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short- and long-term business operations and objectives,
and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in Part
I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report. Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made in this Annual Report
and in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which we refer to as the SEC, that disclose risks and
uncertainties that may affect our business. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to
time. It is not possible for us to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these
risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the future events and circumstances discussed in this Annual Report may not occur and actual results could differ
materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking
statements may not be achieved or occur. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, performance, or achievements. In addition, the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report are made as of the date
of this filing, and we do not undertake, and expressly disclaim any duty, to update such statements for any reason after the date of this Annual Report or
to conform statements to actual results or revised expectations, except as required by law.

You should read this Annual Report and the documents that we reference herein and have filed with the SEC or incorporated by reference as exhibits to
this Annual Report with the understanding that our actual future results, performance, and events and circumstances may be materially different from
what we expect.

Item 1. Business.
Overview

We operate the world’s largest work marketplace that connects businesses with independent talent from across the globe, as measured by gross services
volume, which we refer to as GSV. Independent talent is an increasingly sought-after, critical, and expanding segment of the global workforce. During the
year ended December 31, 2024, our work marketplace enabled $4.0 billion of GSV.

Independent talent that advertise and provide services to clients through our work marketplace, which we refer to as talent, includes independent
professionals and agencies of varying sizes. We define clients as customers that seek out and work with talent through our work marketplace. We refer to
talent and clients together as customers.

We serve as a powerful discovery engine for talent, helping them find rewarding, engaging, and flexible work, as well as market their services and build
their book of business. Talent benefit from access to quality clients and secure and timely payments while enjoying the freedom to run their own
businesses, create their own schedules, and work from their preferred locations on projects that they find fulfilling. Moreover, talent have real-time
visibility into opportunities that are in high demand, so that they can invest their time and focus on developing sought-after skills.

 GSV represents the total amount that clients spend on our offerings as well as additional fees we charge to talent and clients for other services. For additional information related to

how we calculate GSV, see the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Overview—Business” and “—Key Financial

and Operational Metrics.”
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For clients, our work marketplace provides fast, secure, and efficient access to high-quality talent with over 10,000 skills across more than 125 categories
of work, such as web, mobile and software development, administrative support, sales and marketing, design and creative, and customer service, as well
as more emergent categories and skills like those pertaining to generative artificial intelligence. We offer a direct-to-talent approach as an alternative to
traditional intermediaries such as staffing firms, recruiters, and agencies by providing high-quality independent talent through our work marketplace with
innovative technology features that help build trusted relationships and instill trust in remote work, including the ability to engage talent as either
independent contractors or as employees of third-party staffing providers. Our work marketplace also enables clients to streamline workflows, including
talent sourcing, outreach, and contracting. In addition, our work marketplace provides clients with access to essential functionality for remote
engagements with talent, including communication and collaboration, the ability to receive all talent invoices through our work marketplace, and payment
protection. Our clients range in size from independent professionals and small businesses to Fortune 100 companies.

We believe a key differentiator of our business is our track record of creating trusted relationships, enabling our customers to successfully connect at
scale. As the world’s largest work marketplace connecting businesses with independent talent, as measured by GSV, we benefit from network effects that
drive growth in both the number of clients posting jobs and the number of talent seeking work. Long-term and recurring use of our work marketplace by
our customers underscores its value and utility.

We generate revenue from both talent and clients of our Marketplace and Enterprise offerings. Revenue is primarily generated from fees charged to talent
as a percentage of their billings to clients, which we refer to as talent service fees, and to a lesser extent, fees charged to clients on a per-transaction
basis, which we refer to as client marketplace fees. We also generate revenue through ads and monetization products, including purchases of Connects
(which are virtual tokens that are required for talent to bid on projects and purchase ads products on our work marketplace), talent memberships, and
other services, such as foreign currency exchange when clients choose to pay in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Additionally, we earn interest on
funds held on behalf of customers. The expansion of our ads and monetization products enhances marketplace efficiency and provides additional
opportunities for talent and clients to connect.

Our Work Marketplace

We believe the following core aspects of our work marketplace provide Upwork with a competitive advantage:

Trusted Work Marketplace

Our work marketplace fosters trust and credibility among talent and clients, while reducing the friction associated with searching for, contracting and
collaborating with, and paying highly-skilled independent talent for short-term and longer-term projects. We use a combination of the latest
technology, data science, product features, and our skilled team to position our work marketplace as a trusted online marketplace to get work done.
We build and use software, leverage data analysis, and apply machine learning and artificial intelligence to highlight relevant talent, facilitate security
and identity verification for account ownership, and flag suspicious activity to protect customers and prevent undesirable behavior on our platform. We
closely monitor activity on our work marketplace to detect and prevent abuse and have integrated several third-party technologies, including an
industry-leading fraud detection vendor. We provide clients with tools to validate work performed by talent and to provide both public and private
feedback once the work is completed. Our feedback system enables talent to build their business reputation by establishing long-term credibility with
project review and verified client feedback. Talent profiles also include data from their work history on our work marketplace, including client
feedback, number of hours billed, projects completed, and amount earned. This expertise is a critical factor to establish and build trust, while
promoting brand loyalty and giving clients confidence in hiring talent for their next project. Additionally, we provide escrow services, approval
workflows, and dispute processes to help ensure that clients on our work marketplace only pay for work that has been completed and talent is paid by
their clients in full and on time.

Proprietary Data Drives Increasing Efficiencies

We have built an expansive and unique repository of data on our work marketplace. Our proprietary database maintains detailed and dynamic
information, including skills possessed by talent, feedback, and success indicators of talent and clients transacting on our work marketplace.
Leveraging this data through artificial intelligence, which we refer to as AI, including machine learning models, enables us to provide a trusted,
convenient, and effective experience for both new and existing customers. Additionally, clients are able to better connect with available talent for their
projects, while at the same time enabling talent to better identify available projects that fit their specific skills. Moreover, our AI-driven models leverage
our closed-loop transaction data on
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millions of completed projects. The large volume of transactions on our work marketplace positions us to improve the effectiveness of our search and
match capabilities, product features and experiences, and insights we provide to our customers.

Robust Functionality

Our global work marketplace enables clients to post jobs and leverage AI-powered recommendations to efficiently connect with talent, rank proposals,
and collaborate on projects. We provide a range of advanced tools designed to streamline how talent and clients work together, including our
proprietary AI assistant Uma, which enhances productivity for both talent and clients. Our platform also includes search and collaboration capabilities,
machine learning-driven talent matching and proposal ranking capabilities, time tracking and invoicing systems, and payments services. The robust
functionality of our work marketplace is designed to enable talent to run and build their businesses more easily and to enable clients to find, hire, and
collaborate with high-quality talent on a global scale.

Powerful Global Network Effects

We have heavily invested in building a robust work marketplace with features and functionality to connect talent and clients at scale. We believe our
work marketplace provides a strong value proposition for both talent and clients and our scale creates powerful network effects that strengthen our
competitive position. In turn, as more clients use and post high-quality projects on our work marketplace, more talent come to seek opportunities. As a
result, we have been able to scale our business and our global community of customers efficiently.

Business Model with Strong Retention Metrics

Our business is driven by talent and clients’ long-term and recurring use of our work marketplace, which leads to more predictable revenue. In
addition, we believe the scale of our work marketplace incentivizes talent to build their business reputations on and continue to use our work
marketplace.

Our Offerings

Marketplace

Our Marketplace offerings are designed for clients looking to identify quality talent and scale hiring quickly. Our Marketplace offerings provide clients
with access to independent talent, including those with verified work history on our work marketplace and client feedback. Clients benefit from the
ability to instantly match with the right talent and built-in collaboration features. They can also receive perks such as a verified client badge and
highlighted job posts, which help clients stand out to top talent and achieve results.

Upwork Payroll is available to clients when they choose to work with talent that they find on Upwork as employees. With Upwork Payroll, clients have
access to third-party staffing providers to employ talent and meet their talent needs through our work marketplace.

Enterprise

Our Enterprise offerings deliver industry-leading work solutions for clients who have achieved, or aim to achieve, enterprise scale and who are looking
to be more cost-efficient, innovative, productive, and growth-oriented. Enterprise offers two lines of service—Enterprise Solutions and Managed
Services.

Clients of Enterprise Solutions receive all the product features of our Marketplace offerings, in addition to consolidated billing and monthly invoicing, a
dedicated team of account managers, detailed reporting with company insights and trends to enable clients to hire faster and more successfully, and
the opportunity for clients to onboard pre-existing independent talent onto our work marketplace. Enterprise Solutions also offers access to additional
product features, premium access to expert-vetted talent, professional services, and payment terms flexibility. Additionally, through our Enterprise
Compliance offering, clients can engage us to determine whether talent should be classified as an employee or an independent contractor based on
the scope of talent services agreed between the client and talent and other factors.

For clients seeking a higher level of service, Managed Services offers a service-led program management and full project lifecycle solution that
enables Enterprise customers to contract entire functions. Through Managed Services, clients engage us to deliver the work product, and we, in turn,
engage talent either directly or as employees of third-party staffing providers to perform the work for clients on our behalf. We directly invoice the
client and assume responsibility for the work performed.

As with our Marketplace offerings, Upwork Payroll is also available to Enterprise clients when they choose to work with talent they find on Upwork as
employees.
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Our Team and Culture

Our mission—to create economic opportunities so people have better lives—is integral to our culture and how we build amazing teams and products to
lead our industry. We enable remote work not only through our work marketplace for our customers, but also for our own team members, for whom we are
proud to offer a remote-first work model, which has environmental benefits as well as other advantages, such as flexible work hours for childcare and
reduced commute time. Our team consists of corporate employees, independent talent that we engage through our work marketplace, and advisors. Our
team members are distributed around the world, and while we offer a flexible workspace program and a corporate office, we have built an effective
remote-first culture. Our team works with a variety of tools and has adopted innovative practices to ensure all voices are heard, creativity is fostered,
organizational effectiveness is prioritized, and business results are achieved. Our hybrid team and its belief in our mission, values, and vision is critical to
our success. With consistent investment in the development of our team and our commitment to diversity, inclusion, and belonging, we cultivate an
environment where people are able to perform high-impact work.

Our People

Our mission not only drives the creation and continuous development of our work marketplace, but it is also integral to how we engage our employees
and our approach to creating and fostering an inclusive environment that promotes and encourages diversity, inclusion, belonging, career
development, and wellness. As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately 600 employees, and throughout 2024, we engaged approximately
2,200 independent team members through our work marketplace to provide services to us on a variety of internal projects. We believe the positive
relationship between us, our team members, and our unique, strong culture differentiates us and is a key driver of our business success.

Diversity, Inclusion, and Belonging

We put our people and their experiences first. We view belonging as a feeling, inclusion as a practice, and diversity as an outcome.

We foster belonging through our Upwork Belonging Communities—groups that build empathy and promote inclusive skill-building. We cultivate
inclusion by equipping managers with training and tools to effectively build and lead inclusive, innovative teams that amplify team members’ voices.
Additionally, we practice multi-dimensional compensation reviews during our semi-annual employee performance evaluation processes. This is led by
a cross-functional team of human resource and legal leaders to help ensure we are fair and merit-based in our rewards and recognition strategy. We
will continuously explore programs and practices that cultivate an inclusive culture in which every team member belongs.

Training and Development

As an organization built on talent and skills development, we understand the value of providing our employees with ongoing professional
development and leadership opportunities to advance their careers. Led by our dedicated learning and development team, we offer our team
members an array of learning and development opportunities, including access to an online learning platform with an extensive course library and
relevant workshops at key milestones such as onboarding.

Benefits and Competitive Compensation

We strive to offer market-competitive compensation and benefits to attract and retain employees for the long-term. We engage an independent
compensation consultant to benchmark our employee compensation with external sources to ensure fair and equitable pay practices. We provide
total rewards that attract and retain world-class employees through a total compensation package that includes equity-based awards for certain roles
to align employee compensation with stockholder interests. Knowing our employees have diverse needs and life priorities, we also provide
comprehensive benefits and services to those eligible, which include core benefits such as medical, dental, vision, and disability insurance, in addition
to benefits tailored to the specific needs of our employees, such as mental health, fertility, family back-up care, and adoption support. We offer a
health savings account with company contributions, family and medical leave, flexible working schedules, paid holidays and flexible vacation policies.
We are committed to supporting our employees' financial well-being by providing tools and resources to enhance financial literacy and confidence.
Through our financial coaching program and educational workshops, employees can gain valuable insights into budgeting, saving, and planning for
their future. Additionally, we offer benefits like a 401(k) plan with matching contributions and an employee stock purchase plan that enables eligible
employees to purchase shares of our stock at a discount through payroll deductions. These programs empower employees to take charge of their
financial goals and
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build long-term security. Additionally, we offer a tuition reimbursement program to support employees in upskilling and furthering their professional
development, empowering them to grow their careers while contributing to our long-term success.

Workforce Engagement and People Analytics

We engage our workforce in meaningful ways and take timely action in response to feedback. Research into workforce experience begins during
onboarding and is sustained throughout a team member’s tenure at Upwork. This “lifecycle” approach to workforce research affords Upwork senior
leadership and People team members ongoing and near-real-time insight into critical moments of worker experience and productivity. The collection
of such data allows leadership, line managers, and our People team to identify successes and opportunities at many levels, including for individual
team members, company-wide programs or larger organizational units. Over time, the aggregation and analysis of such data enables us to optimize
for those workforce factors that drive crucial people and business outcomes.

Additionally, we have a dedicated people analytics team, which has enabled us to build on insights from our lifecycle listening program, as well as
broader data sources and methods, and uncover strategic and operational insights that will further improve the overall experience of our workforce
and drive performance of our business.

Employee Wellness

Employee safety and well-being is of paramount importance to us. We empower our team with cutting-edge productivity and collaboration tools, as
well as training and toolkits designed to help leaders thrive in managing remote teams. In addition, we promote programs to support our employees’
physical, financial, and mental well-being. For example, we regularly conduct internal surveys to assess the well-being and needs of our employees,
and we offer employee assistance and mindfulness programs to help employees and their families manage anxiety, stress, sleep, and overall well-
being. Additionally, we believe that our employees are at their best when they take the time to recharge. In order to encourage our employees to
recharge and make their well-being a priority, we provide unlimited paid time off in addition to our company-recognized holidays.

Board of Directors Oversight

Our board of directors recognizes the critical importance of our team and the necessity to ensure a diverse, inclusive, effective, and creative work
environment that is centered around a values-based culture. Our board of directors meets regularly with management to discuss issues impacting our
team members and ways to support our workforce. Our focus on culture comes from our board of directors and flows throughout our company. In
evaluating our Chief Executive Officer and management team, emphasis is put on their contributions to our overall culture.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing organizations work closely together to increase awareness, generate customer demand, build a strong sales pipeline, and grow
account relationships across clients of all sizes, including independent professionals and small businesses to Fortune 100 companies, to accelerate GSV
and revenue growth.

Enterprise Sales

Our Enterprise sales team focuses on clients interested in our Enterprise Solutions and Managed Services offerings. Our Enterprise sales team
consists of teams that focus on one of two primary areas—Land and Expand. The Land team consists of business development representatives and
other quota-carrying account executives who are primarily focused on acquiring new clients who have achieved, or aim to achieve, enterprise scale.
The Expand team consists of quota-carrying account management and success team members who help new and existing clients scale usage of our
work marketplace throughout their organizations. We achieve this by strategically developing and growing relationships within client organizations at
all levels, from users to buyers to executives, as well as executing persona-based workshops, webinars, and account-based marketing campaigns
that drive additional client spend through our work marketplace. We believe this land-and-expand strategy helps clients ramp their usage of our
platform and drives more value, awareness, and adoption over time. In 2024, we realigned our Enterprise sales organization to enhance operational
efficiency and optimize resources for client acquisition and support.

Marketing

We employ a holistic and integrated marketing strategy aimed at attracting clients to our work marketplace and guiding them toward the right product
offerings to meet their business needs. Our approach begins with building
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awareness of our brand and highlighting the advantages of hiring independent talent compared to traditional staffing models. These advantages
include access to high-quality talent, reduced time-to-hire, greater flexibility, and cost efficiencies. Additionally, Upwork fosters trusted relationships
while providing both clients and independent talent greater control over their businesses and careers. To support this strategy, the Upwork Research
Institute publishes proprietary insights based on platform data and third-party research that are leveraged for marketing activities across the client
acquisition funnel, driving thought leadership through speaking engagements, social media activations, and earned media, including widespread
press coverage. Our earned and owned media initiatives contribute to shaping influential conversations about the future of work and the value of
flexible talent solutions, further enhancing brand awareness.

Building on our brand positioning, we address key client needs throughout our marketing efforts, ensuring clients can easily identify and leverage the
right Upwork product for their goals. While a significant portion of new client registrations originates from direct and non-paid channels, we also invest
in targeted programs to expand our client pipeline. These initiatives include digital campaigns and direct mail.

To drive client retention and growth, we deploy email and lifecycle marketing programs aimed at engagement, cross-selling, and upselling
opportunities. Additionally, we invest in advertising campaigns, including television, digital, and streaming audio placements, to further promote
awareness and adoption of our solutions.

Our Technology

We invest substantial resources in research and development to enhance our platform, develop new products and features, and improve our
infrastructure. We utilize a flexible systems architecture to allow us to scale easily as our platform usage increases and to provide a consistent and robust
customer experience. The core focus of our technology is on:

Reliability

Our infrastructure is designed to provide high reliability and robust platform performance. There are four components to our reliability strategy:

1. Modern Distributed Infrastructure. We have engineered and implemented a modern, distributed core infrastructure design that provides
for failures to occur at the individual system level without disrupting service or impacting the customer experience.

2. Services-Oriented Architecture. We have focused on building a services-oriented architecture hosted on Amazon Web Services, which
we refer to as AWS, designed to independently scale, or failover, as needed, by leveraging the capabilities of the AWS platform. As a
result, we believe we are more resilient to unexpected surges in traffic or to new code changes that we may introduce.

3. Isolation as a Design Philosophy. Leveraging the philosophy of domain-driven design, we have divided our platform into multiple sections
to reduce the likelihood that a failure in any one section would negatively impact other sections of our platform.

4. Intelligent Monitoring and Automated Remediation.  Our platform is designed to continuously monitor its own health and act appropriately
to maintain its health, particularly during our deployment of new code or in response to any single infrastructure or platform issue.

Security

Our platform is designed to help ensure the security of our data and systems, protect our customers’ personal information, and meet the rigorous
privacy and security requirements of our Enterprise clients. To that end, we have obtained and maintain the following security and privacy
certifications: ISO 27001 and 27018, SOC 2 Type 2 certification, SOC 3 certification, PCI-DSS Level 1 certification, U.S. Department of Commerce
Data Privacy Framework certifications, and TRUSTe Enterprise Privacy & Data Governance Practices certification from TrustArc. Our information
security controls operate at multiple levels and are designed to detect, prevent, and mitigate cybersecurity threats. All access to our platform is
encrypted using industry-standard transport layer security technology, and customers can further secure their accounts with two-factor
authentication. For additional details regarding our cybersecurity risk management and strategy, see Part I, Item 1C, “Cybersecurity.”

Artificial Intelligence Capabilities

We leverage real-time and historical data to create an adaptive experience for our customers. Our platform contains a large repository of closed-loop
data for the entire lifecycle of work, starting from when clients post
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projects to when talent and clients match, how they communicate via on-platform messaging and collaboration tools, how and when payment is
transferred, and feedback on their engagements.

Our platform leverages artificial intelligence, including machine learning models, and we continue to invest in the latest advances in AI to train these
models on our large, proprietary behavioral data to better predict future behaviors that drive successful outcomes for customers.

Traditional query-based search capabilities are enriched by proprietary AI-powered models that drive real-time algorithms optimized to facilitate
discovery and the “best match” between a client’s project requirements and talent’s unique skill set. We leverage AI to balance supply and demand
within the platform as well. Talent receives data on market rates based on similar jobs when submitting proposals. When clients post jobs, similar rate
resources also appear within the system. Upon registration, our AI models assess the potential of talent to be successful on our work marketplace.

In 2024, we acquired Objective AI, Inc., which we refer to as Objective AI, an AI-native search-as-a-service platform, with the aim of further enhancing
our core search and matching capabilities and enabling richer insights into client needs and talent capabilities. By incorporating Objective AI’s
technology, such as multi-modal semantic search, we hope to be better positioned to provide enhanced precision and efficiency in connecting talent
and clients. The expertise of Objective AI’s personnel will also deepen the capabilities of Upwork’s AI and machine learning team.

Scalability

Our cloud-based platform has been designed to be elastic, scaling automatically with increased usage, supporting sudden traffic spikes by
dynamically bringing additional capacity online as required, then scaling back to ensure consistent and predictable cost management.

Our Social and Environmental Impact

Our mission is to create economic opportunities so people have better lives. Everything we do to build a better way to work—from our product offerings,
to our grant making and volunteerism, to the policies and programs that guide our operations—is driven by this mission and our commitment to be a force
for good.

Empowered by our work marketplace, millions of people from diverse backgrounds and locations around the globe are accessing economic opportunities
previously unavailable to them. We enable workers to engage with clients beyond their local labor market, choose when to work and what projects to
pursue, and set their own rates. Upwork provides a new way for talent to market their skills and expertise and we enable inclusive hiring practices through
continuous accessibility improvements, analysis of potential underlying bias in our technology, and features like our diversity-certified talent badges.

We are also powering a more efficient and sustainable way to work. We believe that by facilitating remote work engagements and providing our customers
with the tools they need to collaborate from afar, we are helping them avoid work-related commutes and business travel. Our work marketplace is also
connecting sustainability professionals with mission-driven clients, including thousands of nonprofits on Upwork. By committing to carbon-neutral
operations and to purchasing carbon-free electricity to match 100% of our office and remote work electricity consumption, we are demonstrating how
companies across the globe can take action on climate change. We are also pursuing strategies to reduce our Scope 3 emissions intensity from
employee commuting, business travel, and purchased goods and services as we grow.

Our drive to create a more equitable and sustainable future of work has helped us identify new ways to serve our stakeholders—including our clients and
the independent talent on our work marketplace, our own team members, our investors, and our community partners—and contribute to long-term value
creation. We continuously assess our social and environmental impact, and we are committed to addressing both short- and long-term risks and
opportunities across our value chain. We address these risks and opportunities across four key themes: economic opportunity; team enablement; the
environment; and trust and ethics.

Competition

The market segment for independent talent and the clients that engage them is highly competitive, rapidly evolving, fragmented, and subject to changing
technology, shifting needs, and frequent introductions of new competitors as well as new offerings and services. The market continues to draw increased
third-party investment and new competitor entrants, driven by changing labor market dynamics. We compete with a number of online and offline platforms
and services domestically and internationally, as well as traditional staffing firms, to attract and retain customers and expand our share of customer spend.
Artificial intelligence tools are emerging as an additional area
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of competition as technology becomes capable of generating work outputs that could otherwise be produced by independent talent.

We believe the principal competitive factors in our market segment include:

• platform features and functionality, including efficient and accelerated time to hire;

• verified talent work history and client payment history;

• size and engagement of customer base, including the ability to attract and retain clients with a need for talent services;

• breadth of skill categories offered by a platform’s rated quality talent;

• availability of high-quality projects from clients of all sizes, including Fortune 100 companies;

• uniqueness, size, and scope of data assets;

• ease of use;

• brand awareness and reputation;

• trust and safety;

• level of customer satisfaction;

• relationships with third-party partners;

• strength of sales and marketing efforts;

• ability to innovate and develop new or improved offerings and services;

• greater flexibility with cost structure and reduced operating costs; and

• level of workflow automation driven by machine learning and artificial intelligence tools.

We believe that we compete favorably with respect to these factors and are committed to making continued investments in our business to ensure our
long-term success.

Intellectual Property

The protection of our technology and intellectual property is an important aspect of our business. We rely upon a combination of patents, trademarks,
trade secrets, copyrights, confidentiality procedures, contractual commitments, and other legal rights to establish and protect our intellectual property. We
generally enter into confidentiality agreements and invention or work product assignment agreements with our employees, independent team members
that we engage through our work marketplace, advisors, and consultants to control access to, and clarify ownership of, our software and other inventions
and intellectual property, documentation, and other proprietary information.

As of December 31, 2024, we held 19 issued U.S. patents, with 3 patent applications pending. As of December 31, 2024, we held seven registered
trademarks in the United States, including Upwork, Elance, oDesk, “Work Without Limits,” and “Talent Cloud,” and also held 163 registered trademarks in
foreign jurisdictions. We continually review our development efforts to assess the existence and patentability of new intellectual property.

Government Regulation

We have a robust regulatory compliance program built to comply with the various U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations that are
applicable to internet companies and businesses that operate online marketplaces connecting businesses with independent talent. Our compliance
program gives us the ability to pursue products and features that are or may be governed by complex laws and regulatory regimes. These laws and
regulations may involve areas such as labor and employment (including worker classification and independent contractor relationships), data protection,
content regulation, intellectual property, data sharing and privacy, taxation, consumer protection, background checks, payment services, money
transmitter regulations, anti-corruption, anti-money laundering and sanctions laws, the development, use and training of artificial intelligence models, or
other subjects. Moreover, we provide escrow services to our customers and are therefore licensed as an internet escrow agent by the California
Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which we refer to as the DFPI. Many of the laws and regulations that are or may be applicable to our
business are still evolving and being tested in courts and could be interpreted in ways that could adversely impact our business. In addition, the
application and interpretation of
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these laws and regulations often are uncertain, particularly in the industry in which we operate. See Part I, Item IA, “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Legal
and Regulatory Matters” for more information.

Available Information

Our principal executive office is located at 530 Lytton Avenue, Suite 301, Palo Alto, California 94301, and our mailing address is 3490 S 4400 W #70008,
West Valley City, Utah 84120. Our website is located at www.upwork.com, and our investor relations website is located at investors.upwork.com. Our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, are available free
of charge through our investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

We use our investor relations website (investors.upwork.com), our Blog (upwork.com/blog), our X handle (twitter.com/Upwork), Hayden Brown’s X handle
(twitter.com/hydnbrwn) and LinkedIn profile (linkedin.com/in/haydenlbrown), and Erica Gessert’s LinkedIn profile (linkedin.com/in/erica-gessert) as means
of disseminating or providing notification of, among other things, news or announcements regarding our business or financial performance, investor
events, press releases, and earnings releases, and as means of disclosing material nonpublic information and for complying with our disclosure
obligations under Regulation FD.

The content of our websites and information that we may post on or provide to online and social media channels, including those mentioned above, and
information that can be accessed through our websites or these online and social media channels are not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report or in any other report or document we file with or furnish to the SEC, and any references to our websites or these online and social media
channels are intended to be inactive textual references only.
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PART I

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties
described below, as well as the other information in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The occurrence of any of the events or developments
described below, or of additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial, could materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our common stock could
decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Summary of Risk Factors

Some of the more material risks that we face include:

• Our growth depends on our ability to attract and retain a community of talent and clients, and the failure to maintain or grow our community of
customers and their activity on our platform in a cost-effective manner or at all could adversely impact our business, operating results, and
financial condition.

• We have experienced growth in recent periods and expect to invest in our growth in the future. If we are unable to maintain similar levels of
growth, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

• We continue to evolve our business strategy, offerings and pricing model, and changes that we make can adversely affect our business and make
it difficult to evaluate our future prospects.

• If we are unable to maintain our banking and payment partner relationships on favorable terms, or at all, our business could be adversely
affected.

• Our business depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and their continued performance.

• We face payment and fraud risks that could adversely impact our business.

• Customers circumvent our work marketplace, which adversely impacts our business.

• We are subject to disputes with or between customers of our work marketplace.

• We face risks related to our international community of customers, which could increase as we seek to expand our international footprint.

• If the market for independent talent and the services they offer does not grow, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be
adversely affected.

• If we are not able to develop and release new offerings and services or successful enhancements to our existing offerings and services, our
business could be adversely affected.

• We face intense competition and could lose market share to our competitors, which could adversely affect our business, operating results, and
financial condition.

• If internet search engines’ methodologies or other channels that we utilize to direct traffic to our website are modified to our disadvantage, or our
search result page rankings decline for other reasons, our customer growth could decline.

• If we or our third-party partners experience a security breach, other hacking or phishing attack, ransomware or other malware attack, or other
privacy or security incident, our work marketplace may be perceived as not being secure, our reputation may be harmed, demand for our work
marketplace may be reduced, our operations may be disrupted, we may incur significant legal costs, fines, or liabilities, and our business could
be adversely affected.

• If we fail to maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected.

• Business or system errors, defects, or disruptions could diminish demand, adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial
condition, and subject us to liability.
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• Our business is subject to extensive government regulation and oversight. Any failure to comply with the extensive, complex, overlapping, and
frequently changing laws and regulations, both in the United States and internationally, could adversely impact our business, operating results,
and financial condition.

• We have a history of net losses, may increase our operating expenses in the future, and may not be able sustain profitability.

• Our operating results and performance metrics may fluctuate from period to period, which makes our future results difficult to predict.

• We track certain performance metrics with internal tools and do not independently verify such metrics. Certain of our performance metrics may
not accurately reflect certain details of our business, are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in
such metrics may harm our reputation and negatively affect our business.

• The stock price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

• We cannot guarantee that the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization will be fully consummated or that repurchases made under our share
repurchase authorizations will enhance long-term stockholder value. Share repurchases could also increase the volatility of the trading price of
our common stock and diminish our cash reserves.

• Our indebtedness could limit the cash flow available for our operations and expose us to risks that could adversely affect our business, operating
results, and financial condition.

• Adverse or changing economic conditions may negatively impact our business.

Risks Related to our Business Operations, Execution, and Growth

Our growth depends on our ability to attract and retain a community of talent and clients, and the failure to maintain or grow our community of
customers and their activity on our platform in a cost-effective manner or at all could adversely impact our business, operating results, and
financial condition.

The size of our community of customers, both talent and clients, is critical to our success. Our ability to achieve significant future revenue growth depends,
in large part, upon our ability to attract and retain customers.

Talent have many different ways of marketing their services, securing clients, and obtaining payments from clients, and the competition from offline and
online models is significant. Likewise, there may be impediments to talent who would like to use our work marketplace, including geopolitical events such
as Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, which resulted in immediate reductions in activity from customers in the region.

Clients have similarly diverse options to find and engage service providers, including other online or offline platforms, staffing firms and agencies, by
engaging service providers directly, or by hiring temporary, full-time, or part-time employees directly or through an agency. Clients may decrease or cease
their use of our work marketplace and our revenue may be adversely impacted for many reasons, including: if we fail to attract and retain talent; if the
quality or types of services provided, or the pricing offered, by talent are not satisfactory to clients; or if generative artificial intelligence tools provide a
suitable replacement for traditional talent tasks. Further, expenditures by clients may be cyclical and may reflect overall macroeconomic conditions or
budgeting patterns. Additionally, we had two clients that accounted for more than 10% of trade and client receivables as of December 31, 2024. The loss
of a key client could have an adverse effect on our business.

Customers may stop using our work marketplace and related services if the quality of the customer experience on our work marketplace or our offerings
or services do not meet their expectations or keep pace with the timing or quality of competitive products and services. Customers may also choose to
cease using our work marketplace if they perceive that our pricing model is not in line with the value they derive from our work marketplace. Our efforts to
attract and retain customers may not be successful or cost effective, and if customers, particularly significant clients, cease or reduce their use of our work
marketplace and related services for any reason, our business, operating results, and financial condition would be adversely affected.

We have experienced growth in recent periods and expect to invest in our growth in the future. If we are unable to maintain similar levels of
growth, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We have experienced growth in a relatively short period of time and expect to invest in our growth in the future. However, our historical growth should not
be considered indicative of our future performance. There can be no
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assurance that we will be able to sustain our historical growth rates or that any future investments in growth will be successful or cost-effective. Moreover,
sustaining our growth in future periods will become more difficult if macroeconomic uncertainty, elevated interest rates, and inflation persist. For example,
during the year ended December 31, 2024, macroeconomic conditions adversely impacted GSV, which declined 3% compared to 2023. To manage any
future growth, we must improve our systems, motivate and effectively manage and train our workforce, and successfully manage the risks, challenges,
and uncertainties associated with our business. If we are unable to grow successfully without compromising the quality of our offerings or customer
experience, or if new systems that we implement to assist in managing our growth do not produce the expected benefits, our business, operating results,
and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We continue to evolve our business strategy, offerings and pricing model, and changes that we make can adversely affect our business and
make it difficult to evaluate our future prospects.

We continue to evolve our business strategy, offerings, and pricing model, as well as our sales, marketing, and brand positioning efforts. We continuously
evaluate and revise our current offerings and pricing model and create and test additional offerings, pricing models, features, and services to serve our
current and prospective customer base.

Changes in our offerings and pricing model and the continued evolution of our business strategy and brand positioning subject us to a number of
uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and project future growth and performance. Creating or modifying offerings is expensive and time
consuming, diverts the attention of management, and may not be successful or cost-effective to maintain. In addition, we have in the past seen, and may
in the future see, unexpected or unintended negative effects as a result of changes to our pricing model, offerings, and sales and marketing efforts,
including increased customer dissatisfaction, harm to our reputation, increased circumvention rates, reductions in the rate or size of projects that get
posted or completed, or a failure to attract and retain customers. Additionally, implementing changes to business strategies could result in furloughs,
layoffs, and reductions in force, such as our restructuring plan announced in October 2024, which we refer to as the Restructuring Plan. If there are
unforeseen expenses associated with such realignments in our business strategies, and we incur unanticipated charges or liabilities, then we may not be
able to effectively realize the expected cost savings or other benefits of such actions. Any negative impacts resulting from changes to our business
strategy, offerings, or pricing model could adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

If we are unable to maintain our banking and payment partner relationships on favorable terms, or at all, our business could be adversely
affected.

We rely on banks and payment partners to provide us with corporate banking services, escrow trust accounts or other regulated accounts, and clearing,
processing, and settlement functions for the funding of all transactions on our work marketplace and disbursement of funds to customers. Our banking
and payment partners are critical to our business, and we may not always have a sufficient surplus of vendors in the event one or more relationships is
terminated or interrupted for any reason. This could occur for a number of reasons, including the following:

• our partners may be unable to perform the services we require of them, including meeting processing speed and compliance standards;

• a failure by us to comply with our partners’ compliance standards, which could result in increased rates that they charge us or our customers or a
reduction or termination in services or benefits that they provide, and any remediation efforts undertaken by us may be costly and time
consuming;

• our partners may be subject to investigation, regulatory enforcement, or other proceedings that result in their inability or unwillingness to provide
services to us or our unwillingness to continue to partner with them;

• our partners may be unable to effectively accommodate changing service needs; and

• our partners could experience instability, delays, limitations, or closures of their businesses, networks, partners, or systems.

In addition, we may be forced to cease doing business with certain partners if payment laws, regulations, or rules change or are interpreted to make it
difficult or impossible for us to comply.

If we are unable to maintain our agreements with current partners on favorable terms or at all, or if we are unable to enter into new agreements with new
partners on favorable terms or at all, our ability to collect payments and disburse funds and our business, operating results, and financial condition may be
adversely affected.
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Our business depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and their continued performance.

To grow our business, we need to continue to establish and maintain relationships with third parties, such as staffing providers, software and technology
vendors, and payment processing and disbursement providers. For example, we depend on third-party staffing providers to support our employment
offering, Upwork Payroll. We also have several partnerships that enable us to integrate generative artificial intelligence tools into our work marketplace
aimed at improving customer experience and productivity. As our agreements with third-party partners terminate or expire, we may be unable to renew or
replace these agreements on favorable terms or at all. Some of our strategic partners offer, or could offer, competing products and services or also work
with our competitors. Moreover, we cannot guarantee that the parties with which we have strategic relationships will continue to offer the services for
which we rely on them at economically reasonable terms or at all or devote the resources necessary to expand our reach, increase our distribution, or
support an increased number of customers. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties on favorable terms,
these relationships are not successful in improving our business, or one or more of our partners materially changes its business, our business, operating
results, and financial condition may be adversely impacted.

We face payment and fraud risks that could adversely impact our business.

We expect that bad actors will continue to attempt to use our marketplace to engage in unlawful or fraudulent conduct. This conduct may include
unauthorized or fraudulent acquisition or use of data, money laundering, moving funds to regions or persons restricted by sanctions or export controls,
terrorist financing, fraudulent sale of services, bribery, breaches of security, extortion or use of ransomware, distribution or creation of malware or viruses,
and piracy or misuse of software and other copyrighted or trademarked content.

Our controls relating to customer identity verification and authentication and fraud detection are complex, require continuous improvement, and may not
be effective in detecting and preventing misconduct. Further, while we take steps to improve our trust and safety program through the use of algorithms
and machine learning techniques, any required or inadvertent disclosure of our security techniques or new laws restricting our use of them may make our
efforts to prevent fraud or the improper use of our platform less effective and increase the risk of harm to our customers. If our controls are not effective,
any of the following could result, each of which could harm our reputation, divert the attention of management, and adversely impact our business,
operating results, and financial condition:

• we may be, and historically have been, held liable for the unauthorized use of credit or debit card details or other payment account information
and required to return the funds at issue and pay a chargeback, return, or other fee. If our chargeback or return rate becomes excessive, card
networks may require us to pay fines or other fees or engage in costly remediation efforts or cease doing business with us;

• the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which we refer to as the DFPI, or other regulators may require us to hold larger
cash reserves or take other action with respect to our internet escrow license or other licensing regimes;

• customers may seek to hold us responsible for losses, lose confidence in and decrease use of our work marketplace, or publicize their negative
experiences;

• law enforcement or administrative agencies could seek to hold us responsible for the conduct of or content posted by customers and impose
fines and penalties, bring criminal action, or require us to change our business practices, and private actions or public enforcement may increase
depending on interpretations of and possible changes to applicable laws;

• we may be subject to additional risk and liability exposure if employees or third-party service providers, including our independent team members,
misappropriate or facilitate the fraudulent use of our or customer banking, payment, or other information;

• if talent misstate their qualifications, identity or location, or produce insufficient or defective work product or work product with a harmful effect,
clients or other third parties may seek to hold us responsible and may lose confidence in and decrease use of our work marketplace; and

• we may bring, and have in the past brought, claims against clients and other third parties for their misuse of our work marketplace.
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Customers circumvent our work marketplace, which adversely impacts our business.

Our business depends on customers transacting through our work marketplace. Despite our efforts to prevent them from doing so, customers circumvent
our work marketplace and engage with or take payment through other means to avoid our fees, and it is difficult or impossible to measure the losses
associated with circumvention. Enhancements and changes we make to our pricing model, fees, offerings, services, and features may unintentionally
cause customers to circumvent our work marketplace. In addition, circumvention is likely to increase during a macroeconomic downturn, as customers
may be more cost-sensitive. The loss of revenue associated with circumvention of our work marketplace adversely impacts our business, operating
results, and financial condition. Moreover, our efforts to reduce circumvention may be costly or disruptive to implement, fail to have the intended effect or
have an adverse effect on our brand or customer experience, reduce the attractiveness of our work marketplace, or otherwise harm our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

We are subject to disputes with or between customers of our work marketplace.

Disputes sometimes arise between talent and clients, including with respect to service standards, payment, confidentiality, work product, and intellectual
property ownership and infringement. If either party believes the contract terms were not met, the service agreements negotiated between our customers
and our default terms provide a mechanism for the parties to request assistance from us and, for some contracts, a third-party arbitrator. If customer
disputes are not resolved amicably, the parties might escalate to formal proceedings. Given our role in facilitating and supporting customers’ interactions,
claims may be brought against us directly and talent or clients may bring us into claims filed against each other, particularly when one party is insolvent or
facing financial difficulties. We generally disclaim responsibility and liability for disputes between customers; however, we cannot guarantee that these
disclaimers will be effective in preventing or limiting our involvement in customer disputes, enforceable, or otherwise effectively prevent us from incurring
liability. Disputes with or between customers may become more frequent based on the services offered or conditions outside our control, such as a
macroeconomic downturn or actions of bad actors seeking to take advantage of other customers. Such disputes, or any increase in the number of
disputes, may adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We face risks related to our international community of customers, which could increase as we seek to expand our international footprint.

We have customers located in over 180 countries. Conducting business with an international customer base, engaging talent globally, and expanding our
operations internationally subject us to significant challenges, uncertainties, and risks, including:

• varying and overlapping laws and regulations and approaches to enforcement, including with respect to worker classification and data protection
and privacy;

• difficulties in, and costs of, establishing local brand recognition and staffing, managing, and operating international operations or support
functions;

• compliance with laws designed to combat money laundering and the financing of terrorist activities;

• the imposition of taxes on transactions between us and our customers or among our customers, or liability for failing to collect and remit taxes
owed by our customers;

• tariffs, export and import restrictions, restrictions on foreign investments, sanctions, changes to existing trade arrangements between various
countries, and other trade barriers or protection measures;

• geopolitical instability and security risks, such as armed conflict and civil or military unrest, political instability, human rights concerns, terrorist
activity, ransomware, and cyberterrorism in countries where we have customers and retaliatory actions that governments may take in response,
including the interruption of internet access as a result of any of the foregoing;

• costs of localizing services and business practices, including adding the ability for clients to pay in local currencies or modifying our platform to
offer our website in local languages;

• changes to laws, regulations, or central bank rules impacting us or our partners that may make payments for services exports more costly,
difficult, or impossible to process, or that may reduce the availability of tools like digital wallets and related payment services;

• any unenforceability of contractual provisions designed to protect and mitigate against risks, including terms of service, services agreements,
arbitration and class action waiver provisions, disclaimers of warranties, limitations of liabilities, releases of claims, and indemnification provisions;
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• economic weakness or currency-related challenges or crises;

• regional or global public health events;

• difficulties in obtaining and protecting our intellectual property rights outside the United States;

• organizing or similar activity by workers, local unions, works councils, or other labor organizations; and

• other risks relating to laws and regulations in jurisdictions outside the United States, as discussed elsewhere in these “Risk Factors.”

These risks may make it costly or difficult for us to conduct or expand our operations internationally, particularly in markets where we have limited
experience. If we are unable to manage the complexity of global operations and support an international customer base successfully and in a cost-
effective manner, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our business depends largely on our ability to attract and retain talented employees, including senior management and key personnel. If we
lose the services of Hayden Brown, our President and Chief Executive Officer, or other members of our senior management team or key
personnel, we may not be able to execute on our business strategy.

Our future success depends in large part on our ability to attract, retain, and motivate our senior management and other key personnel. In particular, we
are dependent on the services of Hayden Brown, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and our future vision, strategic direction, work marketplace,
and technology could be compromised if she were to take another position, become ill or incapacitated, or otherwise become unable to serve as our
President and Chief Executive Officer.

We face intense competition for qualified personnel from numerous technology companies. We may not be able to retain our current key personnel or
attract, train, integrate, or retain other highly skilled personnel in the future and may incur significant costs to do so. Our senior management and other
key personnel are all employed on an at-will basis, which means that they could terminate their employment with us at any time, for any reason, and
without notice, and we do not maintain any “key-person” life insurance policies. In addition, changes in our management team resulting from the hiring or
departure of executives and other personnel changes including reorganizations of reporting lines of our workforce, such as the Restructuring Plan
announced in October 2024, have resulted, and may in the future result, in increased attrition or reduced productivity of our personnel and could
negatively impact our ability to attract qualified personnel. Volatility, depreciation, or lack of appreciation in our stock price may also affect our ability to
attract and retain key personnel.

If we lose the services of senior management or other key personnel, if our succession plans prove inadequate to ensure business continuity, or if we are
unable to retain, attract, train, and integrate the highly skilled personnel we need, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be
adversely affected.

Acquisitions, investments, and other strategic transactions could result in operating difficulties and harm our business.

Our business strategy may, from time to time, include business combinations, acquisitions, and dispositions of products, services, technologies,
businesses, or other assets, strategic investments, and commercial and strategic partnerships. However, there can be no assurance that we will be
successful in identifying, negotiating and consummating strategic transaction opportunities. These transactions, even if undertaken and announced, may
not close, including due to challenges in obtaining regulatory or other approvals. In addition, strategic transactions that do close may involve significant
challenges, uncertainties, and risks, including:

• the potential for our strategic transactions to use cash that we may need in the future to operate our business or result in dilutive issuances of our
equity securities or the incurrence of significant indebtedness;

• failure of the strategic transaction to advance our business strategy or realize its anticipated benefits;

• disruptions of our ongoing operations and diversion of management’s attention;

• potential exposure to new or incremental risks associated with the acquired businesses or assets, including becoming subject to different laws
and regulations or more stringent scrutiny due to the nature or location of the acquired business, products, technologies, or other assets;

• incurring substantial expenses or assuming substantial liabilities, ongoing obligations, or other risks, particularly if we fail to identify or accurately
estimate commitments, liabilities, deficiencies, or other risks associated with the acquired businesses or assets;
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• difficulties retaining key personnel of the acquired company or integrating acquired operations, products, systems, technologies, and employee
cultures;

• potential exposure to adverse tax consequences, substantial depreciation, impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets, or deferred
compensation charges; or

• difficulties related to being required to adopt or modify accounting policies.

Strategic transactions are inherently risky, may not be successful, and may harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Industry, Offerings, and Services

If the market for independent talent and the services they offer does not grow, our business, operating results, and financial condition could
be adversely affected.

The market for online independent talent and the services they offer is relatively new, rapidly evolving, and unproven, and it is difficult to predict the size,
growth rate, and expansion of this market. Our future success will depend in large part on the continued growth and expansion of this market. The overall
demand for independent talent will continue to be impacted by competition in the marketplace, technological developments (including artificial
intelligence), and macroeconomic, geopolitical, legal, and regulatory conditions. In addition, many businesses may be unwilling to engage independent
talent for a variety of reasons, including perceived negative connotations with outsourcing work, quality of work, fraud, privacy, or data security concerns,
or the rapidly evolving regulation of independent contractor services more generally, as discussed elsewhere in these “Risk Factors.” Similarly, with the
increased prevalence of remote work and increased flexibility in employment relationships in recent years, more skilled independent talent may choose
traditional employment, reducing the number of qualified or desirable talent available on our work marketplace. If the market for independent talent and
the services they offer does not grow, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

If we are not able to develop and release new offerings and services or successful enhancements to our existing offerings and services, our
business could be adversely affected.

The market for our work marketplace is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent product and service introductions and enhancements,
changing customer demands, and evolving industry standards. We invest substantial resources in researching and developing new offerings and services
and enhancing our work marketplace by incorporating additional features, improving functionality, modernizing our technology, and adding other
improvements to meet our customers’ evolving demands in our increasingly highly competitive industry. For example, we have recently integrated
generative artificial intelligence tools into our work marketplace aimed at improving customer experience and productivity. The success of any
enhancements to our work marketplace or any new offerings or services depends on several factors, including overall demand and market acceptance,
competitive pricing, adequate quality testing, integration with our work marketplace and third-party partners’ technologies, and timely completion. We
cannot be sure that we will succeed in delivering enhancements or any new offerings or services or that any enhancements or new offerings or services
will be successful or cost effective. Even if we do introduce new offerings or services, we may experience a decline in revenue from our existing offerings
that is not offset by revenue from the new offerings or services, and we may experience unintended negative effects from any modifications to our
existing offerings, services, and features, including reduced client spend, diminished fill rates for projects on our work marketplace, errors and disruptions
on our work marketplace, and customer dissatisfaction.

We face intense competition and could lose market share to our competitors, which could adversely affect our business, operating results,
and financial condition.

The market for independent talent and the clients that engage them is highly competitive, rapidly evolving, fragmented, and subject to changing
technology, shifting needs, and frequent introductions of new competitors as well as new offerings and services. We compete with a number of online and
offline platforms and services domestically and internationally, as well as traditional staffing firms. Our main competitors fall into the following categories:

• traditional contingent workforce and staffing service providers and other outsourcing providers, such as The Adecco Group, Randstad, Recruit,
Allegis Group, and Robert Half International;

• online freelancer platforms that serve either a diverse range of skill categories, such as Fiverr, Guru, and Freelancer.com, or specific skill
categories;

• other online providers of products and services for individuals or businesses seeking work or to advertise their services, including personal and
professional social networks, such as LinkedIn and GitHub (each
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owned by Microsoft), employment marketplaces, platforms providing compliance services, recruiting websites, and project-based deliverable
providers;

• software and business services companies focused on talent acquisition, management, invoicing, or staffing management products and services,
such as Workday;

• payment businesses that can facilitate payments to and from businesses and service providers, such as PayPal and Payoneer;

• businesses that provide specialized professional services, including consulting, accounting, marketing, and information technology services; and

• online and offline job boards, classified ads, and other traditional means of finding work and service providers, such as Craigslist, CareerBuilder,
Indeed, Monster, and ZipRecruiter.

In addition, well-established internet companies, such as Google, LinkedIn, and Amazon, social media platforms, such as Meta, and businesses that
operate driving, delivery, and other commoditized marketplaces, such as Uber Technologies, have entered or may decide to enter our market segment.

We also compete with companies that utilize emerging technologies and assets, such as artificial intelligence and machine learning, blockchain,
augmented reality, and cryptocurrency, to provide automated alternatives to the talent on our work marketplace, connect businesses with service
providers, or otherwise change the way that businesses engage or pay service providers or that service providers perform work.

Internationally, we compete against localized competitors that have greater brand recognition in other countries and a stronger understanding of local or
regional culture and commerce. Some competitors also offer their products and services in local languages and currencies that we do not offer. In
addition, our decision to suspend our business operations in Russia and Belarus in March 2022 may increase the risk that new competitors emerge in the
region.

Many of our current and potential competitors enjoy substantial competitive advantages, such as: greater name recognition and brand reputation; pre-
existing relationships with desirable clients; more experience with international operations and localization of their offerings; longer operating histories;
greater financial, technical, and other resources; more customers; newer technologies; and, in some cases, the ability to rapidly combine online platforms
with traditional staffing and contingent worker solutions. These companies may use these advantages to offer products and services similar to ours at a
lower price, develop competitive products, or respond more quickly and effectively than we do to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards,
regulatory conditions, or customer preferences or requirements. In addition, in developing technology markets subject to dynamic and rapid technological
change, varied business models, and frequent disruption by innovative online and offline entrants, businesses can easily and quickly launch online or
mobile platforms and applications at nominal cost by using commercially available software or partnering with various established companies. For all of
these reasons, we may not be able to compete successfully against our current and future competitors, in which case our business, operating results, and
financial condition would be adversely impacted.

If internet search engines’ methodologies or other channels that we utilize to direct traffic to our website are modified to our disadvantage, or
our search result page rankings decline for other reasons, our customer growth could decline.

We depend in part on internet search engines and other channels to direct a significant amount of traffic to our website and mobile applications. Our
ability to maintain the number of visitors directed to our website and mobile applications is not entirely within our control. For example, our competitors’
search engine optimization and other efforts such as paid search may result in their websites receiving a higher search result page ranking than ours, or
we may make changes to our website or mobile applications that adversely impact our search engine optimization rankings and traffic to comply with
requirements imposed by regulators, our vendors or third-party partners, or for other reasons. As a result, links to our website may not be prominent
enough to drive sufficient traffic to our website, and we may not be able to influence search engine results.

In addition, search engines and other channels that we utilize to drive customers to our website and mobile applications periodically change their
algorithms, policies, and technologies, sometimes in ways that cause traffic to our website and mobile applications to decline. These changes can also
result in an interruption in customers’ ability to access our website or a misunderstanding among potential customers regarding the functionality or
purpose of our work marketplace. We may also be forced to significantly increase marketing expenditures in the event that market prices for online
advertising and paid listings escalate or our organic ranking decreases. Any of these changes could have an adverse impact on our customer acquisition,
business, operating results, and financial condition.
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If we or our third-party partners experience a security breach, other hacking or phishing attack, ransomware or other malware attack, or other
privacy or security incident, our work marketplace may be perceived as not being secure, our reputation may be harmed, demand for our work
marketplace may be reduced, our operations may be disrupted, we may incur significant legal costs, fines, or liabilities, and our business
could be adversely affected.

Our business involves the storage, processing, and transmission of customers’ proprietary, confidential, and personal information by us and our third-
party partners and vendors. Our third-party partners and vendors also process certain proprietary and confidential information relating to our business and
personal information of our personnel. Our systems, and the systems of our vendors and third-party partners, may be vulnerable to privacy or security
incidents, such as computer viruses and other malicious software, physical or electronic break-ins, or vulnerabilities resulting from intentional or
unintentional service provider actions, and similar disruptions that could make all or portions of our website or applications unavailable for periods of time.
Additionally, ransomware or other malware, viruses, social engineering (including business email compromise and related wire-transfer fraud),
impersonation of our company and executives on social media, and general hacking in our industry have become more prevalent and more complex.
Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and often are not
foreseeable or recognized until launched against a target, we and our vendors and third-party partners may be unable to anticipate incidents or to
implement adequate preventative measures. Data security breaches and other privacy and security incidents may also result from non-technical means,
such as actions taken by employees or contractors, including talent that we engage on our work marketplace to perform services for us. We have also
integrated, and expect to continue to integrate, generative artificial intelligence tools into our platform and products, or our vendors may in turn
incorporate generative artificial intelligence tools into their own offerings. We and the providers of these generative artificial intelligence tools may not
meet existing or rapidly evolving regulatory or industry standards with respect to data privacy and protection.

Any privacy or security incident experienced by us, our vendors, or our third-party partners could result in: unauthorized access to, misuse of, or
unauthorized acquisition of our, our personnel’s, or our customers’ data; the loss, corruption, or alteration of data; interruptions in our operations; or
damage to our computers or systems or those of our customers. Any of these could expose us to claims, litigation, fines, enforcement actions, other
potential liability, and reputational harm. In addition, significant unavailability of our work marketplace due to security breaches or other privacy and
security incidents could cause customers to decrease or cease their use of our work marketplace. Any of these effects could adversely impact our
business, operating results, and financial condition.

We may also need to expend significant resources to protect against or remediate security breaches and other incidents. We cannot be certain that our
cyber liability insurance coverage will extend to or be adequate for liabilities actually incurred, or that insurance will continue to be available to us on
economically reasonable terms, at coverage limits we deem prudent, or at all.

Depending on the nature of the information compromised, in the event of a security breach or other privacy or security incident, we may also have
obligations to notify affected individuals and entities and regulators and provide remedy, such as credit monitoring services. We may also face significant
fines, reimbursement obligations, or class-action settlements (including under the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, which we refer to as the
CCPA). Breach notification laws continue to evolve and may be inconsistent between jurisdictions. Complying with these obligations could cause us to
incur substantial costs and harm our reputation.

If we fail to maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected.

The awareness and integrity of our brand and reputation are important to achieving widespread acceptance and use of our work marketplace and
attracting and retaining customers. Successful and efficient promotion and positioning of our brand and business depend on, among other things, the
effectiveness of our marketing efforts and brand messaging and our ability to provide a reliable, trustworthy, and useful work marketplace and offerings at
competitive prices. Our marketing programs may not be successful or cost effective, particularly during early phases of new offerings or expansion into
new segments, such as international customers and customers who are reluctant to utilize remote or contract workers. Additionally, as more jurisdictions
adopt expansive data privacy regulations, an increasing number of customers and website visitors will have the right to opt-out of sharing their personal
information for purposes of specific types of online advertising. This may lead to diminished efficacy of our marketing and brand positioning efforts,
diminished visitor-to-customer conversions, and increased costs of maintaining compliance. Further, any negative publicity and news coverage relating to
us, fraud or other illegal activity conducted by bad actors on our work marketplace, or decisions we make relating to geopolitical or social
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matters may undermine our brand promotion efforts or harm our reputation. If we fail to promote and maintain our brand successfully, our business,
operating results, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Business or system errors, defects, or disruptions could diminish demand, adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial
condition, and subject us to liability.

Our systems and operations and those of our customers and third-party service providers and partners have experienced from time to time, and may
experience in the future, errors, defects, and disruptions from a variety of causes, including undetected hardware and software errors or defects, natural
disasters such as an earthquake, blizzard, hurricane, fire, or flood, and other catastrophic events, including public health events and pandemics, man-
made problems such as warfare or terrorism, human error, cybersecurity attacks, power losses, telecommunications or other technological failures, and
similar events or circumstances. In particular, catastrophic events in geographical areas where our employees or customers are concentrated could have
more severe impacts on our business, and the effects of climate change may increase the frequency and intensity of such events. For example, our
corporate headquarters and many key personnel are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity and catastrophic fires.

As we expand, we will need an increasing amount of technical infrastructure and continued infrastructure modernization, including network capacity,
computing power, and improvements to how we process and store data and transaction information. We also rely on third-party service providers and
infrastructure, including the internet, to provide our work marketplace. For example, we currently host our work marketplace, serve our customers, and
support our operations using Amazon Web Services, a provider of cloud infrastructure services. We do not have control over the operations or the
facilities of our third-party service providers, which are subject to risks of errors, defects, and disruptions. In addition, these third parties generally do not
have an obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and we may not be able to switch to another third-party
service provider easily or without incremental costs. Any interruption in the provision of services to us by these third parties for any reason or other
unanticipated problems could result in interruptions to our work marketplace, and our and these third parties’ business continuity and disaster recovery
plans may prove to be inadequate.

Our work marketplace enables our customers to manage important aspects of their businesses, and any errors, defects, disruptions in service, or other
performance or availability problems with our work marketplace, or our inability to adequately prevent or timely detect or remedy errors, defects, or
disruptions in service, could harm our brand and reputation, result in security breaches or the loss of critical data, adversely impact our business and our
customers, impair or jeopardize our partner relationships, result in delays in invoicing of clients or payment to us or talent, negatively impact our ability to
obtain or maintain important licenses, or result in claims by customers for losses sustained by them or investigation or corrective action by regulatory
agencies. In any such event, we may expend additional resources to attempt to resolve the issue. Moreover, we may not carry sufficient business
interruption insurance to cover losses that may occur as a result of any such events, and we cannot be certain that insurance will continue to be available
to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all. Accordingly, any errors, defects, or disruptions in our work marketplace could diminish demand, subject
us to liability, and adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our ability to attract and retain customers depends in part on the quality of our customer support, and any failure to offer high-quality support
could adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our ability to attract and retain customers is dependent in part on the ease of use, trustworthiness, and reliability of our work marketplace, including our
ability to provide high-quality support. Our customers depend on our support organization to enforce our terms of service against bad actors, resolve any
issues relating to our work marketplace, communicate effectively about their accounts, and assist in their use of our work marketplace, especially large
enterprise clients, which expect higher levels of support. In addition, customers of our Managed Services offering depend on our support organization to
manage their projects and reach satisfactory project outcomes. Our ability to provide effective support is largely dependent on our ability to attract,
resource, and retain service providers who are both qualified and well versed in our work marketplace. The incorporation of generative artificial
intelligence into our support tools, either by us or our third-party support partners, may lead to inconsistent quality of experience as these tools are
integrated and refined. As we seek to continue to grow our international customer base, our support organization will face additional challenges, including
those associated with delivering support and documentation in additional languages. Any failure to maintain high-quality support or effectively
communicate with our customers, or any market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support or act professionally, fairly, or effectively in our
communications and actions, could harm our reputation and customer demand, and adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial
condition.
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Our customer growth and engagement on mobile devices depend upon third parties maintaining open application marketplaces and effective
operation with mobile operating systems, networks, and standards that we do not control.

A significant and growing portion of our customers access our work marketplace through mobile devices and applications. Our mobile applications rely on
third-party open application store platforms, including the Apple App Store and Google Play, which may change their policies, impose additional fees or
requirements to support our applications, or stop supporting our applications altogether. These changes may increase our costs or adversely affect
customer experience. Additionally, mobile operating systems, such as Android and iOS, could stop supporting our work marketplace or the ability to make
payments on our work marketplace at all or on commercially reasonable terms or make changes that degrade the customer experience on our
marketplace. To deliver high-quality mobile offerings, it is important that our offerings are designed effectively and work well with a range of mobile
devices, technologies, systems, networks, and standards that are beyond our control. In the event that it is inconvenient or impossible for our customers
to access and use our work marketplace on their mobile devices or our competitors develop offerings and services that are perceived to operate more
effectively on mobile devices, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory Matters

Our business is subject to extensive government regulation and oversight. Any failure to comply with the extensive, complex, overlapping,
and frequently changing laws and regulations, both in the United States and internationally, could adversely impact our business, operating
results, and financial condition.

We and our customers are subject to a wide variety of foreign and domestic laws and regulations governing issues that may affect our business, including
worker classification, employment, worker health, payments, worker confidentiality obligations and whistleblowing, intellectual property, consumer
protection, taxation, privacy, and data security. These laws and regulations are often complex and subject to varying and evolving interpretations,
resulting in shifting enforcement and application over time. Many of these laws were adopted prior to certain technological developments and do not
contemplate or address the unique issues of such technologies.

In addition, because our website is generally accessible by customers worldwide, we have received and may continue to receive notices from jurisdictions
claiming that we or our customers are required to comply with their laws and regulations. Laws and regulations outside of the United States that could be
interpreted to apply to our business often provide greater rights to competitors, customers, and other third parties than those in the United States.
Compliance with international laws and regulations may be more costly than expected, may require us to change our business practices or restrict or
modify our offerings or obtain certain licenses, and such changes or licensure may not be possible on a reasonable timeline or at all. As a result, the
imposition of any such laws or regulations on us, our customers, or third parties that we or our customers utilize to provide or use our services, may
adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition. In addition, we may be subject to multiple complex overlapping legal or
regulatory regimes that impose conflicting requirements, including with respect to data protection and privacy, which could lead to additional compliance
costs and enhanced legal risks.

Regulatory scrutiny on large companies, technology companies, and companies engaged in dealings with independent contractors, payments, or
personal information and data has increased significantly and may continue to increase. New and existing laws and regulations (or changes in
interpretation of existing laws and regulations) may be adopted, implemented, or interpreted to apply to our business or our customers, including as a
result of new products or features we may introduce or international expansion of our business. In addition, these laws and regulations affect our
customers and may affect demand for our work marketplace. If we determine additional legal requirements apply to our business, we may expend
resources to comply or obtain licenses, and such efforts may be a distraction to the business or require adverse changes to the manner in which we
conduct our business or our work marketplace and may themselves cause regulatory agencies to scrutinize our business, including past practices. It is
also possible that certain provisions in agreements with our customers or service providers, or between talent and clients, or the fees we charge, may be
found to be unenforceable or not compliant with applicable law.

Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to analyze and support compliance with applicable laws and regulations, there can be
no assurance that we will maintain compliance, that our interpretations are or will remain correct, or that all of our employees, contractors, partners,
customers, and agents will comply. We have in the past been, and may in the future be, subject to administrative inquiries and audits concerning our
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including the taxation and classification of our workers and the customers of our work marketplace. Any
failure or alleged failure by us or our employees, contractors, partners, customers, or agents to comply with applicable laws and regulations creates risk
for our
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business and our employees, partners, contractors, and customers and could result in enforcement actions or other proceedings, criminal or civil fines
and penalties or other actions, civil lawsuits, forfeiture of significant assets, the limitation or suspension of our ability to operate our business or certain
services in a particular jurisdiction, damages, interest, loss of export privileges, costs and fees (including legal fees), injunctions, loss of intellectual
property rights, whistleblower complaints, termination of agreements by our partners, the diversion of management’s attention and resources, or
reputational harm and adverse media coverage. Certain of these claims may not be covered by our insurance, and we cannot be certain that our
insurance coverage will cover liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all.
Any of the foregoing could, individually or in the aggregate, harm our reputation, reduce demand for our marketplace, and adversely affect our business,
operating results, and financial condition, and we could be required to make costly and burdensome changes to our business practices or compliance
programs.

Worker Classification

Our clients are generally responsible for properly classifying the talent they engage through our work marketplace. Some clients opt to classify talent as
employees for certain work, while talent in many other cases are classified as independent contractors.

We offer an optional service to customers of our premium offerings through which we help classify talent as employees of third-party staffing providers or
independent contractors. For clients of these services, subject to applicable law and the terms of our agreement with the client, we indemnify clients from
misclassification risk and make certain warranties to the client, such as to compliance with applicable laws. In addition, we offer other premium offerings
where we provide increased assistance to customers to find and contract with one another, which could increase employment-related risks. Third-party
staffing providers employ talent classified as employees for clients, and failure of these staffing providers to comply with all legal and tax requirements
could adversely affect our business. We also use our work marketplace to find and engage talent to provide services for us and for our outcomes-based
delivery offerings, which subjects us to additional misclassification risk.

There is significant uncertainty and unpredictability in the worker classification regulatory landscape and the application of worker classification laws,
which are highly fact-sensitive, subject to divergent interpretations by various authorities, and regularly subject to further regulation, amendment, or re-
interpretation. As a result, there is risk to us and our customers that independent contractors could be deemed to be misclassified under applicable law,
including as a result of changes in our offerings or brand positioning that we may introduce. For example, in California, Assembly Bill 5 is widely viewed
as expanding the scope of the definition of “employee” for most purposes under California law. However, following the law’s effectiveness in January
2020 and subsequent amendments and challenges, there is little guidance from the courts or the regulatory authorities charged with its enforcement and
there remains a degree of uncertainty regarding its application. Further, in January 2024, the U.S. Department of Labor published a new final rule
regarding the classification of workers as independent contractors or employees under the Fair Labor Standards Act, and while we expect this new rule to
have minimal, if any, impact on the independent work relationships formed on our platform, it may increase uncertainty for our customers. Other federal
agencies, U.S. states, or jurisdictions outside the United States may enact similar legislation or rules.

Even if any new regulations do not directly impact our business, public perception may result in confusion about the standards to be applied when making
an employment determination and cause clients to explore alternative arrangements to meet their talent needs. In addition, any developments or changes
in the regulatory environment impacting worker classification and independent contractors may reduce the demand for independent contractors in one or
more jurisdictions and have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Privacy and Data Protection

We receive, collect, store, process, transfer, and use personal information and other customer data. There are numerous federal, state, local, and
international laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, information security, and the collection, storing, sharing, use, processing, transfer,
disclosure, and protection of personal information and other data. We are also subject to the terms of our privacy policies and legal and contractual
obligations to third parties related to privacy, data protection, and information security. The regulatory framework for privacy and data protection worldwide
is uncertain and complex, and it is possible that the laws and regulations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that we do not anticipate, that is
inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another, or that conflicts with other rules or our practices.

We expect that there will continue to be new laws, regulations, and industry standards concerning privacy, data protection, automated processing, and
information security. For example, Europe’s General Data Protection Regulation, which we refer to as the GDPR, the UK General Data Protection
Regulation, and Europe’s Digital
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Services Act impose stringent data protection and data handling compliance requirements and provide for significant penalties for noncompliance. In
California, the CCPA, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act, requires, among other things, covered companies to provide certain disclosures to
California consumers and affords such consumers certain rights, including the right to opt-out of certain sales of personal data. The CCPA also provides
for civil penalties for violations as well as a private right of action for data breaches that may increase data breach litigation. A growing number of U.S.
states have enacted similar or other data protection legislation that have or will go into staggered effect in the near future, and several other states and
countries are considering expanding or passing privacy laws in the near term. Additionally, developments in artificial intelligence may lead to increased
restrictions that could impact our platform’s functionality. New regulations or legal challenges could impose restrictions on artificial intelligence in ways
that prevent the incorporation of artificial intelligence tools into our platform or limit their functionality, limiting the potential benefits of artificial intelligence
to our business.

The enactment of more restrictive laws, rules, regulations, or future enforcement actions or investigations could increase our costs, require us to
materially modify our services and features, which we may be unable to complete in a cost-effective manner, or at all, and may limit our ability to store and
process customer data or develop new services and features, any of which could adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Payments

Our subsidiary, Upwork Escrow Inc., is licensed as an internet escrow agent under California’s Escrow Law and is subject to regulations applicable to
internet escrow agents promulgated by the DFPI. Although we are a licensed internet escrow agent and believe that our operations comply with existing
U.S. federal, state, and international laws and regulatory requirements related to escrow, generating interest from customer funds held in escrow, money
transmission, and the handling or moving of money, developments in the laws and regulations or their interpretations, and changes in our operations and
offerings may result in the application of new or different regulatory requirements to our business. As a result, we could be required, or choose, to become
licensed as an escrow agent or a money transmitter (or other similar licensee) in other states or jurisdictions or as a money services business. It is also
possible that we could become subject to regulatory enforcement or other proceedings in states or other jurisdictions with escrow, money transmission,
electronic money, or other similar statutes or regulatory requirements related to the handling, storing, or moving of money, and such risk may increase if
we are required or choose to pursue additional or different licenses, which could in turn have a significant impact on our business. We may also be
required, or choose, to become licensed as a payment institution (or obtain a similar license) under the European Payment Services Directive or other
international laws and regulations or may choose to obtain such a license even if not required or to support new products or services.

Any developments in the laws or regulations related to escrow, money transmission, or the handling, storing, or moving of money; material changes to the
mandate, purview or regulatory approach at the DFPI; or increased scrutiny of our business may lead to additional compliance costs and administrative
overhead. Moreover, to the extent that holding or pursuing escrow, money transmitter, or similar licenses involves complying with other regulatory
frameworks, such as GDPR or CCPA, we may experience increased enforcement or other proceedings.

Anti-Corruption, Anti-Money Laundering, and Sanctions

We have voluntarily implemented an anti-money laundering compliance program designed to address the risk of our work marketplace being used to
facilitate money laundering, terrorist financing, or other illegal activity. However, our program may not be sufficient to prevent our work marketplace from
being used to improperly move money or may not satisfy the expectations of our partners or regulators.

We also have policies, procedures, and technology designed to allow us to comply with U.S. economic sanctions laws and prevent our work marketplace
from being used to facilitate business in countries, regions, or with persons or entities included on designated lists promulgated by the U.S. Department of
the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, which we refer to as OFAC, and equivalent foreign authorities. Our efforts to comply with OFAC
regulations may not be effective, our partners or regulators may determine they are insufficient, or we may be required to comply with new sanctions laws
and regulations, which may require us to further revise or expand our compliance program. Given the technical limitations in developing controls to
prevent, among other things, the ability of customers to publish on our work marketplace false or deliberately misleading information or to develop
sanctions-evasion methods, it is possible that we may inadvertently and unknowingly provide services to individuals or entities that are subject to
sanctions or are located in a country subject to an embargo.

We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which we refer to as the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. §
201, the U.S. Travel Act, and the UK Bribery Act 2010, and may be subject to other anti-bribery laws in countries in which we conduct activities or have
customers. We face significant risks if
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we fail to comply with the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws. Local customs in international jurisdictions may involve practices that are prohibited by the
FCPA or other applicable laws and regulations. We may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-
owned or affiliated entities, and we may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of third-party intermediaries, our employees, representatives,
contractors, partners, and agents, even if we prohibit or do not explicitly authorize such activities. We have implemented an anti-corruption compliance
policy, but we cannot ensure that all of our employees, contractors, customers, and agents will comply with our policy and applicable law, for which we
may be ultimately held responsible.

Even if we maintain proper controls and remain in compliance with applicable anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, and sanctions laws or regulations,
should any of our competitors not implement sufficient controls and be found to have violated such laws or regulations, customer perception of online
freelance marketplaces in general may decrease and our business, operating results, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Export Controls

We may be subject to export controls and similar regulations that prohibit the shipment or provision of certain products and services to certain countries,
governments, and persons, and new export controls and similar regulations are promulgated from time to time. While we take precautions to prevent
aspects of our work marketplace from being exported in violation of export controls, we cannot guarantee that these precautions will prevent violations of
export controls and similar regulations. In addition, our customers may be subject to export control laws, and any violations by our customers could harm
our reputation and they could seek to hold us responsible for any monetary losses.

In addition, various countries regulate the import and export of certain encryption and other technology, including imposing import and export permitting
and licensing requirements, and have enacted and may enact laws that could limit our ability to distribute aspects of our work marketplace or could limit
our customers’ ability to access our work marketplace in those countries. Any change in import or export regulations or related legislation, or change in
the countries, governments, persons, or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our work marketplace by customers
with international operations and adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We are vulnerable to intellectual property infringement claims and challenges to our intellectual property rights brought against us by third
parties.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and there has been considerable activity in our industry to develop and enforce intellectual property rights.
Intellectual property infringement claims against us or our customers or third-party partners could result in monetary liability or a material disruption to our
business. We cannot be certain that aspects of our work marketplace, content, and brand names do not or will not infringe valid patents, trademarks,
copyrights, or other intellectual property rights held by third parties, including our competitors. Also, we are in the ordinary course of our business subject
to legal proceedings and claims relating to the intellectual property of others, including our competitors. The likelihood of intellectual property-related
litigation and disputes may increase as platforms like ours gain more prominence. In addition, the improper use of generative artificial intelligence by
customers of our work marketplace may lead to additional claims of intellectual property infringement. Our competitors and other third parties have in the
past challenged, and may in the future challenge, our registration or use of our trademarks, including “Upwork,” and other intellectual property rights, and
such a challenge, even if unsuccessful, could adversely affect our brand and business. We may also be obligated to indemnify certain clients on our work
marketplace or strategic partners or others in connection with such infringement claims, or to obtain licenses from third parties.

Any litigation or other disputes relating to allegations of intellectual property infringement could divert management attention and resources, subject us to
significant legal costs and liability for damages or new licenses, invalidate our proprietary rights, or require us to alter our work marketplace, or marketing
strategy or other aspects of our business.

Failure to protect our intellectual property could adversely affect our business.

Our success depends in large part on our proprietary technology and data. We rely on various intellectual property rights, including patents, copyrights,
trademarks, and trade secrets, as well as confidentiality provisions and contractual arrangements, to protect our proprietary rights and prevent third
parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property, copying our work marketplace, and using information that we regard as
proprietary to create products and services that compete with ours. Despite the precautions that we take, our
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intellectual property is vulnerable to unauthorized access through employee or third-party error or actions, theft, cybersecurity incidents, private or public
economic espionage, and other security breaches and incidents.

We may not pursue or file patent applications or apply for registration of copyrights or trademarks in the United States and foreign jurisdictions in which
we have an online presence with respect to our potentially patentable inventions, works of authorship, and marks and logos for a variety of reasons,
including the cost or ability to procure such rights and the uncertainty involved in obtaining adequate protection. Moreover, changes to intellectual property
laws and regulations, including U.S. and foreign patent or trademark law, may affect our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights or
defend against or offensively assert infringement claims.

The laws of some countries do not provide the same level of protection for our intellectual property as the laws of the United States, and effective
intellectual property protection may not be available to us in every country in which our work marketplace is available. In addition, many countries limit the
enforceability of patents or other intellectual property rights against certain third parties, including government agencies or government contractors.
Further, certain countries impose additional conditions on the transfer of intellectual property rights from individuals to companies, which may make it
more difficult for us to secure and maintain intellectual property protection.

We also rely on trade secrets as an important aspect of our intellectual property program and to cover much of our technology and know-how. We seek to
protect our trade secrets and obtain rights in intellectual property developed by service providers through confidentiality and invention assignment or
intellectual property ownership agreements with our employees, contractors, and other parties, as well as through implementing acceptable use policies,
limiting access to our information and data through technological means, and monitoring and limiting the dissemination of our information and data outside
of company-owned information systems. These agreements and terms may not be enforceable or compliant with applicable law, and these agreements
and other measures may not effectively protect our trade secrets and intellectual property rights. Most of our employees and all of the contractors with
which we work are remote, which may make it more difficult to control use of confidential materials, increasing the risk that our source code or other
confidential or trade secret information may be exposed.

If we do not protect and enforce our intellectual property rights or our proprietary technology and data successfully or cost-effectively, our competitive
position and brand may suffer, which would adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

The use of open source software could restrict our ability to market or operate our work marketplace and could negatively affect our business.

Our work marketplace incorporates certain open source software. An open source license typically permits the use, modification, and distribution of
software in source code form subject to certain conditions. These conditions may require that any person who distributes a modification or derivative work
of open source software make the modified version subject to the same open source license. This could lead to a requirement that certain aspects of our
work marketplace be distributed or made available in source code form. Although we do not believe that we have used open source software in such a
manner, the interpretation of open source licenses is complex and, despite our efforts, it is possible that we may be liable for copyright infringement,
breach of contract, or other claims if our use of open source software is found non-compliant with the applicable open source licenses.

Moreover, we cannot ensure that our processes for controlling our use of open source software in our work marketplace will be effective. If we have not
complied with the terms of an applicable open source software license, we may need to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our work
marketplace and the terms on which such licenses are available may not be economically feasible, and may be required to re-engineer our work
marketplace to remove or replace the open source software, discontinue offering our work marketplace, pay monetary damages, or make available the
source code for aspects of our proprietary technology, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

In addition, the use of open source software can involve greater risks and require greater efforts to ensure legal and regulatory compliance compared to
the use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or assurances of title, performance, or non-
infringement, nor do they control the origin of the software. There is typically no support available for open source software and no assurance that
updates will be made to address security risks. Many of the risks associated with the use of open source software cannot be eliminated and could
negatively affect our business.

Litigation could have a material adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

From time to time, we are involved in litigation and other legal proceedings and make and receive demands and claims threatening possible legal
proceedings. The outcome of any litigation or other legal proceeding (including
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class actions and individual lawsuits or arbitration), regardless of its merits, is inherently uncertain. Regardless of the merits or ultimate outcome of any
claims, pending or future legal proceedings could result in a diversion of management’s attention and resources and reputational harm and cause us to
incur significant expenses and liabilities. We may determine that the most cost-effective and efficient way to resolve a dispute is via settlement, and terms
of any settlement agreements are increasingly limited by legislation. Where we can make a reasonable estimate of the liability relating to a pending
proceeding and determine that it is probable, we record a related liability. As additional information becomes available, we assess the potential liability
and revise estimates as appropriate. However, the amount of our estimates could be incorrect. Any adverse determination related to a legal proceeding or
adverse terms contained in a settlement agreement could require us to change our technology or our business practices in costly ways, prevent us from
offering certain offerings or services, require us to pay monetary damages, fines, or penalties, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing
arrangements, and could adversely affect our reputation, business, operating results, and financial condition.

If we are deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, our results of operations could be harmed.

Under Sections 3(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, which we refer to as the Investment Company Act, absent an
applicable exemption, a company generally will be deemed to be an “investment company” for purposes of the Investment Company Act if (i) it is, or
holds itself out as being, engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities or (ii) it is
engaged, or proposes to engage, in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities and it owns or proposes to acquire
investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an
unconsolidated basis. We do not believe that we are an “investment company,” as such term is defined in either of these sections of the Investment
Company Act, including as a result of both the exemption set forth in Section 3(b)(1) of the Investment Company Act and the safe harbor set forth in Rule
3a-8 of the Investment Company Act. Section 3(b)(1) of the Investment Company Act provides that a company that would otherwise fit within the
definition of an “investment company” under Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the Investment Company Act will not be required to register as an “investment
company” if “it is primarily engaged, directly or through a wholly owned subsidiary or subsidiaries, in a business or businesses other than that of investing,
reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities.” We believe that we are and hold ourselves out as being engaged primarily in the operation of an
online work marketplace, and our historical development, public representations of policy, the activity of our officers and directors, the nature of our
present assets, the sources of our present income, and the public perception of the nature of our business all support the conclusion that we are an
operating company and not an investment company. Rule 3a-8 under the Investment Company Act provides a nonexclusive safe harbor from the
definition of “investment company” for certain research and development companies. We are currently a research and development company and comply
with the safe harbor requirements of Rule 3a-8 under the Investment Company Act. As set forth above, we currently conduct, and intend to continue to
conduct, our operations so that neither we, nor any of our subsidiaries, is required to register as an “investment company” under the Investment Company
Act. If we were obligated to register as an “investment company,” we would have to comply with a variety of substantive requirements under the
Investment Company Act that impose, among other things, limitations on capital structure, restrictions on specified investments, prohibitions on
transactions with affiliates, and compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations that would increase
our operating and compliance costs, could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated, and could have a material adverse effect
on our business.

Risks Related to Finance, Accounting, and Tax Matters

We have a history of net losses, may increase our operating expenses in the future, and may not be able to sustain profitability.

We have incurred net losses in the past, and as of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of $78.5 million. We have made, and expect to
continue to make in the future, significant expenditures related to the development and expansion of our business. These efforts may prove more
expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue sufficiently, or at all, to offset these higher expenses. While our
GSV and revenue have grown in recent years, we may not be able to sustain the same level of growth in future periods, or at all. For example, during the
year ended December 31, 2024, macroeconomic conditions adversely impacted GSV, which declined 3% compared to 2023. In addition, although our
profitability has improved in recent periods, if our revenue declines or fails to grow at a rate faster than increases in our operating expenses, we will not
be able to maintain profitability in future periods and the trading price of our common stock could decline.
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Our operating results and performance metrics may fluctuate from period to period, which makes our future results difficult to predict.

Our operating results and performance metrics have fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate in the future, particularly in periods of macroeconomic
uncertainty and elevated interest rates and inflation. Our operating results and performance metrics in any given period can be influenced by numerous
factors, many of which are unpredictable or are outside of our control, including those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section as well as the
following:

• uncertainty regarding macroeconomic and political conditions and demand for our work marketplace;

• our ability to maintain and grow our community of customers, including talent that provide the types and quality of services sought by clients on
our work marketplace;

• our ability to respond to competitive developments and other market and technological dynamics, such as the emergence of generative artificial
intelligence, and introduce new offerings and services or enhance existing offerings;

• changes to our pricing model and fee structure, including any resulting changes to our revenue recognition practices;

• changes in the spending patterns of clients or the mix of products and services that clients demand;

• the impact of reductions in our workforce or involuntary or voluntary separations, including claims against us from departing employees or others;

• fluctuations in gross margin and revenue, including as a result of fluctuations in the use of our Managed Services offering due to our recognition
of the entire GSV from our Managed Services offering as revenue, including the amounts paid to talent;

• the productivity, effectiveness, and efficiency of our sales force and the length and complexity of our sales cycles;

• the impact of changing, consolidating, or terminating offerings and services;

• losses from clients failing to pay invoices, particularly in instances where we advance payments to talent for invoiced services on behalf of the
client;

• the disbursement methods chosen by talent and changes in the mix of disbursement methods offered;

• fluctuations in the prices that talent charge clients on our work marketplace;

• seasonality in the labor market and spending patterns by clients and the number of business days and the number of Sundays (i.e., the day we
have the contractual right to bill and recognize revenue for the majority of our talent service fees each week) in any given period, as well as local,
national, or international holidays;

• fluctuations in transaction losses;

• fluctuations in the mix of payment provider costs and the revenue generated from payment providers;

• changes to financial accounting standards and the interpretation of those standards that may affect the way we recognize and report our financial
results;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates, particularly if we are unable to fully offset the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in
foreign exchange rates through derivative instruments designed to hedge against certain exposures to such fluctuations; and

• revenue recognition fluctuations for arrangements subject to our tiered pricing model for talent service fees.

The impact of one or more of the foregoing and other factors may cause our operating results and performance metrics to vary significantly. As such, we
believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results and performance metrics may not be meaningful and you should not rely upon past
performance as an indicator of future performance.

We track certain performance metrics with internal tools and do not independently verify such metrics. Certain of our performance metrics
may not accurately reflect certain details of our business, are subject to
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inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm our reputation and negatively affect our
business.

We track certain performance metrics, including active clients and GSV per active client, GSV, and Marketplace take rate, with internal tools that are not
independently verified by any third-party. Our internal tools have a number of limitations and our methodologies for tracking these metrics may change
over time, which could result in inaccurate or unexpected changes to our metrics. If the internal tools we use to track these metrics undercount or
overcount performance or contain algorithmic or other technical errors, the data we report may not be accurate. Our performance metrics are also
impacted by illegal or improper activity on our work marketplace, including fraud, spam, and fake accounts. We are unable to prevent all fraudulent activity
from being reflected in the performance metrics that we report. Accordingly, our performance metrics may not accurately reflect activity on and the
performance of our work marketplace. In addition, limitations or errors with respect to how we measure data, or the accuracy of the data that we measure,
may affect our understanding of certain details of our business, which could affect our longer-term strategies and our ability to respond to business trends
that may negatively impact our performance. If our performance metrics are not accurate representations of our business, customer base, or activity on
our work marketplace; if we discover material inaccuracies in our metrics; or if the metrics we rely on to track our performance do not provide an accurate
measurement of our business, our reputation may be harmed, we may be subject to legal or regulatory actions, and our operating and financial results
could be adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and
accurate financial statements or comply with applicable laws and regulations could be impaired.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable and accurate financial statements and to effectively prevent fraud. We devote significant
resources and time to comply with the internal control over financial reporting requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. However, we cannot be
certain that we will be able to prevent future significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over
financial reporting is effective, material weaknesses are identified, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion
on the effectiveness of our internal control, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would
cause the price of our common stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC. In addition, if we are unable to continue
to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market.

In addition, regulators are increasingly focusing on environmental, social, and governance matters and related disclosures. If our related data, processes,
and reporting are incomplete or inaccurate, or if we fail to achieve progress with our stated goals on a timely basis, our business, operating results, and
financial condition could be adversely impacted.

The applicability of sales, use, and other tax laws or regulations on our business could subject us or our customers to additional tax liability
and related interest and penalties, and adversely impact our business.

We are subject to numerous taxes and tax collection obligations in the U.S. and other foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required to evaluate
applicable tax obligations and in many cases the ultimate tax determination is uncertain because it is not clear how new and existing statutes might apply
to our business. As a result, we may recognize additional tax expense and be subject to additional tax liabilities, including other liabilities for tax collection
obligations due to changes in federal, state, and international tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations, or ordinances; changes in taxing jurisdictions and
administrative interpretations and applications; results of tax examinations, settlements, or judicial decisions; changes in accounting principles; or
changes to our business operations. Moreover, a number of countries and intergovernmental organizations have recently proposed, recommended, or
enacted new laws or changes to existing laws that could impact our tax and reporting obligations or add new compliance costs to our business to
administer, assess, collect, and remit those taxes. These changes may happen with little or no advance notice or implementation time, which can
increase various short term costs of compliance. The impact and burden of these regulations and proposed regulations on our business and the
businesses of our customers is uncertain and may have a negative impact on our business.

Any changes to our business operations, including international expansions, internal reorganizations, and transfer pricing could impact our tax liabilities.
The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge our methodologies for pricing intercompany transactions or disagree with our
determinations as to the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions or specific affiliates. If such a challenge or disagreement were to occur,
and our position was not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest, and penalties.
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At any given time we may be subject to tax audits by various taxing authorities, in multiple jurisdictions, throughout the world. While we believe our income
and other tax liabilities are reasonably estimated, an adverse result from one or more of these tax audits or investigations could have a significant adverse
impact on our financial results. In addition, our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in tax rates, changes in the valuation of our deferred
tax assets or liabilities, the effectiveness of our tax planning strategies, or changes in tax laws or their interpretation. Such changes could have an
adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes is limited.

As of December 31, 2024, we had net operating loss, which we refer to as NOL, carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes and California state
income tax purposes of $18.9 million and $91.0 million, respectively, available to offset future taxable income. The federal NOL carryforwards of $18.9
million generated after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely with utilization in any year limited to 80% of our taxable income. The
California state NOL carryforward amounts will begin to expire in 2032 if not utilized.

Realization of these NOL carryforwards depends on future income, and there is a risk that our existing carryforwards could expire unused and be
unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, a corporation that
undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period, is subject
to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOL carryforwards to offset future taxable income. As of December 31, 2024, we have experienced
ownership changes that will result in limitations in our ability to use certain NOLs and tax credit carryforwards. In addition, other factors outside our control
could further limit our ability to utilize NOLs to offset future U.S. federal and state taxable income, including further changes in the ownership of our stock
and regulatory changes. Any such material limitation or expiration of our NOLs may harm our future operating results by effectively increasing our future
tax obligations.

We may require additional capital to fund our business and support our growth, and any inability to generate or obtain such capital may
adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

To support our growth and business strategy, such as developing new features or enhancements to our work marketplace, acquiring new technologies,
and improving our infrastructure, we have made and expect to continue to make significant financial investments in our business. In addition, we may,
from time to time, seek to acquire or strategically invest in other complementary products, technologies, or businesses or repurchase outstanding shares
of our common stock or our 0.25% convertible senior notes due 2026, which we refer to as the Notes. For example, during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2024, we paid $100.0 million to repurchase shares of our common stock under our $100.0 million share purchase program authorized by
our board of directors in November 2023, which we refer to as the 2023 Share Repurchase Authorization, and as of December 31, 2024, we had $100.0
million available for repurchases of our common stock under our $100.0 million share repurchase program authorized by our board of directors in October
2024, which we refer to as the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization. We may need to engage in equity or debt financings to obtain the funds required for
these investments, acquisitions, and other business endeavors. If we raise additional funds through equity or convertible debt issuances, our existing
stockholders may suffer significant dilution and these securities could have rights, preferences, and privileges that are superior to those of holders of our
common stock. If we obtain additional funds through debt financing, we may not be able to obtain such financing on terms favorable to us. Such terms
may involve additional restrictive covenants making it difficult to engage in capital raising activities and pursue business opportunities, including potential
acquisitions and strategic investments. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing on terms satisfactory to us or at all, our ability to continue to support
our business growth and business strategy could be significantly impaired and our business, operating results, and financial condition may be adversely
affected.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The stock price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, particularly as a result of broader stock market fluctuations and in light of
the current macroeconomic uncertainty. The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which
are unpredictable or are outside of our control, including those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section as well as the following:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results and performance metrics, particularly any failure to meet the estimates of securities
analysts or the expectations of investors;
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• the financial projections we provide to the public or our lowering of or failure to meet these projections;

• the economy or equity markets as a whole and market conditions in our industry;

• negative publicity related to the trustworthiness, quality, or security of our work marketplace;

• changes in our board of directors, management or key personnel;

• failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, inaccurate or unfavorable research by analysts, or changes in financial
estimates by any securities analysts who follow our company;

• repurchases by us of any of our outstanding shares of common stock or the Notes;

• speculative trading practices by stockholders and other market participants;

• rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry and/or other industries;

• legal and regulatory claims, litigation, or pre-litigation disputes and other proceedings;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant new or terminated products or services, technical innovations, or acquisitions, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;

• sales or expected sales of shares of our common stock by us, our officers, directors, employees or stockholders;

• changes in the legal or regulatory landscape applicable to us or our customers, including worker classification and tax laws; and

• geopolitical changes or events, including those resulting from war and incidents of terrorism.

In addition, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity
securities of many technology companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If
we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our
business, and adversely affect our business.

We cannot guarantee that the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization will be fully consummated or that repurchases made under our share
repurchase authorizations will enhance long-term stockholder value. Share repurchases could also increase the volatility of the trading price
of our common stock and diminish our cash reserves.

In October 2024, our board of directors authorized $100.0 million for share repurchases under the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization. As of
December 31, 2024, we had $100.0 million available for repurchases under the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization. The actual timing and amount of
any repurchases under the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization will depend on a variety of factors, including stock price, trading volume, market and
business conditions, regulatory requirements, and other considerations, all of which may be impacted by factors outside of our control. The 2024 Share
Repurchase Authorization could affect the trading price of our common stock, increase volatility, and diminish our cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities available to fund working capital, repayment of debt, capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, investments, or business
opportunities, and other general corporate purposes. The 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization may be suspended, terminated, or modified at any time
for any reason, and we cannot guarantee that the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization will be fully consummated, or at all, or that it will enhance long-
term stockholder value.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and
significant stockholders, or the perception that these sales could occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline and
may make it more difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate.

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of our common stock in the market, or the perception
that such sales could occur, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and significant stockholders. The perception that these sales might
occur may also cause the market price of our common stock to decline. All shares of our common stock are freely tradable, generally without restrictions
or further registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which we refer to as the Securities Act, subject to certain exceptions for shares held
by our “affiliates” as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. In addition, the shares issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options or settlement
of outstanding restricted stock units will be available for immediate resale in the United States on the open market. Moreover, we may also issue shares
of common stock, securities convertible into shares of our common stock, or preferred stock with preferences over our
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common stock from time to time in connection with a financing, an acquisition, investments, or otherwise. Any such issuances could result in substantial
dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We
anticipate that for the foreseeable future we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business, for repurchases under our
2024 Share Repurchase Authorization, and for general corporate purposes. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price
appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current management, limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes
with us or our directors, officers, or employees, and limit the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control
or changes in our management. Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that:

• classify our board of directors into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms;

• permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly created directorships;

• require super-majority voting to amend certain provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws;

• authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan (also known
as a “poison pill”);

• provide that only the chairperson of our board of directors, our chief executive officer, president, lead independent director, or a majority of our
board of directors are authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders;

• prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

• provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our amended and restated bylaws; and

• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

In addition, our restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not
have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf,
any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
we refer to as the DGCL, our restated certificate of incorporation, or our amended and restated bylaws, any action asserting a claim against us that is
governed by the internal affairs doctrine, or any action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL. Our
amended and restated bylaws also provide that the federal district courts of the United States would be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities
shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this provision. We note, however, that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this
provision. These choice of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or
any of our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and other employees.

Moreover, Section 203 of the DGCL may discourage, delay, or prevent a change of control of our company. Section 203 imposes certain restrictions on
mergers, business combinations, and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock.
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Risks Related to Our Convertible Senior Notes

Our indebtedness could limit the cash flow available for our operations and expose us to risks that could adversely affect our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

In August 2021, we issued the Notes. The Notes are senior, unsecured obligations and bear interest at a rate of 0.25% per year. The Notes will mature on
August 15, 2026, unless earlier redeemed, repurchased, or converted in accordance with the terms of the Notes. In March 2023, we repurchased a
portion of the outstanding Notes, and, as of December 31, 2024, $361.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes remained outstanding. We may
also incur additional indebtedness to meet future financing needs. Our indebtedness could have significant negative consequences for our stockholders
and our business, operating results, and financial condition by, among other things:

• increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;

• limiting our ability to obtain additional financing;

• requiring the dedication of a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness, which will reduce the amount of
cash available for other purposes;

• limiting our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our business;

• diluting the interests of our existing stockholders as a result of issuing shares of our common stock upon conversion of the Notes; and

• placing us at a possible competitive disadvantage with competitors that are less leveraged than us or have better access to capital.

Our business may not generate sufficient funds, and we may otherwise be unable to maintain sufficient cash reserves, to pay amounts due under our
indebtedness, and our cash needs may increase in the future.

The capped call transactions may affect the value of our common stock.

In connection with the Notes, we entered into the privately negotiated capped call transactions, which we refer to as the Capped Calls, with various
financial institutions, which we refer to as the option counterparties. The Capped Calls remain in effect notwithstanding the March 2023 repurchase of a
portion of the Notes. The Capped Calls are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the Notes
and/or offset any potential cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount upon conversion of any Notes, with such reduction
and/or offset subject to a cap.

In addition, the option counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various derivatives
with respect to our common stock and/or purchasing or selling our common stock in secondary market transactions (and are likely to do so following any
conversion of Notes, any repurchase of the Notes by us on any fundamental change repurchase date, any redemption date, or any other date on which
the Notes are retired by us). This activity could also cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the market price of our common stock.

The potential effect, if any, of these transactions and activities on the market price of our common stock will depend in part on market conditions and
cannot be ascertained at this time. Any of these activities could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

General Risks

Adverse or changing economic conditions may negatively impact our business.

Our business depends on the overall demand for labor and on the economic health of current and prospective clients that use our work marketplace. Any
significant weakening of the economy in the United States or Europe or of the global economy, including a continued rise in inflation, hiring freezes,
layoffs, more limited availability of credit, a reduction in business confidence and activity, decreased government or business spending, economic and
political uncertainty, financial turmoil or instability affecting the banking system or financial markets, trade wars, sanctions, higher tariffs, global or regional
public health events or conditions, a more limited market for independent professional service providers or information technology services, shifts away
from remote work, and other adverse economic or market conditions may adversely impact our business and operating results. These adverse conditions
have resulted in the past, and may again result, in reductions in revenue, increased operating expenses, longer sales cycles, and increased competition.
There is also a risk that when overall global economic conditions are positive, our business could be negatively impacted by a decreased demand for
talent as businesses utilize more
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full-time employees relative to their use of independent contractors. We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of any economic slowdown, or any
subsequent recovery generally. If the conditions in the general economy continue to deteriorate, our business, operating results, and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
Not applicable.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

Our cybersecurity and data privacy risk management processes are integrated in our overall risk management program, and we have developed
processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. We have adopted physical, technological, and
administrative controls on data security and have a defined procedure for incident detection, containment, response, and remediation . Our information
security team is primarily responsible for managing our cybersecurity processes and partners with our legal team on data privacy risk management
processes. We conduct regular test exercises to ensure all relevant teams are aware of their responsibilities during a cybersecurity event or incident, and
we use these exercises to promote a culture of continuous improvement. We also have implemented controls and procedures that provide for the prompt
escalation of cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding the public disclosure and reporting of such incidents can be made by management in a
timely manner.

Our platform is designed to help ensure the security of our data and systems, protect our customers’ personal information, and meet the rigorous privacy
and security requirements of our Enterprise clients. To that end, we have obtained and maintain the following security and privacy certifications: ISO
27001 and 27018, SOC 2 Type 2 certification, SOC 3 certification, PCI-DSS Level 1 certification, U.S. Department of Commerce Data Privacy Framework
certifications, and TRUSTe Enterprise Privacy & Data Governance Practices certification from TrustArc.

Our information security controls operate at multiple levels and are designed to detect, prevent, and mitigate cybersecurity threats that could impact the
privacy and security of our data and our customers’ data. To operate at scale, we have automated several risk mitigation strategies. We have
implemented comprehensive trust and safety processes to help prevent and detect suspicious and fraudulent behavior on our platform. Over the years of
developing our work marketplace, we have developed and refined specific pattern-matching algorithms to detect unusual behavior on our work
marketplace, and we continue to improve such algorithms in the evolving threat landscape. We also regularly update our information security policies,
standards and processes as needed to better reflect and account for updates in our cybersecurity posture, cybersecurity risks, and our risk mitigation
strategies. We provide regular, mandatory training for our personnel regarding cybersecurity threats as a means to equip our personnel with effective
tools to address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate our evolving information security policies, standards, processes and practices.

We engage third parties, including vendors and other external service providers, to support our cybersecurity and data privacy processes such as risk
assessments, program enhancements, and value-added user verification services . These third parties provide security services, including regular
reviews of our security environment to provide an independent, industry-recognized risk rating and internal audits of our technology and security controls.
We have also developed a program and engaged with a bug bounty service for ongoing identification of exploitable vulnerabilities in the environment.
Separately, our information security team also conducts regular scans of the environment to identify known vulnerabilities for remediation.

We also have processes to oversee and identify risks from cybersecurity threats associated with our use of third-party service providers. To that end, we
maintain a risk-based approach to identify and oversee cybersecurity risks presented by third parties, including vendors and service providers, as well as
the systems of third parties that could adversely impact our business in the event of a cybersecurity incident affecting those third-party systems. In
addition, we perform diligence on our vendors and prospective vendors regarding their cybersecurity posture. We conduct and maintain a regular
enterprise risk management program that is overseen by the audit committee of our board of directors, and efforts to address cybersecurity risks are an
important component of our overall approach to enterprise risk management.

We deploy technical safeguards that are designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats, including firewalls, intrusion prevention
and detection systems, endpoint detection and response, logging, monitoring and alerting, anti-malware functionality, advanced email security, network
security monitoring and access controls, which are evaluated and improved through vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity threat intelligence. All
access to our platform is encrypted using industry-standard transport layer security technology. When customers
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enter sensitive information on our site, such as tax identification numbers, we encrypt the transmission of that information using secure socket layer
technology. We also use the HSTS (HTTP strict transport security) to ensure visitors connect to the website over HTTPS which adds an additional layer
of protection for our customers. For servers that store personally identifiable information, the data is encrypted. Moreover, our customers may elect to
further secure their account credentials through two-factor authentication that requires them to authenticate with information provided by a second device.
In order to make secure payments through our platform, we are Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard certified, which means we have
demonstrated compliance with the Payment Card Industry security standards required for businesses that complete credit card or debit card transactions.

To date, cybersecurity threats, including any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected our business strategy, operating results, and/or
financial condition. If we were to experience a material cybersecurity incident in the future, such incident may have a material effect, including on our
business strategy, operating results, or financial condition. For more information regarding cybersecurity risks that we face and potential impacts on our
business related thereto, see our risk factor disclosures in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K titled “If we or our third-party partners
experience a security breach, other hacking or phishing attack, ransomware or other malware attack, or other privacy or security incident, our work
marketplace may be perceived as not being secure, our reputation may be harmed, demand for our work marketplace may be reduced, our operations
may be disrupted, we may incur significant legal costs, fines, or liabilities, and our business could be adversely affected.”

Cybersecurity Governance

While everyone at Upwork plays a part in managing cybersecurity and data privacy risks, oversight responsibility is shared by our board of directors, audit
committee, and management.

Our board of directors, as a whole, has responsibility for risk oversight, although the committees of our board of directors oversee and review risk areas
that are particularly relevant to their respective functions. Among its focus areas, our audit committee reviews matters relating to cybersecurity and data
privacy and regularly reports to our board of directors regarding such matters. One member of our audit committee earned the NACD’s CERT Certificate
in Cybersecurity Oversight in 2023. Our audit committee receives quarterly cybersecurity-related updates from our Chief Information Security Officer ,
who we refer to as our CISO, including in the form of written reports and presentations. Our CISO and audit committee also provide cybersecurity-related
updates to the full board of directors three times per year, including regarding recent developments, evolving standards, metrics about cyber threat
response preparedness, program maturity milestones, material cybersecurity risks and risk mitigation status, and the current and emerging threat
landscape. We also have implemented controls and procedures that provide for the communication of material cybersecurity incidents to our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Legal Officer, as well as to our audit committee and/or to our full board of directors on a timely basis.

Our CISO is primarily responsible for our cybersecurity risk management program and partners with our legal team on data privacy matters at the
management level. Our CISO has over 25 years of experience in various technology leadership positions across multiple industries including finance,
healthcare and technology. He has held leadership positions specifically in the information security space since 2011 at four publicly traded companies.
The CISO’s leadership team members are all seasoned information security professionals who have worked at some of the largest well-known brand
names and are experts in their fields. Our CISO monitors, and participates in, our various cybersecurity policies and procedures, and our cybersecurity
team regularly updates our CISO on the current status of the cybersecurity environment, and cybersecurity incidents and actual or potential risks. Our
CISO and his team provide regular updates to the management team and escalate events that require leadership’s attention.

Item 2. Properties.
Our corporate headquarters are located in Palo Alto, California, where we lease approximately 12,685 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease that
expires in September 2032.

We believe our current facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that, should we require additional office space, suitable
additional space will be available in the future. See “Note 6—Leases” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report for additional information on our leased properties.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings. See “Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies” of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information on our commitments and contingencies.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.
Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “UPWK” since October 3, 2018. Prior to that time, there was
no public market for our common stock.

Holders of Record

As of January 31, 2025, there were approximately 1,300 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of common stock are held
by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial owners of our common stock
represented by these record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in
the development of our business, for repurchases under our 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization, and for general corporate purposes, and we do not
anticipate paying any dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare dividends will be made at the discretion
of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business
conditions, and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within
120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or
otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Upwork Inc. under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The following graph shows a comparison from December 31, 2019 through December 31, 2024 of the cumulative total returns for our common stock, the
NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ 100 Technology Index, respectively. The graph assumes $100 was invested at the market close on
December 31, 2019 in the common stock of Upwork Inc. Such returns are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future
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performance. The NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ 100 Technology Index assume reinvestment of any dividends.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In October 2024, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $100.0 million of shares of our outstanding common stock under the 2024
Share Repurchase Authorization. The 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization has no expiration date and will continue until otherwise suspended,
terminated, or modified at any time for any reason. As of December 31, 2024, we had $100.0 million available for repurchases under the 2024 Share
Repurchase Authorization.

There was no share repurchase activity during the three months ended December 31, 2024.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the sections titled “Business” and
“Risk Factors” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward-
looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that may never materialize or that may
be proven incorrect. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors,
including those discussed in the sections titled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” and in other parts of this Annual
Report.

Overview

Business

Independent talent is an increasingly sought-after, critical, and expanding segment of the global workforce. We operate the world’s largest work
marketplace that connects businesses with independent talent from across the globe, as measured by GSV. GSV represents the total amount that clients
spend on our offerings as well as additional fees we charge to talent and clients for other services. Talent includes independent professionals and
agencies of varying sizes. Clients on our work marketplace range in size from independent professionals and small businesses to Fortune 100
companies. With customers in over 180 countries, our work marketplace enabled $4.0 billion of GSV for the year ended December 31, 2024.

As a global work marketplace that connects talent and clients regardless of their location, our GSV originates from around the world. In 2024, our work
marketplace enabled $4.0 billion in GSV, with approximately 25% generated from U.S. talent, making the United States our largest talent geography in
each of 2024, 2023, and 2022. India and the Philippines were our next largest talent geographies in all three years. Of the $4.1 billion of GSV enabled on
our work marketplace in both 2023 and 2022, approximately 26% was generated from talent in the United States in each year.

Approximately 70% of our GSV in 2024 was generated from U.S. clients, compared to approximately 69% and 68% of GSV in 2023 and 2022,
respectively, with clients in no other country representing more than 10% of our GSV in any such year.

We generate revenue from both talent and clients of our Marketplace and Enterprise offerings. Revenue is primarily generated from talent service fees
and, to a lesser extent, client marketplace fees. We also generate revenue through ads and monetization products, including purchases of Connects,
talent memberships, and other services, such as foreign currency exchange when clients choose to pay in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.
Additionally, we earn interest on funds held on behalf of customers.

The Company operates its business as one operating and reportable segment. For additional information, see “Note 15—Segment Information” in the
notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Financial Highlights for 2024

Over the past several quarters, we implemented a number of initiatives that positively impacted Marketplace revenue and Marketplace take rate. These
include (i) retiring the tiered service fee structure for talent working with clients on our Marketplace offering in favor of a flat fee, (ii) increasing the number
of Connects needed by talent to bid on projects, (iii) deploying ads products on our work marketplace, and (iv) introducing new features, with a focus on
generative artificial intelligence.

These initiatives contributed to an increase to Marketplace revenue of $76.0 million, or 13%, for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 2023.
Marketplace take rate also benefited from these initiatives, increasing to 18.0% for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 15.4% in 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we generated net income of $215.6 million, compared to net income of $46.9 million in 2023. This included a
non-cash tax benefit of $140.3 million from the release of a valuation allowance on certain deferred tax assets. Adjusted EBITDA increased to $167.6
million in 2024, from $73.1 million in 2023. This improvement was primarily due to strong operational discipline, proactive cost management, and higher
margin revenue growth.

We expect the initiatives implemented over the past several quarters, along with operational efficiencies and cost savings from the Restructuring Plan,
will continue to positively impact net income and adjusted EBITDA in 2025.
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Adjusted EBITDA is not prepared in accordance with, and is not an alternative to, financial measures prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States, which we refer to as U.S. GAAP. See “Key Financial and Operational Metrics—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” below for a definition of adjusted EBITDA and for information regarding our use of adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
to net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure prepared under U.S. GAAP.

Recent Developments

Restructuring Plan

In October 2024, we announced the Restructuring Plan, intended to continue our profitable trajectory, increase efficiency, and accelerate innovation for
our customers. The Restructuring Plan included a reduction of our total workforce by approximately 21% and resulted in $19.2 million of restructuring
charges in the fourth quarter of 2024, consisting primarily of employee severance and other one-time termination benefits for the Company’s impacted
workforce. For additional information, see “Note 17—Restructuring Charges” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report.

Acquisition of Objective AI, Inc .

In November 2024, we completed the acquisition of Objective AI, acquiring 100% of Objective AI's outstanding equity for total cash consideration of
$19.1 million. This strategic acquisition aims to enhance our platform by integrating advanced AI-native search capabilities and strengthen our AI and
search teams with specialized talent. For additional information, see “Note 7—Business Combination” of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Key Financial and Operational Metrics

We monitor the following key financial and operational metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business,
formulate business plans, and make strategic decisions.

Our key metrics were as follows as of or for the periods presented:

As of or for the Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except GSV per active

client and percentages) 2024  Change 2023  Change 2022 Change

GSV $ 4,008,107 (3) % $ 4,142,252 1 % $ 4,104,891 16 %

Marketplace revenue $ 662,108 13 % $ 586,099 13 % $ 518,282 21 %

Marketplace take rate 18.0 % 265 bps 15.4 % 155 bps 13.8 % 58 bps

Net income (loss) $ 215,586 * $ 46,887 152 % $ (89,885) 60 %

Adjusted EBITDA $ 167,593 129 % $ 73,134 * $ (4,029) *

Active clients 832 (2) % 851 5 % 814 6 %

GSV per active client $ 4,815 (1) % $ 4,867 (4) % $ 5,045 10 %

*Not meaningful

Adjusted EBITDA is not prepared in accordance with, and is not an alternative to, financial measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See
“—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for the definition of adjusted EBITDA, information regarding our use of adjusted EBITDA, and a
reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure prepared under U.S. GAAP.

We believe these key financial and operational metrics are useful to evaluate period-over-period comparisons of our business and in understanding our
operating results, and management uses these metrics to track our performance. We expect our key metrics may fluctuate between periods due to a
number of factors, including changing macroeconomic conditions; the number of Sundays (i.e., the day we have the contractual right to bill and recognize
revenue for the majority of our talent service fees each week) in any given period; the lapping of significant launches of new products, pricing changes,
and other monetization efforts; and ongoing efforts to improve processes on our work marketplace, including project proposals and purchases of
Connects, among others. For a discussion of limitations in the measurement of our key financial and operational metrics, see “Risk Factors—We track
certain performance metrics with internal tools and do not independently verify such metrics. Certain of our performance metrics may not accurately
reflect certain details of our business, are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm
our reputation and negatively affect our business.”

(1)

(1)

38



Gross Services Volume (GSV)

GSV represents the amount of business transacted through our work marketplace. The primary component of GSV is client spend, which we define as
the total amount that clients spend on our offerings. GSV also includes fees charged to talent and clients, such as for transacting payments through our
work marketplace, purchases of Connects, talent memberships, and foreign currency exchange.

For purposes of determining countries where we enable GSV, we include both the countries in which the clients that paid for the applicable services are
located, as well as the countries in which talent that provided those services are located.

Growth in the number of active clients and GSV per active client are the primary drivers of GSV.

Marketplace Revenue

Marketplace revenue is the primary driver of our business, and we believe it provides comparability to other online marketplaces. Marketplace revenue
represents the majority of our revenue and is derived from our Marketplace offerings, which include all offerings other than our Enterprise offerings—
Enterprise Solutions and Managed Services. We generate Marketplace revenue from both talent and clients. Marketplace revenue is primarily generated
from talent service fees paid by talent as a percentage of the total amount talent charges clients for services accessed on our Marketplace, and to a lesser
extent, client marketplace fees. We also generate revenue through ads and monetization products, including purchases of Connects, talent memberships,
and other services, such as foreign currency exchange when clients choose to pay in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Additionally, we earn interest
on funds held on behalf of customers.

Marketplace Take Rate

Marketplace take rate measures the correlation between Marketplace revenue and Marketplace GSV and is calculated by dividing Marketplace revenue
by Marketplace GSV. We define Marketplace GSV as GSV derived from our Marketplace offerings. Marketplace take rate is an important metric because
it is the key indicator of how well we monetize spend on our work marketplace from our Marketplace offerings.

Active Clients and GSV per Active Client

We define an active client as a client that has had spend activity on our work marketplace during the 12 months preceding the date of measurement. GSV
per active client is calculated by dividing total GSV during the four quarters ended on the date of measurement by the number of active clients on the
date of measurement. We believe that the number of active clients and GSV per active client are indicators of the growth and overall health of our
business. The number of active clients is a primary driver of GSV and, in turn, Marketplace revenue.

While continued use of our work marketplace by talent is a factor that impacts our ability to attract and retain clients, we currently have a significant
surplus of talent in relation to the number of clients actively engaging talent for most categories of services on our work marketplace. As a result of this
surplus, we primarily focus our efforts on retaining client spend and acquiring new clients, as opposed to acquiring new talent and retaining existing talent.
Moreover, we generate revenue when clients engage and pay talent, and therefore, our key metrics and operating results are directly impacted by client
spend. Additionally, the number of talent retained between periods is merely one of many factors that may impact client spend in a particular period and
is not a primary driver of our key metrics and operating results.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

Marketplace Revenue. Marketplace revenue is primarily generated from talent service fees, and to a lesser extent, client marketplace fees. We maintain
a flat talent service fee of 10% for talent working with clients on our Marketplace offerings. Revenue for a majority of our talent service fees is recognized
on the Sunday of each week, as this is the day we have the contractual right to bill talent for the service fees. We charge a client marketplace fee of 5%
on each transaction—or 3% if paid via ACH for eligible clients.

We also generate revenue through ads and monetization products, including purchases of Connects, talent memberships, and other services, such as
foreign currency exchange when clients choose to pay in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Additionally, we earn interest on funds held on behalf of
customers.

Enterprise Revenue. Enterprise offers two lines of service—Enterprise Solutions and Managed Services.
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Our Enterprise Solutions offering includes access to additional product features, premium access to top talent, professional services, custom reporting,
and flexible payment terms. Revenue from our Enterprise Solutions offering includes all client fees, subscriptions, and talent service fees. For our
Enterprise Solutions offering, we charge clients a monthly or annual subscription fee and a service fee calculated as a percentage of the client’s spend on
talent services, in addition to a 10% service fee paid by talent. Additionally, clients of our Enterprise Solutions offering can also subscribe to a compliance
service that includes worker classification services for an additional fee and may also choose to use our work marketplace to engage talent that were not
originally sourced through our work marketplace for a lower fee percentage.

Through our Managed Services offering, we are responsible for providing services and engaging talent directly or as employees of third-party staffing
providers to perform services for clients on our behalf. The talent providing services in connection with our Managed Services offering include
independent talent and agencies of varying sizes. Under U.S. GAAP, we are deemed to be the principal in these Managed Services arrangements and
therefore recognize the entire GSV of Managed Services projects as Managed Services revenue, as compared to recognizing only the percentage of the
client spend that we receive, as we do with our Marketplace and Enterprise Solutions offerings.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit, and Gross Margin

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue consists primarily of the cost of payment processing fees, amounts paid to talent to deliver services for clients under
our Managed Services offering, personnel-related costs for our services and support personnel, third-party hosting fees for our use of AWS, and the
amortization expense associated with capitalized internal-use software and platform development costs. We define personnel-related costs as salaries,
bonuses, benefits, travel and entertainment, and stock-based compensation costs for employees and the costs related to other service providers we
engage.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin.  Our gross profit and gross margin may fluctuate from period to period. Such fluctuations may be influenced by our
revenue, the mix of payment methods that our clients choose, the timing and amount of investments to expand hosting capacity, our continued
investments in our services and support teams, the timing and amounts paid to talent in connection with our Managed Services offering, and the
amortization expense associated with capitalized internal-use software and platform development costs. In addition, gross margin will be impacted by
fluctuations in our revenue mix between Marketplace revenue and Enterprise revenue.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development. Research and development expense primarily consists of personnel-related costs. Research and development costs are
expensed as incurred, except to the extent that such costs are associated with internal-use software and platform development that qualifies for
capitalization.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of expenses related to advertising and marketing activities, as well as personnel-
related costs, including sales commissions, which we expense as they are incurred.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel-related costs for our executive, finance, legal, human
resources, and operations functions; outside consulting, legal, and accounting services; and insurance.

Provision for Transaction Losses. Provision for transaction losses consists primarily of losses resulting from fraud and bad debt expense associated
with our trade and client receivables balance and transaction losses associated with chargebacks. Provisions for these items represent estimates of
losses based on our actual historical incurred losses and other factors.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income that we earn from our operating investments, namely our deposits in money market
funds and investments in marketable securities, interest expense on our outstanding borrowings, as well as gains and losses from foreign currency
exchange transactions.

Income Tax Benefit (Provision)

We account for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability method, which involves recognizing deferred assets and liabilities for expected
future tax effects of differences between financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. We establish a
valuation allowance to the extent that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be recoverable against future taxable income.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be
realized or settled. We regularly assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be realized from recoverable income taxes or recovered from future
taxable income based on the realization criteria set forth in the relevant authoritative guidance. To the extent that we believe any amounts are less likely
than not to be realized, we record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets.

In addition, the calculation of tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. We recognize potential
liabilities based on an estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. We account for uncertain tax positions in accordance
with the relevant guidance, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement approach for uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken
in our income tax return, and also provides guidance on recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and
transition. The guidance utilizes a two-step approach for evaluation of uncertain tax positions. The first step is to determine if the weight of available
evidence indicates a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount
that is more likely than not to be realized on ultimate settlement. A liability is reported for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Any interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recorded as income tax expense.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Revenue:

Marketplace $ 662,108 $ 586,099 $ 518,282 

Enterprise 107,217 103,037 100,036 

Total revenue 769,325 689,136 618,318 

Cost of revenue 174,094 170,450 160,402 

Gross profit 595,231 518,686 457,916 

Operating expenses

Research and development 209,283 177,363 154,553 

Sales and marketing 185,211 220,681 246,882 

General and administrative 128,803 118,925 123,952 

Provision for transaction losses 6,728 12,977 25,153 

Total operating expenses 530,025 529,946 550,540 

Income (loss) from operations 65,206 (11,260) (92,624)

Other income, net 25,221 60,137 3,275 

Income (loss) before income taxes 90,427 48,877 (89,349)

Income tax benefit (provision) 125,159 (1,990) (536)

Net income (loss) $ 215,586 $ 46,887 $ (89,885)

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Cost of revenue $ 1,586 $ 1,900 $ 1,356 

Research and development 29,923 28,006 26,881 

Sales and marketing 11,670 14,030 11,511 

General and administrative 25,212 30,259 35,753 

Total $ 68,391 $ 74,195 $ 75,501 

A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December
31, 2022 is included in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of Operation”
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 15, 2024.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

Marketplace $ 662,108 $ 586,099 76,009 13 %

Percentage of total revenue 86 % 85 %

Enterprise $ 107,217 $ 103,037 4,180 4 %

Percentage of total revenue 14 % 15 %

Total revenue $ 769,325 $ 689,136 $ 80,189 12 %

During the year ended December 31, 2024, macroeconomic conditions adversely impacted GSV, which declined 3%, compared to 2023. The number of
active clients decreased 2% as of December 31, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023, driven by slower growth in acquisition of new clients. As a result,
GSV per active client decreased 1% as of December 31, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023. We expect no material improvement to macroeconomic
conditions in 2025.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, total revenue was $769.3 million, representing an increase of $80.2 million, or 12%, compared to 2023.

Marketplace revenue increased by $76.0 million, or 13%, compared to 2023, largely due to a number of initiatives that we implemented over the past
several quarters, including modifying existing offerings and other services and features. Specifically, we retired the tiered service fee structure for talent
working with clients on our Marketplace offering—ranging from 5% to 20%—in favor of a flat fee of 10%, increased the number of Connects needed by
talent to bid on projects, deployed ads products on our work marketplace, and introduced a contract initiation fee for clients on our Marketplace offering.
These factors also drove Marketplace revenue to grow at a faster rate than Marketplace GSV, which caused Marketplace take rate to increase to 18.0%
for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 15.4% in 2023.

We expect Marketplace revenue to decrease in 2025 compared to 2024 reflecting the impact of broader macroeconomic conditions.

Enterprise revenue represented 14% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 and increased by $4.2 million, or 4%, compared to 2023,
due to increased revenue from our Managed Services offerings, driven by new spend from existing clients.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

Cost of revenue $ 174,094 $ 170,450 $ 3,644 2 %

Total gross margin 77 % 75 %

For the year ended December 31, 2024, cost of revenue increased by $3.6 million, or 2%, compared to 2023, primarily due to increases in the cost of
talent services to deliver Managed Services revenue of $5.0 million and amortization expense related to internal-use software and platform development
costs of $4.1 million, offset by a reduction in payment processing fees of $2.6 million. For the year ended December 31, 2024, gross margin increased to
77%, compared to 75% in 2023, primarily driven by the increase in Marketplace revenue.

We expect cost of revenue to decrease in absolute dollars in future periods, reflecting the expected decrease in revenue on our work marketplace.
Amounts paid to talent in connection with our Managed Services offering are tied to the volume of managed services used by our clients. The level and
timing of these items could fluctuate and affect our cost of revenue in the future. We expect gross margin to remain consistent in 2025 compared to 2024.
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Research and Development

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

Research and development $ 209,283 $ 177,363 $ 31,920 18 %

Percentage of total revenue 27 % 26 %

For the year ended December 31, 2024, research and development expense increased by $31.9 million, or 18%, compared to 2023. This increase was
primarily driven by $8.2 million in costs related to the Restructuring Plan, $8.0 million in personnel-related costs and intangible amortization from our asset
acquisition in November 2023, and $11.1 million in other personnel-related costs. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2024, costs related to
software increased $1.5 million compared to 2023.

While we remain committed to ongoing innovation to further enhance our platform, including building new features with a focus on generative artificial
intelligence, we expect total research and development expense to decrease in 2025.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

Sales and marketing $ 185,211 $ 220,681 $ (35,470) (16)%

Percentage of total revenue 24 % 32 %

For the year ended December 31, 2024, sales and marketing expense decreased by $35.5 million, or 16%, compared to 2023. This decrease was
primarily driven by cost-saving measures implemented in the second quarter of 2023 and extended throughout 2024, including reduced investments in
brand marketing and vendor spend. As a result, marketing and advertising expense decreased by $28.6 million compared to 2023. Additionally,
personnel-related costs decreased $12.1 million, compared to 2023. These savings were partially offset by $7.1 million in costs incurred as a result of the
Restructuring Plan.

As a result of our reduced investment in brand marketing, the reduction of our workforce, and other cost-saving measures implemented in the past
several quarters, we expect sales and marketing expense to decrease in 2025, compared to 2024.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

General and administrative $ 128,803 $ 118,925 $ 9,878 8 %

Percentage of total revenue 17 % 17 %

For the year ended December 31, 2024, general and administrative expense increased by $9.9 million, or 8%, compared to 2023. This increase was
primarily due to increases in personnel-related costs of $5.5 million. Additionally, we incurred a $2.6 million increase in legal and consulting fees
associated with corporate initiatives and other matters, and $1.1 million in early lease termination fees recognized during the period.

As a result of cost savings measures implemented in the fourth quarter of 2024, we expect general and administrative expense to decrease in 2025,
compared to 2024.

Provision for Transaction Losses

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

Provision for transaction losses $ 6,728 $ 12,977 $ (6,249) (48)%

Percentage of total revenue 1 % 2 %

We maintain trust and safety measures to mitigate bad debt losses, instances of fraud, and chargeback losses. For the year ended December 31, 2024,
provision for transaction losses decreased by $6.2 million, or 48%, compared
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to 2023. This reduction was the result of improved internal review processes, which decreased bad debt losses, instances of fraud, and chargeback
losses.

Other Income, Net

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

Other income, net $ 25,221 $ 60,137 $ (34,916) (58)%

For the year ended December 31, 2024, other income, net decreased by $34.9 million, compared to 2023, due to a gain of $38.9 million on the early
extinguishment of a portion of the Notes that we recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2023, partially offset by increases in interest
income earned on marketable securities.

Income Tax Benefit (Provision)

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 $ %

Income tax benefit (provision) $ 125,159 $ (1,990) $ 127,149 *

*Not meaningful

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded a $125.2 million income tax benefit and a $2.0 million income tax expense, respectively.
The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to income tax expense in 2023, resulted primarily from the release of the
$140.3 million valuation allowance associated with U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets. This release was based on an evaluation of all available
positive and negative evidence, including our recent history of taxable income and expectations of future taxable earnings. As a result of this assessment,
we determined that it is more likely than not that our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets will be realized, resulting in the release of the valuation
allowance.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP, adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure that we believe is useful in evaluating our
operating performance.

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) adjusted for stock-based compensation expense; depreciation and amortization; other income
(expense), net, which includes interest expense; income tax benefit (provision); and, if applicable, certain other gains, losses, benefits, or charges that are
non-cash or are significant and the result of isolated events or transactions that have not occurred frequently in the past and are not expected to occur
regularly in the future. Additionally, in response to the war in Ukraine, during the year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred certain incremental
expenses associated with our humanitarian response efforts. These expenses are not representative of our ongoing operations, and, as a result, we
excluded these costs from adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2022. Adjusted EBITDA is not prepared in accordance with, and is not an
alternative to, financial measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure prepared in accordance with U.S.
GAAP, to adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Net income (loss) $ 215,586 $ 46,887 $ (89,885)

Add back (deduct):

Stock-based compensation expense 68,391 74,195 75,501 

Depreciation and amortization 14,813 9,449 8,057 

Other income, net (25,221) (60,137) (3,275)

Income tax (benefit) provision (125,159) 1,990 536 

Other 19,183 750 5,037 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 167,593 $ 73,134 $ (4,029)

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized a gain of $38.9 million on early extinguishment of debt, which is included in “Other
income, net” in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). See “Note 10—Debt” of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information regarding the Notes.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized a non-cash tax benefit of $140.3 million from the release of a valuation allowance on
certain deferred tax assets, partially offset by approximately $15.0 million of tax expense. See “Note 14—Income Taxes” of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred $19.2 million in costs related to the execution of the Restructuring Plan. Of this amount,
$18.4 million is included in Other, while the remaining amount is allocated between “Stock-based compensation expense” and “Other income, net”.
See “Note 17—Restructuring Charges” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional
information.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we incurred $0.8 million of expense related to the warrant to purchase 500,000
shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share issued to the Tides Foundation in 2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, in response to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, we incurred certain incremental expenses associated with
our humanitarian response efforts. These expenses are not representative of our ongoing operations, and, as a result, we excluded these costs from
adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2022. These expenses consisted of (i) $1.4 million of special one-time bonuses to our team
members in the region impacted by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, (ii) $1.5 million of expenses incurred in connection with the relocation of our team
members in the impacted region, (iii) $1.1 million of donations made to humanitarian aid organizations to support initiatives related to humanitarian
response efforts in the impacted region, primarily to Direct Relief International, a humanitarian aid organization, and (iv) $0.4 million of payments of
one-time service award bonuses (and associated taxes) to certain of our team members paid in recognition of contributions made by such team
members to our humanitarian response efforts in the impacted region.

We use adjusted EBITDA as a measure of operational efficiency. We believe that this non-GAAP financial measure is useful to investors for period-to-
period comparisons of our business and in understanding and evaluating our operating results for the following reasons:

• adjusted EBITDA is widely used by investors and securities analysts to measure a company’s operating performance without regard to items
such as stock-based compensation expense; depreciation and amortization; other income (expense), net, which includes interest expense;
income tax benefit (provision); and, if applicable, certain other gains, losses, benefits, or charges that are non-cash or are significant and the
result of isolated events or transactions that have not occurred frequently in the past and are not expected to occur regularly in the future, all of
which can vary substantially from company to company depending upon their financing, capital structures, and the method by which assets were
acquired;

• our management uses adjusted EBITDA in conjunction with financial measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP for planning purposes,
including the preparation of our annual operating budget, as a
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measure of our core operating results and the effectiveness of our business strategy, and in evaluating our financial performance; and

• adjusted EBITDA provides consistency and comparability with our past financial performance, facilitates period-to-period comparisons of our core
operating results, and also facilitates comparisons with other peer companies, many of which use similar non-GAAP financial measures to
supplement their U.S. GAAP results.

Our use of adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial
results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations are as follows:

• adjusted EBITDA excludes stock-based compensation expense, which has recently been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a
significant recurring expense for our business and an important part of our compensation strategy;

• although depreciation and amortization expense are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in
the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure
requirements;

• adjusted EBITDA does not reflect: (a) changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; (b) interest expense, or the cash
requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt, which reduces cash available to us; or (c) tax payments that may
represent a reduction in cash available to us; and

• other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures differently, which reduces the
usefulness of this measure for comparative purposes.

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider adjusted EBITDA along with net income (loss) and our other financial performance measures
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities. Our cash equivalents and marketable securities primarily
consist of money market funds, commercial paper, treasury bills, corporate bonds, U.S. and foreign government securities, asset-backed securities, and
other types of fixed income securities. The primary objective of our investment activities from our operating investments is to preserve principal while
maximizing income without significantly increasing risk. Since our inception, our business has consisted of the operation of an online work marketplace
that connects businesses with independent talent from across the globe, and we do not make investments for trading or speculative purposes. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had $305.8 million and $79.6 million in cash and cash equivalents, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
we had $316.3 million and $470.5 million in marketable securities, respectively.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and cash flow from operations (in periods in which we generate cash flow from
operations) will be sufficient for at least the next 12 months to meet our requirements and plans for cash, including meeting our working capital
requirements and capital expenditure requirements. In the long term, our ability to support our working capital and capital expenditure requirements will
depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate, the timing and the amount of cash received from customers, the expansion of sales and
marketing activities, the timing and extent of spending to support research and development efforts, the cost to host our work marketplace, the
introduction of new offerings and services, the continuing market adoption of our work marketplace, any acquisitions or investments that we make in
complementary businesses, products, and technologies, macroeconomic conditions, any repurchases of shares of our outstanding common stock or of
our outstanding Notes, and our ability to obtain equity or debt financing.

To the extent existing cash and cash equivalents, cash from marketable securities, and cash from operations (in periods in which we generate cash flow
from operations) are insufficient to fund our working capital and capital expenditure requirements, or should we require additional cash for other purposes,
we will need to raise additional funds. In the future, we may attempt to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities or through equity-linked
or debt financing arrangements, as we did with the offering of the Notes. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or equity-linked securities, the
ownership and economic interests of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we raise additional financing by incurring additional indebtedness, we will
be subject to additional debt service requirements and could also be subject to additional restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur
additional debt, and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Any future indebtedness we incur may
result in terms that could also be unfavorable to our equity investors. There can be no assurances that we will be able to raise additional capital on terms
we deem acceptable,
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or at all. The inability to raise additional capital as and when required would have an adverse effect, which could be material, on our results of operations,
financial condition, and ability to achieve our business objectives.

Commitments and Contingencies

Our principal commitments consist of the Notes, future purchase commitments for cloud infrastructure and other services, and obligations under our non-
cancellable operating leases for office space. Assuming the outstanding Notes are not converted into our common stock, repurchased, or redeemed prior
to maturity, (i) annual interest expense relating to the Notes will be $2.7 million in each fiscal year through 2025 and $1.8 million in 2026 and (ii) principal
in the amount of $361.0 million will be payable upon the maturity of the Notes on August 15, 2026. For additional information about our Notes, see the
section below titled “—Convertible Senior Notes Due 2026.”

In July 2024, we commenced a non-cancellable agreement for cloud infrastructure and other services that contains future purchase commitments of
$40.0 million over two years, with $20.0 million in each year. As of December 31, 2024, we had remaining purchase commitments under this agreement
of $30.0 million.

As of December 31, 2024, our future lease commitments were $15.9 million (excluding adjustments for discount to present value), including $1.9 million
for 2025.

During the periods presented, we did not have, and we do not currently have, any commitments or obligations, including contingent obligations, arising
from arrangements with unconsolidated entities or persons that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, cash requirements or capital resources.

Share Repurchase Program

In November 2023, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $100.0 million of shares of our outstanding common stock under the 2023
Share Repurchase Authorization. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased and subsequently retired 8.1 million shares of common
stock under the 2023 Share Repurchase Authorization for an aggregate amount of $100.0 million at an average price of $12.38 per share, including fees
associated with the repurchases and excluding excise tax. As of December 31, 2024, we had no remaining balance available for repurchases under the
2023 Share Repurchase Authorization.

In October 2024, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $100.0 million of shares of our outstanding common stock under the 2024
Share Repurchase Authorization. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not repurchase any shares under the 2024 Share Repurchase
Authorization. As of December 31, 2024, we had $100.0 million available for repurchases under the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization. As was the
case with the 2023 Share Repurchase Authorization, repurchases of our common stock under the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization may be made
from time to time on the open market (including through the use of trading plans intended to qualify under Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act), in
privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at our discretion, and in accordance with applicable securities laws and other restrictions. The
2024 Share Repurchase Authorization has no expiration date and will continue until otherwise suspended, terminated, or modified at any time for any
reason. The 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization does not obligate us to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares, and the timing and amount
of any repurchases will depend on market and business conditions.

Escrow Funding Requirements

As a licensed internet escrow agent, we offer escrow services to customers of our work marketplace and, as such, we are required to hold our customers’
escrowed cash and in-transit cash in trust as an asset and record a corresponding liability for escrow funds held on behalf of talent and clients on our
balance sheet. We expect the balances of our funds held in escrow, including funds held in transit, and the related liability to fluctuate based on
marketplace activity and may vary from period to period. Escrow regulations require us to cover the trust with our operating cash in the event of shortages
due to the timing of cash receipts from clients for completed hourly billings. Talent submit their billings for hourly contracts to their clients on a weekly
basis every Sunday, and the aggregate amount of such billings is added to escrow funds payable to talent on the same day. As of each Sunday of each
week, we have not yet collected funds for hourly billings from clients as these funds are in transit. Therefore, in order to satisfy escrow funding
requirements, every Sunday we match the shortage of cash in trust by restricting our own operating cash and typically collect this cash shortage from
clients within the next several days. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, funds held in escrow, including funds in transit, were $195.7 million and $212.4
million, respectively. We deposit a portion of funds held in escrow in interest-bearing checking accounts.
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Convertible Senior Notes Due 2026 and Capped Calls

As of December 31, 2024, $361.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes remained outstanding.

The Notes were issued in August 2021, pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions of an indenture between us and Computershare Trust
Company, National Association (as successor in interest to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association), as trustee. The Notes are senior, unsecured
obligations and bear interest at a rate of 0.25% per year, payable semiannually in arrears, and are due August 15, 2026. Upon conversion, we have an
option to pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock.

As market conditions warrant, we may, from time to time, repurchase outstanding Notes, as we did in the three months ended March 31, 2023, in the
open market, in privately negotiated transactions, by tender offer, by exchange transaction, or otherwise. Such repurchases of Notes, if any, will depend
on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity, and other factors, and may be commenced or suspended at any time.

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into capped call transactions, which we refer to as the Capped Calls. The Capped Calls are
expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are
required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap based on
the cap price.

The initial cap price of the Capped Calls is $92.74 per share of common stock, subject to certain customary adjustments under the terms of the Capped
Calls. See “Note 10—Debt” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information
regarding the Notes and the Capped Calls.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 153,563 $ 52,708 $ 11,497 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 137,568 88,270 (69,468)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (81,956) (139,791) 1,143 

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 209,175 $ 1,187 $ (56,828)

 The Company elected to change the presentation of certain cash flows on its Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow, reclassifying the change in Trade
and Client Receivables, related to amounts received on behalf of talent to fund their escrow account, from operating activities to financing activities. Prior
period comparative amounts have been recast to conform to the current period presentation. For additional information, refer to “Note 2—Basis of
Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

 Includes decreases in funds held in escrow, including funds in transit of $10.0 million and $25.4 million, during the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively, and an increase in funds held in escrow, including funds in transit of $4.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Operating Activities

Our largest source of cash from operating activities is revenue generated from our work marketplace. Our primary uses of cash from operating activities
are for personnel-related expenditures, payment processing fees, amounts paid to talent to deliver services for clients under our Managed Services
offering, and third-party hosting costs.

Net cash provided by operating activities during 2024 was $153.6 million, which resulted from net income of $215.6 million and non-cash charges of $47.0
million, offset by net cash outflows of $15.0 million from changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities during 2023 was $52.7 million, which resulted from net income of $46.9 million and non-cash charges of $45.1
million, offset by net cash outflows of $39.2 million from changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities during 2022 was $11.5 million, which resulted from non-cash charges of $112.2 million, offset by a net loss of
$89.9 million and net cash outflows of $10.8 million from changes in operating
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assets and liabilities. The change in operating assets and liabilities primarily resulted from the increase in trade and client receivables.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities during 2024 was $137.6 million, which was primarily a result of proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
of $486.9 million and $41.8 million in proceeds from the sale of marketable securities, partially offset by investing $362.3 million in various marketable
securities, $14.3 million cash paid, net of cash acquired, for the acquisition of Objective AI, $10.9 million of internal-use software and platform
development costs that we paid during the period, and $3.5 million paid for purchases of property and equipment.

Net cash provided by investing activities during 2023 was $88.3 million, which was primarily a result of proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
of $648.8 million and proceeds from the sale of marketable securities of $165.0 million, including $143.7 million to enable the repurchase of a portion of
the Notes, partially offset by investing $709.2 million in various marketable securities, as well as $12.7 million of internal-use software and platform
development costs that we paid during the period, and $3.0 million for the purchase of an intangible asset.

Net cash used in investing activities during 2022 was $69.5 million, which was primarily a result of investing $581.9 million in various marketable
securities, as well as $7.5 million of internal-use software and platform development costs that we paid during the period and purchases of property and
equipment of $1.2 million, partially offset by proceeds from maturities of marketable securities of $521.2 million.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities during 2024 was $82.0 million, which was driven by $100.0 million cash paid for repurchases under the 2023 Share
Repurchase Authorization, partially offset by an increase in escrow funds payable of $10.0 million, proceeds received from our employee stock purchase
plan of $4.8 million, and cash received from stock option exercises of $3.3 million.

Net cash used in financing activities during 2023 was $139.8 million, which was driven by $171.3 million that we paid to consummate the repurchase of a
portion of the Notes, including related fees to effect the repurchases, partially offset by an increase in escrow funds payable of $25.4 million, proceeds
received from our employee stock purchase plan of $4.1 million, and cash received from stock option exercises of $2.0 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities during 2022 was $1.1 million, which was primarily a result of proceeds received from our employee stock
purchase plan of $3.8 million, cash received from stock option exercises of $1.6 million, partially offset by a decrease in escrow funds payable of $4.3
million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses, and related disclosures. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors and adjust those estimates and assumptions when facts
and circumstances dictate. Actual results could materially differ from these estimates and assumptions. Certain of our accounting policies require higher
degrees of judgment than others in their application. These include certain aspects of accounting for revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, and
income taxes.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from talent and clients from our Marketplace and Enterprise offerings. We account for revenue in accordance with Topic 606.
Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in
exchange for those services.

Determining the method and amount of revenue to recognize requires management to make judgments and estimates. Judgments include determining
whether to present revenue gross, as a principal, or net, as an agent, which is based on an evaluation of whether we control the service prior to it being
transferred to the client.

We recognize deferred revenue as the related performance obligations are satisfied, on a ratable basis over the relevant service period. Management
applies judgement in assessing the continued appropriateness for the estimates, which include assessing the continued appropriateness of the
methodology and relevant data inputs to estimate the likelihood and the period of time over which to defer and recognize the consideration allocated to
the material rights. We utilize historical customer transaction data in developing these estimates. We recognize revenue related to the material rights
based on our estimate of when the material rights are exercised, and adjust revenue for changes in estimates in the period of change on a cumulative
catch-up basis.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for all stock-based awards granted to employees and non-employee service providers, including
stock options, restricted stock units, which we refer to as RSUs, performance stock units, which we refer to as PSUs, and purchase rights granted under
our 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which we refer to as the 2018 ESPP, based on the estimated fair value of the award on the grant date. We
calculate the estimated fair value of stock options and purchase rights granted under the 2018 ESPP on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, which is impacted by the fair value of our common stock, as well as changes in assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and
subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the expected dividend yield, the expected term of the awards, the risk-free interest
rates, and the expected common stock price volatility over the term of the option awards.

The grant date fair value of PSUs is determined using the closing common stock price of our common stock on the grant date multiplied by the number of
PSUs that are probable of being earned as of the grant date. We use the quoted market price of our common stock as reported on The Nasdaq Global
Select Market for the fair value of RSUs, PSUs, stock options, and purchase rights under our 2018 ESPP.

We generally recognize the fair value of stock options and RSUs on a straight-line basis over the period during which a service provider is required to
provide services in exchange for the award (generally the vesting period). We recognize the fair value of purchase rights granted under the 2018 ESPP
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the offering period and account for forfeitures as they occur.

Stock-based compensation expense associated with service and market-based stock options is recognized over the longer of the expected achievement
period for the service condition and market condition.

Stock-based compensation expense associated with PSUs is recognized over the longer of the expected achievement period for the performance
condition or the service condition, if applicable.

Income Taxes

We utilize the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from the temporary differences between the tax basis of an
asset or liability and its reported amount in the consolidated financial statements, as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax amounts are determined by using the tax rates expected to be in effect when the taxes will actually be paid or refunds received, as provided
for under current tax law.

A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The assessment of the need
for a valuation allowance involves significant judgment and requires consideration of various factors, including historical levels of pre-tax income or loss
adjusted for permanent book-tax differences on a jurisdictional basis, the timing and magnitude of future reversals of existing temporary differences, and
projections of future taxable income. A valuation allowance is reduced or removed when, based on a comprehensive evaluation of all available evidence,
it becomes more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. Key factors in determining the removal of a valuation allowance include
sustained profitability, changes in business operations that increase taxable income, or significant new sources of taxable income, such as new contracts
or operational expansions.

We regularly review our tax positions and benefits to be realized. We recognize tax liabilities based upon our estimate of whether, and the extent to which
additional taxes will be due when such estimates are more likely than not to be sustained. An uncertain income tax position will be recognized only if it is
more likely than not to be sustained. We recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters as income tax expense.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See “Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report for recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted as of the date of this Annual Report.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These
risks primarily include interest rate and foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

Borrowings under the Notes have a fixed interest rate. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had $361.0 million aggregate principal amount of
borrowings outstanding under the Notes, respectively.
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Additionally, we are exposed to interest rate risk relating to our investment portfolio. The primary objective of our investment activities from our operating
investments is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly increasing risk. We do not make investments for trading or speculative
purposes. Our portfolio’s fair value is relatively insensitive to interest rate changes.

We also earn interest on funds held on behalf of customers that we hold on our consolidated balance sheets as funds held in escrow, including funds in
transit. Because these balances are highly liquid, their fair value is relatively insensitive to interest rate changes.

We do not believe that a hypothetical increase or decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points would have a material impact on our operating results or
financial condition.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our operating results and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition to the U.S. dollar, we offer
clients the option to settle invoices denominated in the U.S. dollar in the following currencies: Euro, British Pound, Australian dollar, Canadian dollar,
Singapore dollar, South African rand, New Zealand dollar, Polish zloty, Swiss franc, Norwegian krone, Danish krone, Swedish krona, Turkish lira,
Japanese yen, and Hong Kong dollar. When clients make payments in one of these currencies, we are exposed to foreign currency risk during the period
between when payment is made and when the payment amounts settle. To mitigate this risk, we may enter into forward contracts or secure foreign
currency exchange rates for certain durations with financial institutions. As such, the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations to our
operating results have been immaterial to date.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Upwork Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Upwork Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We
also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition – Talent Service Fee and Client Marketplace Fee

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company earns fees from talent and clients under its marketplace offerings, which
represent a single promise to provide continuous access to the Company’s work marketplace and site services. The Company’s single promise is
comprised of a series of distinct service periods. The Company allocates consideration to each distinct service period in which it has the contractual right
to bill. The Company’s marketplace offerings may include fixed and variable consideration. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s
consolidated revenue was $769.3 million, of which a majority relates to talent service fee and client marketplace fee revenue.

The principal consideration for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition for talent service fee and client marketplace
fee revenue is a critical audit matter is a high degree of auditor effort in performing procedures related to the Company’s revenue recognition.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the revenue recognition process for talent service fee and
client marketplace fee revenue. These procedures also included, among others, testing revenue recognized for a sample of talent service fee and client
marketplace fee revenue transactions by obtaining and inspecting source documents, such as contracts, terms of service, invoices, payment receipts,
and client acceptance of the milestones.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California

February 13, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.
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UPWORK INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2024 2023

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 305,757  $ 79,641  

Marketable securities 316,344  470,457  

Funds held in escrow, including funds in transit 195,736  212,387  

Trade and client receivables – net of allowance of $ 4,646 and $ 5,141 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively 75,490  103,061  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17,727  17,825  

Total current assets 911,054  883,371  

Property and equipment, net 30,056  27,140  

Goodwill 121,064  118,219  

Intangible assets, net 12,989  3,048  

Operating lease asset 5,752  4,333  

Deferred tax asset 128,779  —  

Other assets, noncurrent 1,919  1,430  

Total assets $ 1,211,613  $ 1,037,541  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 6,128  $ 5,063  

Escrow funds payable 195,736  212,387  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 59,300  58,192  

Deferred revenue 7,269  17,361  

Total current liabilities 268,433  293,003  

Debt, noncurrent 357,928  356,087  

Operating lease liability, noncurrent 9,567  6,088  

Other liabilities, noncurrent 308  1,288  

Total liabilities 636,236  656,466  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock, $ 0.0001 par value; 490,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023;
135,348,453 and 137,272,754 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively 14  14  

Additional paid-in capital 653,575  674,918  

Accumulated and other comprehensive income 264  205  

Accumulated deficit ( 78,476 ) ( 294,062 )

Total stockholders’ equity 575,377  381,075  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,211,613  $ 1,037,541  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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UPWORK INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022

(In thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 2022

Revenue $ 769,325  $ 689,136  $ 618,318  

Cost of revenue 174,094  170,450  160,402  

Gross profit 595,231  518,686  457,916  

Operating expenses

Research and development 209,283  177,363  154,553  

Sales and marketing 185,211  220,681  246,882  

General and administrative 128,803  118,925  123,952  

Provision for transaction losses 6,728  12,977  25,153  

Total operating expenses 530,025  529,946  550,540  

Income (loss) from operations 65,206  ( 11,260 ) ( 92,624 )

Other income, net 25,221  60,137  3,275  

Income (loss) before income taxes 90,427  48,877  ( 89,349 )

Income tax benefit (provision) 125,159 ( 1,990 ) ( 536 )

Net income (loss) $ 215,586  $ 46,887  $ ( 89,885 )

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ 1.61  $ 0.35  $ ( 0.69 )

Diluted $ 1.52  $ 0.06  $ ( 0.69 )

Weighted-average shares used to compute net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted

Basic 133,621  134,774  130,518  

Diluted 143,152  137,263  130,518  

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Net unrealized holding gain (loss) on marketable securities, net $ 59  $ 3,290  $ ( 2,557 )

Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 215,645  $ 50,177  $ ( 92,442 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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UPWORK INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022

Common Stock
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’

Equity(In thousands, except share amounts) Shares Amount

Balances as of December 31, 2021 129,130,478  $ 13  $ 511,096  $ ( 528 ) $ ( 251,064 ) $ 259,517  

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options 412,171  — 1,642  — — 1,642  

Stock-based compensation expense — — 75,618  — — 75,618  

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs 2,553,300  — — — — —  

Tides Foundation common stock warrant expense — — 750  — — 750  

Issuance of common stock in connection with employee

stock purchase plan 272,316  — 3,794  — — 3,794  

Unrealized loss on marketable securities — — — ( 2,557 ) — ( 2,557 )

Net loss — — — — ( 89,885 ) ( 89,885 )

Balances as of December 31, 2022 132,368,265  $ 13  $ 592,900  $ ( 3,085 ) $ ( 340,949 ) $ 248,879  

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options

and common stock warrants 640,687  — 2,012  — — 2,012  

Stock-based compensation expense — — 75,175  — — 75,175  

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs 3,665,021  1  — — — 1  

Tides Foundation common stock warrant expense — — 750  — — 750  

Issuance of common stock in connection with employee

stock purchase plan 598,781  — 4,081  — — 4,081  

Unrealized gain on marketable securities — — — 3,290  — 3,290  

Net income — — — — 46,887  46,887  

Balances as of December 31, 2023 137,272,754  $ 14  $ 674,918  $ 205  $ ( 294,062 ) $ 381,075  

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options

and common stock warrants 934,966  — 3,293  — — 3,293  

Stock-based compensation expense — — 70,095  — — 70,095  

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs 4,559,933  1  — — — 1  

Tides Foundation common stock warrant expense — — 750  — — 750  

Issuance of common stock in connection with employee

stock purchase plan 657,526  — 4,795  — — 4,795  

Repurchase of common stock, including excise tax ( 8,076,726 ) ( 1 ) ( 100,276 ) — — ( 100,277 )

Unrealized gain on marketable securities — — — 59  — 59  

Net income — — — — 215,586  215,586  

Balances as of December 31, 2024 135,348,453  $ 14  $ 653,575  $ 264  $ ( 78,476 ) $ 575,377  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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UPWORK INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss) $ 215,586  $ 46,887  $ ( 89,885 )

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Provision for transaction losses 5,505  8,673  23,306  

Depreciation and amortization 14,813  9,449  8,057  

Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,842  2,098  2,961  

Accretion of discount on purchases of marketable securities, net ( 11,911 ) ( 14,430 ) ( 1,486 )

Amortization of operating lease asset 2,837  3,269  3,079  

Tides Foundation common stock warrant expense 750  750  750  

Stock-based compensation expense 68,391  74,195  75,501  

Deferred taxes ( 129,258 ) —  —  

Gain on early extinguishment of convertible senior notes —  ( 38,945 ) —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade and client receivables ( 4,802 ) ( 22,176 ) ( 15,292 )

Prepaid expenses and other assets ( 656 ) 146  ( 630 )

Operating lease liability ( 4,351 ) ( 5,903 ) ( 5,389 )

Accounts payable 969  ( 2,513 ) 2,579  

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,730  5,746  3,689  

Deferred revenue ( 10,882 ) ( 14,538 ) 4,257  

Net cash provided by operating activities 153,563  52,708  11,497  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of marketable securities ( 362,322 ) ( 709,214 ) ( 581,887 )

Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 486,892  648,800  521,152  

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 41,775  165,035  —  

Purchase of an intangible asset —  ( 3,000 ) —  

Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired ( 14,333 ) —  —  

Purchases of property and equipment ( 3,528 ) ( 692 ) ( 1,248 )

Internal-use software and platform development costs ( 10,916 ) ( 12,659 ) ( 7,485 )

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 137,568  88,270  ( 69,468 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Change in escrow funds payable, net 9,956  25,443  ( 4,294 )

Proceeds from exercises of stock options and common stock warrant 3,293  2,012  1,643  

Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 4,795  4,081  3,794  

Net cash paid for early extinguishment of convertible senior notes —  ( 171,327 ) —  

Repurchase of common stock ( 100,000 ) —  —  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ( 81,956 ) ( 139,791 ) 1,143  

NET CHANGE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH 209,175  1,187  ( 56,827 )

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—beginning of period 296,418  295,231  352,058  

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—end of period $ 505,593  $ 296,418  $ 295,231  

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid for income taxes $ 4,590  $ 1,982  $ —  

Cash paid for interest $ 920  $ 1,321  $ 1,541  

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH ACTIVITIES:

Right-of-use asset recognized $ 4,436  $ —  $ —  

Property and equipment purchased but not yet paid $ 26  $ 27  $ —  

Internal-use software and platform development costs incurred but not yet paid $ 400  $ 215  $ 73  

Refer to “Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for discussion of the change in the current period presentation.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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UPWORK INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1— Organization and Description of Business

Upwork Inc., which is referred to as the Company or Upwork, operates a work marketplace that connects businesses, which are referred to as clients, with
independent talent. Independent talent on the Company’s work marketplace, which are referred to as talent, and, together with clients, as customers,
include independent professionals and agencies of varying sizes and are an increasingly sought-after, critical, and expanding segment of the global
workforce. The Company is incorporated in the state of Delaware and is headquartered in Palo Alto, California.

Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms “Upwork” and the “Company” in these notes to the consolidated financial
statements refer to Upwork and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Note 2— Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States, which is referred to as U.S. GAAP, and include the accounts of Upwork Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Prior period presentation has been revised to conform to the current period presentation as of
December 31, 2024.

Changes in Presentation

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the Company elected to change the presentation of certain cash flows on its Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
The change in Trade and Client Receivables relating to amounts received on behalf of talent to fund their escrow accounts was reclassified from
operating activities to financing activities, reflected within the caption Change in escrow fund payable, net. Prior period comparative amounts have been
recast to conform to the current period presentation. This change had the impact of increasing cash flow provided by operating activities by $ 25.5 million
and $ 4.9 million, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and a corresponding offset in cash provided by (used in) financing
activities. This reclassification did not affect the previously reported total cash balances on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Additionally, these
reclassifications had no impact on the Consolidated Statements of Operation and Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Balance Sheets, or Consolidated
Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates, judgments, and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Such estimates include, but are not limited to: the useful lives of
assets; assessment of the recoverability of long-lived assets; goodwill impairment; standalone selling price of material rights and the period of time over
which to defer and recognize the consideration allocated to the material rights; allowance for expected credit losses; liabilities relating to transaction
losses; stock-based compensation; and accounting for income taxes. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company evaluates its estimates, assumptions, and judgments
on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors and revises them when facts and circumstances dictate.

The Company is not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require an update to its estimates or judgments or a revision of the carrying
value of its assets or liabilities. These estimates may change as new events occur and additional information is obtained. Actual results could differ
materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company classifies cash and cash equivalents to include cash held in checking and interest-bearing accounts and investments in money market
funds, U.S. government securities, and debt securities with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase.
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UPWORK INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Continued

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company maintained restricted cash of $ 4.1 million and $ 4.4 million, respectively, related to cash reserve
requirements under the escrow laws and regulations of the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation and collateral for letters of credit
issued in conjunction with operating leases. Short-term restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets was $ 3.6 million as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and long-term restricted cash included in other assets, noncurrent was $ 0.6 million and $ 0.8 million as of December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively.

Funds Held in Escrow, Including Funds in Transit

The Company maintains its customers’ funds held in escrow in demand or interest-bearing checking accounts at U.S. financial institutions, as well as two
California licensed money transmitters. The balance in these accounts was in excess of federally insured limits as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
Customers’ funds held in escrow are denominated exclusively in U.S. dollars.

The Company is an internet escrow agent and is therefore required to hold its customers’ escrowed funds and escrow funds in-transit in trust as an asset
and record a corresponding liability for escrow funds payable on its consolidated balance sheets. For this reason, funds held in escrow, including funds in
transit, are restricted cash. Escrow funds in-transit arise due to the time it takes to clear transactions through external payment networks. When clients
fund their escrow account using credit cards, there is a clearing period before the cash is received and settled. Accordingly, the funds are treated as
escrow funds in transit until the transaction   is settled to the escrow trust bank account or, in the case of international credit card settlements, to the
Company’s bank accounts. Escrow regulations require the Company to fund the trust with its own operating cash if there is ever a shortage due to the
timing of cash receipts from clients for completed hourly billings. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded $ 195.7 million and $ 212.4
million, respectively, as funds held in escrow, including funds in transit.

The below table reconciles cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash as reported in the consolidated balance sheets to the total of the same amounts
shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 305,757  $ 79,641  $ 129,384  

Restricted cash 4,100  4,390  4,390  

Funds held in escrow, including funds in transit 195,736  212,387  161,457  

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows $ 505,593  $ 296,418  $ 295,231  

Marketable Securities

The Company’s marketable securities consist of money market funds, commercial paper, treasury bills, corporate bonds, U.S. government securities,
asset-backed securities, and other types of fixed income securities issued by foreign governments or entities and denominated in U.S. dollars, which have
contractual maturities within 36 months from the date of purchase. The marketable securities are available for current operations and are classified as
available-for-sale. These marketable securities are carried at estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, included within the
stockholders’ equity section of the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Company periodically assesses its portfolio of debt investments for impairment. For debt securities in an unrealized loss position, this assessment
first takes into account the Company’s intent to sell, or whether it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security before
recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of these criteria are met, the debt security’s amortized cost basis is written down to fair value through other
income, net. For debt securities in an unrealized loss position that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Company assesses whether the decline in
fair value below the amortized cost basis resulted from a credit loss or other factors. In making this assessment, the Company considers factors such as
the extent to which fair value is less than the amortized cost basis, the financial condition of the issuer, any changes to the rating of the security by a
rating agency, and any adverse conditions specifically related to the security, among other factors. If this assessment indicates that a credit loss may
exist, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the present
value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists and an allowance for credit losses will be recorded
through other income, net, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any additional impairment not recorded through
an allowance for credit losses is recognized in other comprehensive
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UPWORK INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Continued

income (loss). Changes in the allowance for credit losses are reflected as provision for (or reversal of) credit loss expense. Losses are charged against
the allowance when management believes the uncollectability of an available-for-sale security is confirmed or when either of the criteria regarding intent
or requirement to sell are met. These changes are recorded in other income, net. The Company determines realized gains or losses from the sale of
marketable securities on a specific identification method and records such gains or losses in other income, net within the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Escrow Funds Payable

Escrow funds payable represent customer funds that are held in escrow by the Company on behalf of both talent and clients. Escrow funds payable to
talent are comprised primarily of funds available to be withdrawn by talent for work performed and paid by clients. Escrow funds payable to clients
primarily represent deposits received from certain clients to set up an account or to apply toward future payments to talent upon completion of the project
defined and agreed between the client and talent.

Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentration of risk consist primarily of cash, restricted cash, funds held in escrow, including funds in
transit, and trade and client receivables. The Company maintains its cash balances with large, high-credit quality financial institutions and other payment
companies. At times, such deposits may be in excess of federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits. Credit risk
on trade receivables is limited as a result of the large size of the Company’s client base as well as a large portion of payments made using pre-authorized
credit cards. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its clients and maintains allowances for potential credit losses. For any receivables that
are deemed not collectible, losses are recorded when probable and estimable. These losses, when incurred, have been within the range of the
Company’s expectations.

The Company had two clients that accounted for more than 10 % of trade and client receivables as of December 31, 2024. The Company did not have
any clients that accounted for more than 10% of trade and client receivables as of December 31, 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, the Company did not have any clients that accounted for more than 10% of total revenue.

The Company is dependent upon third parties, such as Amazon Web Services, in order to meet the uptime and performance needs of its customers.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, funds held in escrow, including funds in transit, marketable
securities, trade and client receivables, prepaid and other current assets, escrow funds payable, and debt.

The Company believes that the carrying values of financial instruments approximate their fair values.

Trade and Client Receivables and Related Allowance for Expected Credit Losses

Trade and client receivables are primarily comprised of amounts receivable from clients for completed work, including amounts in transit. It also includes
unbilled amounts due from clients primarily through the Company’s Managed Services offering. Trade and client receivables are recorded and stated at
realizable value, net of an allowance for expected credit losses. Credit is extended generally without collateral to the Company’s clients of its Enterprise
offerings based on an initial and ongoing evaluation of their financial condition and other factors. In aggregate, gross trade receivables were $ 28.5
million and $ 30.0 million and gross client receivables were $ 51.6 million and $ 78.2 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The allowance for expected credit losses is the Company’s estimate of the probable credit losses on accounts receivable. The Company periodically
assesses the collectability of the accounts and determines the allowance recognized by taking into consideration the aging of its receivable balances,
historical write-off experience, probability of collection, and other relevant data. Trade and client receivables are written off against the allowance when
management determines a balance is uncollectible and no longer actively pursues collection of the receivable.
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UPWORK INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Continued

The following table presents the changes in the allowance for expected credit losses as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Allowance for expected credit losses, beginning balance $ 5,141  $ 12,464  $ 3,410  

Provision for expected credit losses 5,767  9,490  22,167  

Amounts written off ( 6,262 ) ( 16,813 ) ( 13,113 )

Allowance for expected credit losses, ending balance $ 4,646  $ 5,141  $ 12,464  

Derivative Instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments not designated as hedges, such as foreign currency forward contracts, to minimize the short-term
impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on certain foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities, as well as certain foreign currency
denominated expenses, hedging the gains or losses generated by the re-measurement of significant foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities. The Company does not enter into derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes and these instruments generally have maturities
within 12 months.

The foreign currency forward contracts were recorded at fair value and, when in gain positions, were reported within prepaid expenses and other current
assets. When in loss positions, the foreign currency forward contracts were recorded within accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. Gains or losses from changes in the fair value of these foreign currency forward contracts not designated as hedging
instruments were recorded in other income, net to offset the changes in the fair value of the underlying assets or liabilities that were being hedged.

The notional amounts associated with the Company’s foreign exchange activity as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were $ 0.2 million and $ 7.0 million,
respectively, none of which were designated as cash flow hedges. The carrying values of the foreign currency forward contracts approximated their fair
values due to their relatively short settlement durations. The fair values of the Company’s outstanding foreign currency forward contracts not designated
as hedging instruments as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was not material.

Gains on foreign currency forward contracts not designated as hedging instruments were $ 0.1 million and $ 0.5 million for the years ended December
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Losses on foreign currency forward contracts not designated as hedging instruments were $ 0.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

Leases

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, which is referred to as the FASB, Accounting Standards
Update, which is referred to as ASU, No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which the Company adopted on December 31, 2019 effective as of January 1,
2019 using the effective date method.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are generally two to five years . Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the remaining lease term or their estimated useful lives. Repair and maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Internal-Use Software and Platform Development Costs

The Company’s policy is to capitalize certain costs to develop its internal-use software and platform when (i) preliminary project planning is completed, (ii)
the Company has committed project resourcing, and (iii) it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used as intended. Costs
incurred for enhancements that are expected to result in additional significant functionality are also capitalized. Such costs are generally amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives determined on a project-by-project basis, which historically has ranged between two to five years ,
beginning when the asset is ready for its intended use. Costs incurred prior to meeting these criteria, together with costs incurred for training and
maintenance, are expensed as incurred. Amortization of capitalized internal-use software and platform development costs is allocated to functional
expense categories based on headcount and the nature and intended use of the project.
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Segment Information

The Company has one operating and reportable segment. The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, which is referred to as the CODM, is its
President and Chief Executive Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for the purpose of allocating resources and
evaluating financial performance.

Business Combination and Goodwill

The results of businesses acquired in a business combination are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of the
acquisition. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their estimated fair values on the
acquisition date. Any excess purchase consideration over the fair value of net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.

The Company determines the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed by exercising judgment and using various estimates, including the
selection of valuation methodologies, cash flow projections, discount rates, and comparable company analyses. To support this process, the Company
may engage a third-party valuation firm, as needed, to assist in determining the fair values of acquired assets, assumed liabilities, and any contingent
consideration in a business combination.

Transaction costs associated with business combinations are expensed as incurred and are included in general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Goodwill is not amortized, but rather is assessed for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if events and changes in circumstances indicate that
its carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company performs its annual impairment assessment during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year
based on a single reporting unit structure by comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value. An impairment would occur if the carrying
amount of a reporting unit exceeded the fair value of that reporting unit. For 2024, the Company conducted its goodwill impairment testing by performing
step one of the quantitative assessment, of the two-step impairment model. The Company determined the fair value by using quoted market prices of the
Company’s common stock. The Company determined that the fair value of its reporting unit exceeded the carrying value, and, as such, the Company
concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill at the impairment testing date. There has been no impairment of goodwill for any of the periods
presented.

Acquired Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s intangible assets include identifiable, finite-lived intangible assets such as customer relationships and developed technology, acquired as
part of a business combination in November 2024, as well as an assembled workforce, acquired as part of an asset acquisition in November 2023. These
intangible assets are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization. The Company amortizes the intangible assets over their estimated useful lives, either
based on the pattern in which the economic benefits are consumed, or using the straight-line method when the pattern cannot be reliably determined.
The estimated useful lives of the intangible assets range from six months t o three years . Intangible amortization expense related to developed
technology and an assembled workforce is included in research and development expense on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income (loss). Intangible amortization expense related to customer relationships is included in sales and marketing expense on the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

The Company periodically reviews the remaining estimated useful lives of its long-lived tangible and amortizable intangible assets. If the estimated useful
life assumption for any asset is changed, the remaining unamortized balance would be depreciated or amortized over the revised estimated useful life, on
a prospective basis.

The Company’s long-lived assets consist of property and equipment and internal-use software and platform development costs.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets, including identifiable intangible assets, for possible impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparing the
carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If it is determined that the asset group is not recoverable, an
impairment loss is recorded in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the aggregate future undiscounted cash flows.
When an impairment loss is recognized, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to fair value. There has been no asset impairments for any of the
periods presented.
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Convertible Senior Notes

The Company accounts for the 0.25 % convertible senior notes due 2026, which are referred to as the Notes, as a single liability measured at amortized
cost. The carrying value of the liability equals the proceeds received from the issuance of the Notes less debt issuance costs. In March 2023, the
Company entered into separate, privately negotiated repurchase agreements with a limited number of institutional holders of the Notes to repurchase for
cash an aggregate of $ 214.0  million principal amount of the Notes for an aggregate cash payment of $ 170.8  million, which are collectively referred to as
the Note Repurchases. See “Note 10—Debt” for additional information.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from talent and clients from its Marketplace and Enterprise offerings. The Company accounts for revenue in
accordance with FASB ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers  (Topic 606), which the Company adopted on December 31, 2019
effective as of January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective method. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those services.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company makes payments to customers when those customers provide services in their capacity as vendors.
These payments are for distinct services and are at fair value. These transactions are primarily with certain financial institutions that the Company uses as
payment processors on the work marketplace. The Company accounts for the consideration payable to these customers in their capacity as vendors as a
purchase of services from a vendor and records such payments in either cost of revenue or sales and marketing within the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Marketplace Offerings

The Company’s Marketplace revenue represents the majority of its revenue and is derived from its Marketplace offerings, which include all offerings other
than the Enterprise offerings—Enterprise Solutions and Managed Services. The Company generates Marketplace revenue from both talent and clients.
Marketplace revenue is primarily generated from talent service fees, and to a lesser extent, client marketplace fees.

The Company also generates Marketplace revenue through ads and monetization products, including purchases of Connects, which are virtual tokens
required for talent to bid on projects and purchase ads products on the Company’s work marketplace, membership fees, and other services, such as
foreign currency exchange when clients choose to pay in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, Additionally the Company earns interest on funds held on
behalf of customers.

The Company earns fees from talent under its Marketplace offerings and associated premium offerings, which represent a single promise to provide
continuous access (i.e., stand-ready performance obligation) to the Company’s work marketplace and site services. As each day of providing access to
the work marketplace and site services (including, but not limited to, communication, invoicing, reporting, dispute resolution, and payment services) is
substantially the same and talent simultaneously receive and consume the benefits as access is provided, the Company’s single promise is comprised of
a series of distinct service periods. The Company allocates consideration to each distinct service period in which it has the contractual right to bill. The
Company’s talent arrangements may include fixed and variable consideration, or a combination of the two, comprised of the following:

Service fees. Talent are provided access to the Company’s work marketplace to market their businesses, send proposals to and communicate with
prospective clients, and, if engaged by a client, to perform specified services agreed between talent and clients, which are referred to as talent
services. Talent charge clients on an hourly or a milestone basis for services rendered to clients through the Company’s work marketplace, which are
referred to as talent billings. Prior to May 2023, the Company charged talent a service fee as a percentage of talent billings primarily using a tiered
service fee model based on cumulative lifetime billings by talent to each client. In May 2023, the Company retired the tiered service fee structure for
talent working with clients on its Marketplace offering— ranging from 5 % to 20 %—in favor of a simplified flat service fee of 10 %. This change took
effect on new contracts and existing contracts that would have otherwise been subject to a 20 % fee under the tiered service fee model. Talent that
had existing contracts with a 5 % fee under the tiered service fee model retained that rate for those contracts through the end of 2023. Prior to this
change, talent service fee arrangements subject to tiered service fees also included contract renewal options that represented a material right. The
Company takes no responsibility for talent services, and therefore, does not control talent services. Additionally, talent and clients negotiate and
agree upon the scope and the price for talent services directly with each other, and the Company is not a party to those agreements. Accordingly, for
these arrangements, the
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Company presents revenue on a net basis, as an agent. The Company recognizes the service fees for each distinct service period when it has the
contractual right to bill for the services.

Withdrawal fees. The Company charges withdrawal fees to talent when talent withdraw their escrow funds held by the Company. A withdrawal fee is
charged for each withdrawal transaction, which represents variable consideration. The Company presents revenue from withdrawal fees on a gross
basis as a principal and not net of the third-party payment processing costs incurred because the Company controls the payment processing services
prior to providing to the Company’s talent. The Company recognizes the withdrawal fees when transactions are processed, which is when it has the
contractual right to bill for the services.

Membership fees. The Company charges membership fees to talent. These fees are fixed consideration and are charged monthly. The Company
recognizes the revenue over the period of the membership, which is generally monthly, consistent with the common measure of progress for the
entire performance obligation.

The Company charges fees to talent for the purchase of Connects. Connects represent a separate performance obligation. Connects fees represent fixed
consideration and are allocated to and recognized in the distinct service period in which the Connects are used by talent.

Certain of the Company’s contracts with talent contain multiple performance obligations in the event the Company determines a material right exists.
Specifically, prior to the shift to a simplified flat service fee in May 2023, the arrangements with talent subject to tiered service fees included contract
renewal options that represent a material right. For such arrangements, the Company allocated revenue to each performance obligation based on its
relative standalone selling price by applying the portfolio approach practical expedient under Topic 606. Standalone selling prices for offerings subject to
tiered service fees were estimated based on observable transactions when these services were sold on a standalone basis. Standalone selling price for a
material right was estimated by determining the discount that talent would obtain when exercising the option, adjusted for the likelihood that the option
will be exercised. Significant judgment was applied in the application of the portfolio approach practical expedient, which included estimating the
standalone selling price of the material rights and the period of time over which to defer and recognize the consideration allocated to the material rights.
Specifically, management applied significant judgment in assessing the appropriateness of the model for the estimates, which included assessing the
appropriateness of the methodology and relevant data inputs to (i) estimate the standalone selling price of the material rights, which included the
standalone selling price of the services when sold separately and the likelihood of exercise of the material rights; and (ii) estimate the period of time over
which to defer and recognize the consideration allocated to the material rights. The Company utilized historical customer transaction data in developing
the estimates. The Company recognized revenue related to the material rights based on the Company’s estimate of when the material rights were
exercised and adjusted revenue for changes in estimates in the period of change on a cumulative catch-up basis.

The Company earns fees from clients under the Marketplace offerings, which represents a single promise to provide continuous access (i.e., stand-ready
performance obligation) to the Company’s work marketplace and site services. As each day of providing access to the work marketplace and site services
is substantially the same and the client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as access is provided, the Company’s single promise under
its Marketplace offering is comprised of a series of distinct service periods. The Company’s Marketplace offerings may include fixed and variable
consideration, or a combination of the two, comprised of the following:

Client marketplace fees. The Company charges a client marketplace fee on a per-transaction basis and is considered variable consideration. Client
marketplace fees are assessed on both fixed price and hourly contracts. The Company allocates client marketplace fees to each distinct service
period based on the contractual right to bill. For fixed price contracts, the Company recognizes revenue when a client funds a contract, and for hourly
contracts, the Company recognizes revenue at the end of the weekly billing period, which is when the Company has the contractual right to bill for the
services. For client marketplace fees, the Company presents revenue on a gross basis as a principal and not net of the third-party payment
processing costs incurred because the Company controls the services prior to providing to the Company’s clients.

Contract initiation fees. The Company charges a contract initiation fee on new contracts between talent and clients, which is considered fixed
consideration. The contract initiation fee is assessed on both fixed price and hourly contracts. The Company allocates the contract initiation fee to
each distinct service period based on the contractual right to bill. For fixed price contracts, the Company recognizes revenue when a client initially
funds a contract, and for hourly contracts, the Company recognizes revenue at the first weekly billing period, which is when the Company has the
contractual right to bill for the services. For contract initiation fees, the Company presents revenue on a gross basis as a principal and not net of the
third-party payment processing costs incurred because the Company controls the services prior to providing to the Company’s clients.
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Foreign currency exchange fees. The Company charges clients a fixed mark-up above foreign currency exchange rates that are charged to the
Company when the Company collects amounts denominated in foreign currency. Foreign currency exchange fees are variable consideration and
recognized as they are earned for each transaction processed, which is when the Company has the contractual right to bill for the services.

Upwork Payroll service fees.  The Company charges clients using the Upwork Payroll offering when their talent are classified as employees for
engagements on the Company’s work marketplace. The client enters into an Upwork Payroll agreement with the Company, and Upwork separately
contracts with unrelated third-party staffing providers that provide employment services to such clients. In such arrangements, talent providing talent
services to clients become employees of third-party staffing providers. In arrangements where clients enter into Upwork Payroll agreements, the
Company charges Upwork Payroll service fees to clients and does not charge service fees to talent who are employees of the third-party staffing
providers. Such service fees are variable consideration and charged as a fixed percentage of the total talent billings. Under an Upwork Payroll
agreement, the Company provides the client access to the Upwork work marketplace to procure and manage talent services, as well as access to
employment services provided by the third-party staffing providers. The Company presents Upwork Payroll service fees revenue on a net basis as an
agent of the client for providing access to employment services provided by the third-party staffing providers. The Company does not control these
employment services performed by the third-party on behalf of the client or for the services performed by talent that are employed by the third-party
staffing providers. Therefore, the Company is not considered the principal for these services. The Company recognizes the service fees for each
distinct service period when it has the contractual right to bill for the services.

Certain of the Company’s Marketplace offerings include revenue sharing arrangements under which the Company generates a revenue share as a
percentage of the fees charged by certain financial institutions to talent for payment withdrawals. These arrangements are considered a single
performance obligation comprised of variable consideration and are recognized over time based on transactions processed.

The Company earns interest on a portion of customer funds while they are held in escrow. The interest is considered variable consideration and is
recognized when it is specified and earned from the financial institution.

Enterprise Offerings

The Company earns fees from talent under its Enterprise Solutions offering, which represents a single promise to provide continuous access (i.e., stand-
ready performance obligation) to the Company’s work marketplace and site services. As each day of providing access to the work marketplace and site
services is substantially the same and talent simultaneously receive and consume the benefits as access is provided, the Company’s single promise
under its Enterprise Solutions offering is comprised of a series of distinct service periods. The Company allocates variable consideration to each distinct
service period in which it has the contractual right to bill. These arrangements include variable consideration as follows:

Service fees. The Company provides talent access to the Upwork marketplace to perform talent services for clients. The Company charges talent a
service fee as a percentage of talent billings. For service fees charged to talent, the Company presents revenue on a net basis, as an agent, for
providing access to the Upwork marketplace as it does not control talent services provided to clients, and therefore the Company is not considered
the principal for talent services. Additionally, talent and clients negotiate and agree upon the scope and the price for talent services directly with each
other, and the Company is not a party to their agreement. The Company recognizes the service fees for each distinct service period in which it has
the contractual right to bill for the services.

The Company earns fees from clients under its Enterprise Solutions and other premium offerings, each of which represent a single promise to provide
continuous access (i.e., stand-ready performance obligation) to the Company’s work marketplace and site services. As each day of providing access to
the work marketplace and site services is substantially the same and the client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as access is provided,
the Company’s single promise under its Enterprise Solutions and other premium offerings is comprised of a series of distinct service periods. The
Company allocates variable consideration to each distinct service period in which it has the contractual right to bill. These arrangements may include
fixed and variable consideration, or a combination of the two, comprised of the following:

Client service fees. The Company offers clients access to the Company’s work marketplace to source talent in exchange for a client service fee
calculated as a percentage of talent billings; these fees represent variable consideration. The Company recognizes the service fees for each distinct
service period in which it has the contractual right to bill for the services.
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Enterprise compliance service fees. The Company charges fees to clients of its Enterprise Compliance offering who engage the Company to provide
services to determine whether talent should be classified as an employee or an independent contractor based on the scope of talent services agreed
between the client and talent and other factors. The Company charges Enterprise Compliance service fees as a percentage of talent billings; these
fees represent variable consideration. The Company recognizes the service fees for each distinct service period in which it has the contractual right
to bill for the services.

Subscription fees. The Company charges monthly or annual subscription fees to clients for subscription services. These subscription fees are fixed
consideration and are recognized over the period of the subscription consistent with the common measure of progress for the entire performance
obligation.

Upwork Payroll service fees.  Upwork Payroll service fees are recognized on the same basis as described under the Marketplace offering and are
variable consideration.

Under a Managed Services arrangement, the Company is responsible for providing services and engaging talent directly or as employees of third-party
staffing providers to perform the services for clients on the Company’s behalf. These arrangements are generally time- and materials-based, and are
invoiced on a monthly basis. These fees represent variable consideration. The Company controls and directs the services performed on behalf of talent
and presents revenue on a gross basis as principal. As each day of providing Managed Services is substantially the same and the client simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits as services are provided, the Company’s single promise under its Managed Services offering is comprised of a
series of distinct service periods. For Managed Services arrangements with clients, the Company allocates the variable amounts to each distinct service
period within the series in which it has the contractual right to bill and recognizes revenue as each distinct service period is performed.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of subscription, membership, and Connects fees collected in advance of performing the service or the talent using the
Connect. Deferred revenue also consists of amounts attributable to unexercised material rights related to arrangements with talent that were subject to
tiered service fees. In May 2023, the Company retired its tiered service fee structure for talent and introduced a simplified flat service fee. With this
change, the Company no longer allocates a portion of the transaction price to unexercised material rights.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the cost of payment processing fees, amounts paid to talent to deliver services for clients under our Managed
Services offering, personnel-related costs for the Company’s services and support personnel, third-party hosting fees, and the amortization expense
associated with capitalized internal-use software and platform development costs. The Company defines personnel-related costs as salaries, bonuses,
benefits, travel and entertainment, and stock-based compensation costs for employees, and costs related to other service providers the Company
engages to provide internal services to the Company.

Research and Development

Research and development expense primarily consists of personnel-related costs. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except to
the extent that such costs are associated with internal-use software and platform development that qualify for capitalization.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed as they are incurred, and are included in sales and marketing expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss). The Company incurred $ 57.1 million, $ 83.2 million, and $ 121.2 million in advertising expenses during the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Provision for Transaction Losses

Provision for transaction losses consists primarily of losses resulting from fraud and bad debt expense associated with our trade and client receivable
balance and transaction losses associated with chargebacks. Provision for these items represent estimates of losses based on the Company’s actual
historical incurred losses and other factors.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock options with service and market-based conditions, restricted stock units, which are referred to as RSUs, performance
stock units, which are referred to as PSUs, and purchase rights granted under
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the 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which is referred to as the 2018 ESPP, to employees and directors based on their estimated fair value on the
date of grant. The fair value and derived service period of stock options with market-based conditions is estimated using the Monte Carlo valuation
model. The Company evaluates the assumptions used to value option awards upon each grant of stock options. The fair value of RSUs awarded to
employees is based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock, as reported on The Nasdaq Global Select Market on the date of grant. The
grant date fair value of PSUs is determined using the Company’s closing common stock price on the grant date multiplied by the number of PSUs that
are probable of being earned as of the grant date. The fair value of purchase rights granted under the 2018 ESPP is estimated using the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The model requires the Company to make a number of assumptions, including the value of the Company’s common stock, expected
volatility, expected term, risk-free interest rate, and expected dividends.

Stock-based compensation expense associated with service- and market-based stock options will be recognized over the longer of the expected
achievement period for the service condition and market condition. The Company generally recognizes stock-based compensation expense for RSUs on
a straight-line basis over the vesting term.

Stock-based compensation expense associated with PSUs is recognized over the longer of the expected achievement period for the performance
condition and the service condition, if applicable. Stock-based compensation for purchase rights granted under the 2018 ESPP is recognized over the
offering period. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency of the country in which the foreign subsidiary is located. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, while revenues and
expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the year. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in other income, net in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The Company recorded net foreign currency transaction gains of $ 0.1
million and $ 0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and net foreign currency transaction losses of $ 0.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability method. Under the asset and liability method, deferred assets and
liabilities are recognized based upon anticipated future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. The Company establishes a valuation allowance to the extent that it is more likely than not that
deferred tax assets will not be recoverable against future taxable income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be
realized or settled. The Company regularly assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be realized from recoverable income taxes or
recovered from future taxable income based on the realization criteria set forth in the relevant authoritative guidance. To the extent that the Company
believes any amounts are not more likely than not to be realized, the Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets. The
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain.

In addition, the calculation of tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The Company recognizes
potential liabilities based on its estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. The Company accounts for uncertain tax
positions in accordance with the relevant guidance, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement approach for uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a company’s income tax return, and also provides guidance on recognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. The guidance utilizes a two-step approach for evaluation of uncertain tax positions. Step one,
Recognition, requires a company to determine if the weight of available evidence indicates a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon
audit. Step two, Measurement, is based on the largest amount of benefit, which is more likely than not to be realized on ultimate settlement. A liability is
reported for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Any interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits are recorded as income tax expense.

Net Income (Loss) per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the
period. Diluted net income (loss) is computed by adjusting net income (loss) to
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reallocate undistributed earnings based on the potential impact of dilutive securities, including outstanding common stock options, RSUs, PSUs, warrants
to purchase common stock, common stock issuable in connection with the 2018 ESPP, and common stock issuable in connection with the Notes. For
periods in which the Company has reported net losses, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share because dilutive common
shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) : Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures , which is
referred to as ASU 2023-07 . ASU 2023-07 requires public entities to disclose information about their significant expenses and other items by reportable
segment on both an interim and annual basis. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to apply these enhanced disclosure
requirements as well as all existing segment and reconciliation requirements under Accounting Standards Codification, which is referred to as ASC, 280
for both interim and annual reporting.

On December 31, 2024, the Company adopted ASU 2023-07, effective as of January 1, 2024. As a result, the Company has updated its segment
disclosures in “Note 15 – Segment Information,” providing more detailed information on significant expenses and other relevant segment items in
accordance with the new guidance.

The adoption of ASU 2023-07 did not result in any changes to the Company’s reportable segments but did enhance the granularity of disclosures within
our financial statements, increasing transparency for interim and annual reporting periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

With the exception of those discussed below, the Company has reviewed all recently issued accounting pronouncements and concluded they were either
not applicable or not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which is referred to as ASU
2023-09. ASU 2023-09 requires public entities to provide annual disclosures of specific categories in the rate reconciliation and to disclose income taxes
paid, disaggregated by jurisdiction. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact that ASU 2023-09 will have on its consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses , which is referred to as ASU 2024-03. ASU 2024-03
requires public entities to disclose detailed information about specific types of expenses included within the expense captions presented on the face of
the income statement. While ASU 2024-03 does not alter the presentation of expense captions on the face of the income statement, it introduces
requirements for disaggregating certain expense captions into specified categories within the footnotes to the financial statements. ASU 2024-03 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that ASU 2024-03 will have on its consolidated financial statements and accompanying
footnotes.

Note 3— Revenue

Revenue Recognition

For information about how the Company derives revenue, as well as the Company’s accounting policies, refer to “Note 2—Basis of Presentation and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Disaggregation of Revenue

Based on the information provided and reviewed by the CODM, the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows and how they are
affected by economic factors are most appropriately depicted by the type of service and primary geographical markets. Revenues recorded within these
categories are earned from similar products and services for which the nature of associated fees and the related revenue recognition models are
substantially similar.

The Company disaggregates revenue by two types of services: Marketplace revenue and Enterprise revenue.

The following table sets forth total revenue by type of service for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:
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(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Marketplace $ 662,108  $ 586,099  $ 518,282  

Enterprise 107,217  103,037  100,036  

Total revenue $ 769,325  $ 689,136  $ 618,318  

The following table sets forth total revenue by geographic area based on the billing address of talent and clients for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Talent:

United States $ 111,691  $ 95,833  $ 86,892  

Philippines 58,475  45,912  39,946  

India 56,897  49,487  45,817  

Rest of world 212,065  178,693  162,016  

Total talent 439,128  369,925  334,671  

Clients:

United States 238,786  236,744  210,582  

Rest of world 91,411  82,467  73,065  

Total clients 330,197  319,211  283,647  

Total $ 769,325  $ 689,136  $ 618,318  

 During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, no country included in the Rest-of-World category had revenue that exceeded 10% of
total talent revenue, total client revenue, or total revenue.

Deferred Revenue and Remaining Performance Obligation

Deferred revenue represents amounts billed in advance for services not yet rendered.

Deferred revenue expected to be recognized within the next twelve months is classified as current deferred revenue, while the remaining balance is
noncurrent.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s performance obligation from transaction price that has been allocated to unexercised material rights related to
the Company’s arrangements with talent subject to tiered service fees was immaterial and is expected to be recognized as revenue within the next twelve
months.

The Company has applied the practical expedients and exemptions and does not disclose the value of remaining performance obligations for (i) contracts
with an original expected length of one year or less; and (ii) contracts for which the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied
promise to transfer a distinct service that forms part of a single performance obligation under the series guidance.

Contract Balances

The following table provides information about the balances of the Company’s trade and client receivables, net of allowance and contract liabilities
included in deferred revenue and other liabilities, noncurrent as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Trade and client receivables, net of allowance $ 75,490  $ 103,061  

Contract liabilities

Deferred revenue 7,269  17,361  

Deferred revenue (component of other liabilities, noncurrent) —  790  

During 2024, changes in the contract liabilities balances were primarily the result of normal business activity, including the deferral, and subsequent
recognition, of revenue related to arrangements with talent subject to tiered service fees and related allocation of transaction price to material rights. The
significant change in deferred revenue in 2024 compared to the prior year was largely attributable to the Company’s transition away from the tiered
service

 (1)

 (1)

(1)
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fee structure to a flat fee structure, which impacted how transaction price was allocated and revenue was recognized.

Revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2024 that was included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2023 was $ 17.3  million.
Revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023 that was included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2022 was $ 25.1  million.

Note 4— Fair Value Measurements

The Company defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques
used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The authoritative guidance
describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

• Level I—Observable inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

• Level II—Observable inputs other than Level I prices, such as unadjusted quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and

• Level III—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
These inputs are based on the Company’s own assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value and require significant
management judgment or estimation.

The categorization of a financial instrument within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to its fair value
measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to
make judgments and consider factors specific to the assets or liabilities.

The Company’s financial instruments that are carried at fair value consist of Level I and Level II assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The following
tables summarize the Company’s available-for-sale marketable securities’ amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, and fair value
by significant investment category reported as cash and cash equivalents or marketable securities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

(In thousands)

December 31, 2024
Amortized

Cost
Unrealized

Gain
Unrealized

Loss
Fair

Value

Cash
Equivalents

Marketable
Securities

Level I

Money market funds $ 193,481  $ —  $ —  $ 193,481  $ 193,481  $ —  

Treasury bills 131,022  40  —  131,062  —  131,062  

U.S. government securities 32,625  22  ( 33 ) 32,614  —  32,614  

Total Level I 357,128  62  ( 33 ) 357,157  193,481  163,676  

Level II

Commercial paper 16,233  —  —  16,233  —  16,233  

Corporate bonds 126,395  431  ( 144 ) 126,682  —  126,682  

Commercial deposits 4,121  —  —  4,121  —  4,121  

Asset-backed securities 592  2  —  594  —  594  

Foreign government and agency
securities 5,036  14  ( 12 ) 5,038  —  5,038  

Total Level II 152,377  447  ( 156 ) 152,668  —  152,668  

Total $ 509,505  $ 509  $ ( 189 ) $ 509,825  $ 193,481  $ 316,344  
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(In thousands)

December 31, 2023
Amortized

Cost
Unrealized

Gain
Unrealized

Loss
Fair

Value

Cash
Equivalents

Marketable
Securities

Level I

Money market funds $ 4,782  $ —  $ —  $ 4,782  4,782  —  

Treasury bills 291,611  109  —  291,720  13,955  277,765  

U.S. government securities 26,213  3  ( 18 ) 26,198  —  26,198  

Total Level I 322,606  112  ( 18 ) 322,700  18,737  303,963  

Level II

Commercial paper 35,699  —  —  35,699  —  35,699  

Corporate bonds 92,979  189  ( 12 ) 93,156  —  93,156  

Commercial deposits 15,371  —  —  15,371  —  15,371  

Asset-backed securities 14,728  2  ( 42 ) 14,688  —  14,688  

Foreign government and agency
securities 3,075  5  —  3,080  —  3,080  

U.S. agency securities 4,506  —  ( 6 ) 4,500  —  4,500  

Total Level II 166,358  196  ( 60 ) 166,494  —  166,494  

Total $ 488,964  $ 308  $ ( 78 ) $ 489,194  $ 18,737  $ 470,457  

Additionally, the Company deposits funds held in escrow in interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing cash accounts. The interest earned on the interest-
bearing accounts is included in revenue in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). As of December 31,
2024 and 2023, the fair value of the Company’s funds held on behalf of customers and held in interest-bearing cash accounts was measured using Level
I inputs.

The Company’s non-financial assets acquired pursuant its acquisition of Objective AI, Inc., including intangible assets and goodwill, are measured at
estimated fair value on a non-recurring basis. For additional information, refer to “Note 7—Business Combination.”

The following table summarizes the remaining contractual maturities of our cash equivalents and marketable securities as of December 31, 2024:

(In thousands) Amortized Cost Fair Value

Due within one year $ 348,747  $ 348,792  

Due after one year through five years 160,758  161,033  

Total $ 509,505  $ 509,825  

Unrealized Investment Losses

The following table summarizes, for all debt securities classified as available for sale in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, the aggregate fair value and gross unrealized loss by the length of time those securities have been continuously in an unrealized
loss position.

(In thousands) Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total

Duration of unrealized losses

December 31, 2024 Fair Value Unrealized loss Fair Value Unrealized loss Fair Value Unrealized loss

U.S. government securities $ 12,522  $ ( 27 ) $ 4,122  $ ( 6 ) $ 16,644  $ ( 33 )

Corporate bonds 33,386  ( 142 ) 2,819  ( 2 ) 36,205  ( 144 )

Foreign government and agency securities 2,362  ( 12 ) —  —  2,362  ( 12 )

Total $ 48,270  $ ( 181 ) $ 6,941  $ ( 8 ) $ 55,211  $ ( 189 )
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(In thousands) Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total

Duration of unrealized losses

December 31, 2023 Fair Value Unrealized loss Fair Value Unrealized loss Fair Value Unrealized loss

U.S. government securities $ 15,381  $ ( 15 ) $ 5,182  $ ( 3 ) $ 20,563  $ ( 18 )

Corporate bonds 24,062  ( 10 ) 552  ( 2 ) 24,614  ( 12 )

Asset-backed securities 6,598  ( 20 ) 7,348  ( 22 ) 13,946  ( 42 )

U.S. agency securities 1,995  ( 1 ) 2,505  ( 5 ) 4,500  ( 6 )

Total $ 48,036  $ ( 46 ) $ 15,587  $ ( 32 ) $ 63,623  $ ( 78 )

For available-for-sale marketable debt securities with unrealized loss positions, the Company does not intend to sell these securities, nor does it
anticipate that it will need to or be required to sell the securities. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the decline in fair value of these securities was due
to increases in interest rates and not due to credit related factors. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company considered any decreases in market
value to be temporary in nature and did not consider any of the Company’s marketable securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired. The Company
did not record any impairment charges with respect to its marketable securities during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.

In March 2023, the Company sold $ 138.2  million of available-for-sale marketable securities to enable the Note Repurchases. For additional information
regarding the Notes, refer to “Note 10—Debt.”

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, interest income was $ 28.0 million, $ 24.4 million, and $ 7.9 million, respectively, and is
included in other income, net in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Note 5— Balance Sheet Components

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Internal-use software and platform development $ 59,815  $ 47,096  

Leasehold improvements 6,025  11,644  

Computer equipment and software 6,817  6,605  

Office furniture and fixtures 1,755  2,745  

Total property and equipment 74,412  68,090  

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 44,356 ) ( 40,950 )

Property and equipment, net $ 30,056  $ 27,140  

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment, excluding internal-use software and platform development, was $ 2.9 million, $ 2.9 million, and
$ 3.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

The Company capitalized $ 12.8 million, $ 13.8 million, and $ 7.5 million of internal-use software and platform development costs during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Amortization expense related to the capitalized internal-use software and platform development costs was $ 9.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2024, of which $ 8.6 million was included in cost of revenue related to developed technology used on the work marketplace. Amortization expense related
to the capitalized internal-use software and platform development costs was $ 6.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, of which $ 4.5 million
was included in cost of revenue related to developed technology used on the work marketplace. Amortization expense related to the capitalized internal-
use software and platform development costs was $ 4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, of which $ 2.7 million was included in cost of
revenue related to developed technology used on the work marketplace.
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Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Accrued compensation and related benefits $ 30,666  $ 25,872  

Accrued indirect taxes 11,394  13,171  

Accrued vendor expenses 9,485  8,844  

Accrued payment processing fees 4,478  2,090  

Operating lease liability, current 1,624  5,687  

Accrued talent costs 801  1,415  

Other 852  1,113  

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 59,300  $ 58,192  

Note 6— Leases

Operating Leases

The Company leases office space and certain equipment under various operating leases, with the vast majority of its lease portfolio consisting of
operating leases for office space. The Company has also entered into arrangements where it acts as a sublessor in its leases of office space. The
Company has not entered into any significant finance, sales-type, or direct financing leases.

The Company’s significant judgments include determining whether an arrangement is or contains a lease, the determination of the discount rate used to
calculate the lease liability, and whether or not lease incentives are reasonably certain to occur in the initial measurement of the lease liability. Operating
lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date and initially measured based on the present value of lease payments over the
defined lease term. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

A contract is or contains an embedded lease if the contract meets all of the below criteria:

• there is an identified asset;

• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefit of the asset; and

• the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

For initial measurement of the present value of lease payments and for subsequent measurement of lease modifications, the Company is required to use
the rate implicit in the lease. Since the majority of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate,
which is a collateralized rate. The application of the incremental borrowing rate is performed on a lease-by-lease basis and approximates the rate at
which the Company could borrow, on a secured basis for a similar term, an amount equal to its lease payments in a similar economic environment.

The Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of approximately four years to eight years . The Company includes lease payments associated with
renewal options in its operating lease asset and liability only when it becomes reasonably certain the company will exercise the renewal option. The
Company has not included renewal options for any of its operating leases in its determination of lease liabilities. The Company does not have lease
agreements with residual value guarantees, sale leaseback terms, or material restrictive covenants. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are
not recognized on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s operating lease assets and lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In thousands)

Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Classification 2024 2023

Assets

Operating—noncurrent Operating lease asset $ 5,752  $ 4,333  

Liabilities

Operating—current Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,624  5,687  

Operating—noncurrent Operating lease liability, noncurrent 9,567  6,088  

Total lease liabilities $ 11,191  $ 11,775  

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, operating lease cost, inclusive of variable lease charges, was $ 5.6  million, $ 6.3  million, and
$ 6.6  million, respectively, and sublease income recognized was approximately $ 1.7  million, $ 1.7  million, and $ 1.6  million, respectively. For the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, charges related to operating leases that are variable, and therefore not included in the measurement of the
lease liabilities, were $ 2.1  million, $ 2.2  million, and $ 2.2  million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the
Company made lease payments of $ 5.8  million, $ 6.8  million, and $ 6.6  million, respectively.

Palo Alto Office Lease

In June 2024, the Company entered into a new lease agreement to lease approximately 12,685 square feet of office space in Palo Alto, California, which
serves as the Company’s corporate headquarters. The lease commenced in September 2024 and rent payments for the premises will commence in
March 2025. The initial term of the lease is 91 months from the commencement date and is set to expire in September 2032, unless terminated earlier.
The Company has two options to extend the lease term, each for an additional three years , exercisable under certain conditions as specified in the lease
agreement. The Company evaluated these options as part of the lease accounting under ASC 842 and determined that the extension options are not
reasonably certain to be exercised. As such, the options have not been included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset or lease liability. As a result
of entering into this lease, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset and lease liability of $ 4.5  million and $ 4.4  million, respectively. Rent payments
under this lease are approximately $ 0.1  million per month and are recorded within general and administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The lease for the Company’s previous headquarters in San Francisco, California expired in
August 2024.

Santa Clara Sub-Sublease

In November 2023, the Company amended its sub-sublease agreement, originally executed in April 2021, to sublease the entirety of its former
headquarters in Santa Clara, California. The amended sub-sublease extends the term by an additional 51 months, through August 31, 2028, unless
terminated earlier. The amended sub-sublease term aligns substantially with the remaining term of the Company’s master lease. Rent payments under
the amended agreement approximate $ 0.1  million per month and are recorded within general and administrative expenses within the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Neither party has the option to renew or extend the sub-sublease agreement.

Under the amended sub-sublease agreement, the Company is not relieved of its original obligation with the master lessor, which expires on October 15,
2028. The Company determined that the sublease agreement constitutes an operating lease, consistent with the classification of the original sublease
agreement with the landlord.

Chicago Leases

In December 2024, as a result of the restructuring plan announced in October 2024, which the Company refers to as the Restructuring Plan, the
Company entered into an early termination agreement for the Chicago leases, effective December 31, 2024. The Company recognized approximately $
1.1  million in early termination costs, primarily consisting of remaining lease payments under the termination agreement. Operating lease costs for the
year ended December 31, 2024, including variable lease charges, reflect amounts incurred prior to the lease termination.
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Prior to the termination, the Company leased office space in Chicago, Illinois, consisting of the 11th and 16th floors of an office building, with both leases
originally scheduled to expire on April 30, 2025. Monthly rent payments for each floor were approximately $ 0.1  million.

The following table shows the Company’s future lease commitments due in each of the next five years for operating leases, which excludes amounts
received in the form of sublease income discussed above:

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, Leases

2025 $ 1,879  

2026 2,962  

2027 3,050  

2028 2,735  

2029 1,347  

Thereafter 3,918  

Total lease payments 15,891  

Adjustment for discount to present value ( 4,700 )

Total $ 11,191  

As of December 31, 2024, the weighted-average remaining lease term is  5.7 years. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the weighted-average
discount rate is 7.0 %.

Note 7— Business Combination

On November 20, 2024, the Company acquired Objective AI Inc., referred to as Objective AI, a search-as-a-service platform specializing in AI-native
search integration for digital experiences. The Company acquired 100 % of Objective AI’s outstanding equity for $ 19.1  million in cash consideration.
This strategic acquisition aims to enhance the Company’s platform by integrating advanced AI-native search capabilities and strengthen its AI and search
teams with specialized talent.

The acquisition of Objective AI was accounted for as a business combination under ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations. Accordingly, the total
purchase consideration was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,779  

Intangible assets 12,000  

Other net, tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed ( 512 )

Goodwill 2,845  

Total purchase consideration $ 19,112  

The excess purchase price over the net identifiable assets acquired was recorded as goodwill. The goodwill recognized from the acquisition is primarily
attributable to the assembled workforce associated with Objective AI, that cannot be individually identified and separately recognized as intangible asset.
Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

The Company engaged an independent third-party valuation specialist to assist in the determination of the fair value of intangible assets acquired. All key
estimates, assumptions, and forecasts, were either provided by, or reviewed by management. While the third-party specialist provided significant input
into the valuation, the final conclusions reflect the judgment of management. The fair value measurements of the intangible assets were based primarily
on significant unobservable inputs and this represents a Level 3 measurement.

The estimated useful lives and fair value of the identifiable intangible assets at acquisition date were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Fair Value Expected Useful life

Developed technology $ 11,000  3 years

Customer relationships $ 1,000  6 months
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The Company considers the valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be final. Management does not anticipate any material
adjustments to these allocations .

Note 8— Goodwill and Net Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The following table summarizes the change in the carrying value amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 118,219  

Increase in goodwill related to business combination 2,845  

Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 121,064  

Net Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets include identifiable, finite-lived intangible assets including developed technology and customer relationships, acquired
as part of the Objective AI acquisition, and an assembled workforce, acquired as part of an asset acquisition in November 2023.

The following table summarizes the components of net intangible assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Developed
technology $

11,000
 $ 305  $

10,695
 $ —  $ —  $ —  

Assembled
workforce 3,188  1,727  1,461  3,180  132  3,048  

Customer
relationships 1,000  167  833  —  —  —  

Total $
15,188

 $ 2,199  $
12,989

 $3,180  $ 132  $3,048  

For the year ended December 31, 2024, amortization expense of intangible assets was $ 2.1  million, which includes the amortization expense of
intangible assets acquired in the Objective AI acquisition. For the year ended December 31 2023, amortization expense of intangible assets was
immaterial . For the year ended December 31, 2022, there was no amortization expense.

As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average amortization periods for the finite-lived intangible assets are as follows:

Developed technology 2.9 years

Assembled workforce 0.9 years

Customer relationships 0.4 years

As of December 31, 2024, the estimated annual amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets over the remaining useful life is as follows (in
thousands):

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

Estimated
Amortization

Expense

2025 $ 5,961  

2026 3,667  

2027 3,361  

Total 12,989  

77



UPWORK INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Continued

Note 9— Commitments and Contingencies

Letters of Credit

In conjunction with the Company’s operating lease agreements, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had irrevocable letters of credit
outstanding in the aggregate amount of $ 0.6 million and $ 0.8 million, respectively. The letters of credit are collateralized by restricted cash in the same
amount. No amounts had been drawn against these letters of credit as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Contingencies

The Company accrues contingent liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably
estimated. Potential contingencies may include various claims and litigation or non-income tax matters that arise from time to time in the normal course of
business. Due to uncertainties inherent in such contingencies, the Company can give no assurance that it will prevail in any such matters, which could
subject the Company to significant liability or damages. Any claims, litigation, or other contingencies could have an adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows in or following the period that claims, litigation or other contingencies are resolved.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company was not a party to any material legal proceedings or claims, nor is the Company aware of any pending
or threatened litigation or claims, including non-income tax matters, that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on its business,
operating results, cash flows, or financial condition. Accordingly, the amounts accrued for contingencies for which the Company believes a loss is
probable were not material as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Indemnification

The Company has indemnification agreements with its officers, directors, and certain key employees to indemnify them while they are serving in good
faith in their respective positions. In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contractual arrangements under which it agrees to provide
indemnification of varying scope and terms to clients, business partners, vendors, and other parties, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of the
Company’s breach of such agreements, claims related to potential data or information security breaches, intellectual property infringement claims made
by third parties, and other liabilities relating to or arising from the Company’s products and services or its acts or omissions. In addition, subject to the
terms of the applicable agreement, as part of the Company’s Enterprise Solutions and certain other premium offerings, the Company indemnifies clients
that subscribe to worker classification services for losses arising from worker misclassification. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential loss
under these indemnification provisions due to the Company’s limited history of prior indemnification claims and the facts and circumstances involved in
each particular provision.
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Note 10— Debt

The following table presents the carrying value of the Company’s debt obligations as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Convertible senior notes—interest accrues from August 2021 and is payable semiannually in arrears on
February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning February 2022, maturing August 2026; interest at 0.25 %
per annum

$ 360,998  $ 360,998  

Total debt 360,998  360,998  

Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs ( 3,070 ) ( 4,911 )

Debt, noncurrent $ 357,928  $ 356,087  

Weighted-average interest rate 0.76  % 0.77  %

Convertible Senior Notes Due 2026

In August 2021, the Company issued 0.25 % convertible senior notes due 2026. The Notes were issued pursuant to and are subject to the terms and
conditions of an indenture between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, National Association (as successor in interest to Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association), as trustee, which is referred to as the Indenture. The Notes were offered and sold in a private offering to qualified institutional
buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In March 2023, the Company entered into separate, privately negotiated repurchase agreements with a limited number of institutional holders of the
Notes to effect the Note Repurchases, resulting in the repurchase of $ 214.0  million aggregate principal amount of the Notes for an aggregate cash
payment of $ 170.8  million. As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized a gain on the early extinguishment of debt
of $ 38.9  million, which is net of $ 3.7  million related to the pro-rata write-off of unamortized issuance costs associated with the sale of the Notes in
August 2021, and $ 0.6  million of other fees incurred to effect the Note Repurchases. The resulting gain on early extinguishment of debt is included in
other income, net in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). As of each of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
$ 361.0  million aggregate principal amount of the Notes remained outstanding.

The Notes are senior, unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a rate of 0.25 % per year. Interest will accrue from August 10, 2021 and
is payable semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning on February 15, 2022, and the principal amount of the Notes
will not accrete. The Notes will mature on August 15, 2026, unless earlier redeemed, repurchased, or converted in accordance with the terms of the
Notes.

Holders may convert all or any portion of their Notes, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount at the option of the holder (i) on or after May 15, 2026, at any
time until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, and (ii) prior to the close of business on
the business day immediately preceding May 15, 2026, only upon satisfaction of certain conditions and during certain periods specified as follows:

• during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2021, if the last reported sale price of the
Company’s common stock is greater than or equal to 130 % of the conversion price for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive)
during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter of the
conversion price on each applicable trading day;

• during the five consecutive business day period after any five consecutive trading day period, which is referred to as the Measurement Period, in
which the trading price (as defined in the Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of Notes for each trading day of the Measurement Period was
less than 98 % of the product of the last reported sale price per share of the Company’s common stock on such trading day and the conversion
rate on such trading day;

• if the Company calls such Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately
preceding the redemption date; and

• upon the occurrence of specified corporate events described in the Indenture.

Upon conversion, the Notes may be settled in shares of the Company’s common stock, cash or a combination of cash and shares of the common stock,
at the election of the Company. The Notes have an initial conversion rate of 15.1338 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Notes,
which is subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. This is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $ 66.08 per share of the
Company’s
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common stock. The conversion rate is subject to customary adjustments under certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. In
addition, if certain corporate events that constitute a make-whole fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture) occur or if the Company issues a
notice of redemption with respect to the Notes prior to the maturity date, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for a
specified period of time.

The Company may redeem for cash all or any portion of the Notes (subject to a partial redemption limitation), at the Company’s option, on or after August
20, 2024, if the last reported sale price per share of the Company’s common stock has been at least 130 % of the conversion price then in effect for at
least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading day period (including the last trading day of such period) ending on,
and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption at a redemption price equal to 100 %
of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. No sinking fund
is provided for the Notes, which means that the Company is not required to redeem or retire the Notes periodically.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture), subject to certain conditions, holders have the right to require the Company
to repurchase for cash all or a portion of their Notes at a price equal to 100 % of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus any accrued
and unpaid interest thereon, if any, until, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.

The Notes are the Company’s senior unsecured obligations and rank senior in right of payment to any of the Company’s existing and future indebtedness
that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes; equal in right of payment to any of the Company’s existing and future unsecured
indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of the Company’s existing and future secured indebtedness to the
extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including
trade payables) of the Company’s subsidiaries.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, interest expense was $ 0.9  million and amortization of the issuance costs was $ 1.8  million related to the Notes.
For the year ended December 31, 2023, interest expense was $ 1.0  million and amortization of the issuance costs was $ 2.1  million related to the
Notes. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the if-converted value of the Notes did not exceed the outstanding principal amount. As of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the total estimated fair value of the Notes was $ 333.5  million and $ 307.3  million, respectively, and was
determined based on a market approach using actual bids and offers of the Notes in an over-the-counter market on the last trading day of the period. The
Company considers these assumptions to be Level II inputs in accordance with the fair value hierarchy described in “Note 4—Fair Value Measurements.”

Capped Calls

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions, which are referred to as the
Capped Calls, with various financial institutions.

Subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the Notes, the Capped Calls cover the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock initially underlying the Notes. By entering into the Capped Calls, the Company expects to reduce the potential dilution to its
common stock (or, in the event a conversion of the Notes is settled in cash, to reduce its cash payment obligation) in the event that at the time of
conversion of the Notes its common stock price per share exceeds the conversion price of the Notes, with such reduction subject to a cap based on the
cap price. If, however, the market price per share of common stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Calls, exceeds the cap price of the
Capped Calls, there would be dilution and/or there would not be an offset of such potential cash payments, in each case, to the extent that the then-
market price per share of common stock exceeds the cap price of the Capped Calls. The initial cap price of the Capped Calls is $ 92.74 per share of
common stock, which represents a premium of 100 % over the last reported sale price of the common stock of $ 46.37 per share on August 5, 2021, the
date of issuance of the Notes, and is subject to certain customary adjustments under the terms of the Capped Calls; provided that the cap price will not
be reduced to an amount less than the strike price of $ 66.08 per share.

The Capped Calls are separate transactions and are not part of the terms of the Notes. The Capped Calls meet the criteria for classification as equity and,
as such, are not remeasured each reporting period and are included as a reduction to additional paid-in-capital within stockholders’ equity.

Note 11— Preferred and Common Stock

Preferred Stock
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As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company was authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, $ 0.0001 par value
per share. The Company did not have any outstanding shares of preferred stock as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Common Stock

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share and are entitled to receive dividends, if any, on a pro rata basis whenever funds are legally
available and when, as, and if declared by the Company’s board of directors.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company was authorized to issue 490,000,000 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
the Company had reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:

2024 2023

Options issued and outstanding 2,392,899  3,260,914  

RSUs and PSUs issued and outstanding 8,841,716  10,348,892  

Warrant to purchase common stock 233,000  300,000  

Remaining shares reserved for future issuances under 2018 Equity Incentive Plan 27,152,973  23,342,093  

Remaining shares reserved for future issuances under 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 4,694,949  4,254,293  

Common stock issuable in connection with convertible senior notes 5,463,045  5,463,045  

Total 48,778,582  46,969,237  

Share Repurchase Program

In November 2023, the Company’s board of directors authorized a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $ 100.0  million of shares of the
Company’s outstanding common stock, which is referred to as the 2023 Share Repurchase Authorization. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company repurchased and subsequently retired 8 .1  million shares of its common stock under the 2023 Share Repurchase Authorization for an
aggregate amount of $ 100.0  million at an average price of $ 12.38 per share, including fees associated with the repurchases and excluding excise tax.
As of December 31, 2024, the Company had no remaining balance available for repurchases under the 2023 Share Repurchase Authorization.

In October 2024, the Company’s board of directors authorized a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $ 100.0  million of shares of the
Company’s outstanding common stock, which is referred to as the 2024 Repurchase Authorization. The Company did not repurchase any shares under
the 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $ 100.0 million available for repurchases under the 2024 Share
Repurchase Authorization.

As was the case with the 2023 Share Repurchase Authorization, repurchases of the Company’s common stock under the 2024 Share Repurchase
Authorization may be made from time to time on the open market (including through the use of trading plans intended to qualify under Rule 10b5-1 under
the Exchange Act), in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the Company’s discretion, and in accordance with applicable securities
laws and other restrictions. The 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization has no expiration date and will continue until otherwise suspended, terminated, or
modified at any time for any reason. The 2024 Share Repurchase Authorization does not obligate the Company to repurchase any dollar amount or
number of shares, and the timing and amount of any repurchases will depend on market and business conditions.

Common Stock Warrant

In 2018, the Company established The Upwork Foundation initiative. The program includes a donor-advised fund created through the Tides Foundation.
In 2018, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 500,000 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $ 0.01 per share to the Tides Foundation,
which is referred to as the Tides Foundation Warrant. The vesting and exercisability provisions of the warrant became effective upon the Company’s initial
public offering, which is referred to as the IPO, in October 2018. This warrant is exercisable as to 1/10th of the shares on each anniversary of the IPO,
with proceeds from the sale of such shares to be donated in accordance with the Company’s directive.

In 2024, the holder of the warrant exercised 67,000 of the then-vested and exercisable shares. In 2023, this warrant was exercised as to all 50,000 of the
then-vested and exercisable shares. The holder of the warrant did no t exercise in 2022. In lieu of a cash payment, the holder of the warrant surrendered
shares of common stock to cover the

81



UPWORK INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Continued

exercise price. In each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company recorded $ 0.8 million of expense related to this warrant,
which is included in general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Note 12— Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

2014 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2014, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders each adopted the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, which is referred to as the 2014 EIP. The total
number of shares of common stock reserved and available for grant and issuance pursuant to such plan was originally 12,462,985 plus (i) shares that
were then subject to outstanding option grants under the oDesk Corporation 2004 Stock Plan, the Elance 1999 Stock Option Plan, and the Elance 2009
Stock Option Plan, which are referred to collectively as the Prior Plans, but subsequently ceased to be subject to an award for any reason other than
exercise of a stock option, (ii) shares that had been reserved but not subject to any outstanding awards under the Prior Plans and (iii) shares issued
under the Prior Plans that were repurchased, forfeited, or used to pay employee withholding or exercise price obligations. Under the terms of the 2014
EIP, incentive stock options could be granted at prices not less than 100 % of the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant unless
determined in writing by the Company’s board of directors. The options granted under the 2014 EIP generally vest over a four-year period from the
original date of grant and expire ten years from the original grant date. As of 2024, no further awards may be granted under the 2014 EIP.

2018 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2018, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders each adopted the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, which is referred to as the 2018 EIP, which
became effective on the date immediately prior to the date of the IPO. A total of 10,701,505 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance
pursuant to future awards under the 2018 EIP. On January 1 of each year through 2028, shares available for issuance are increased based on the
provisions of the 2018 EIP. Any shares subject to outstanding awards under the 2014 EIP that are canceled or repurchased subsequent to the 2018 EIP’s
effective date are returned to the pool of shares reserved for issuance under the 2018 EIP. Awards granted under the 2018 EIP may be (i) incentive stock
options, (ii) nonqualified stock options, (iii) RSUs, (iv) restricted stock awards, or (v) stock appreciation rights, as determined by the Company’s board of
directors or compensation committee at the time of grant.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2018 EIP, the number of shares available for grant was increased by 6,863,637 shares in January 2024.

Option Awards

The fair value of options with service- and performance-based conditions is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model as of the grant date
using the following assumptions:

Dividend Yield—The dividend yield is assumed to be zero as the Company has never paid dividends and has no current plans to do so.

Expected Term—The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. For awards
containing only service conditions, the Company determines the expected term using the simplified method as the Company did not have sufficient
historical information to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and post-vesting employment termination behavior at the time of
grant. The simplified method deems the term to be the average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the options. For performance-based
awards, the Company uses relevant data, including past exercise patterns, if available, to determine the expected term.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free interest rate is based on the United States Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for zero-coupon U.S.
Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the option’s expected term.

Expected Volatility—Since the Company did not have a sufficient trading history of its common stock at the time of grant, the expected volatility is derived
from the average historical stock volatilities of several unrelated public companies within the Company’s industry that the Company considers to be
comparable to its business over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock option grants.

Fair Value of Common Stock—Given the absence of a public trading market prior to the IPO, the Company’s board of directors considered numerous
objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of its common stock at
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each grant date. These factors included, but were not limited to: (i) independent contemporaneous third-party valuations of common stock; (ii) the prices
for the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock sold to outside investors; (iii) the rights and preferences of redeemable convertible preferred
stock relative to common stock; (iv) the lack of marketability of its common stock; (v) developments in the business; and (vi) the likelihood of achieving a
liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given prevailing market conditions. Subsequent to the IPO, the fair value of
common stock is based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock, as reported on The Nasdaq Global Select Market on the date of grant.

The following table summarizes activity under the Company’s stock option plans:

Number of Shares
Underlying

Outstanding Options

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contractual

Term (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Balances at December 31, 2023 3,260,914  $ 20.15  4.86 $ 18,684  

Exercised ( 868,015 ) 3.79  

Balances at December 31, 2024 2,392,899  26.08  4.75 10,391  

Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2024 892,899  4.71  2.57 10,391  

Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2024 2,392,899  26.08  4.75 10,391  

In 2021, the compensation committee of the Company’s board of directors approved a stock option grant, which is referred to as the CEO Award,
exercisable for up to 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Hayden Brown, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, under
the 2018 EIP. The CEO Award is subject to a service-based vesting requirement, which is referred to as the Service Condition, and a performance-based
vesting requirement, which is referred to as the Market Condition. In order for any shares subject to the CEO Award to be exercisable, both the Service
Condition and the Market Condition must be satisfied with respect to such shares. The CEO Award vests with respect to the Service Condition in sixteen
equal quarterly installments following the grant date, subject to Ms. Brown’s continuous service to the Company as Chief Executive Officer, Executive
Chairperson, or any C-level officer position. The CEO Award vests with respect to the Market Condition upon the achievement of certain volume
weighted-average common stock price targets measured over any consecutive 90-day period between the grant date and April 18, 2026. The 90-day
volume weighted-average common stock price targets, and
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the number of shares of the CEO Award that become vested with respect to the Market Condition upon the achievement of each such target, are reflected
in the following table:

Stock Price Number of Shares Vested

$ 60 100,000

$ 70 200,000

$ 80 300,000

$ 90 400,000

$ 100 500,000

As of December 31, 2024, none of the Market Condition stock price thresholds had been met, and no shares subject to the CEO Award had been earned
or vested.

Stock-based compensation expense associated with the CEO Award will be recognized over the longer of the expected achievement period for the
Market Condition and the Service Condition. The Market Condition period and the valuation of each tranche of the CEO Award were determined using a
Monte Carlo simulation. In the event the Market Condition is met prior to the expected achievement period, any then-unrecognized compensation
expense associated with the shares that have vested with respect to both the Market Condition and the Service Condition will be recognized immediately
in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the
Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to the CEO Award of $ 1.3  million, $ 5.1  million, and $ 11.0  million, respectively. Stock-
based compensation expense for the CEO Award is recorded as a component of general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

The Company estimates the expected term based on a future exercise assumption. The weighted-average derived service period for the CEO Award is
2.1 years. The risk-free interest rate is based on the United States Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for zero-coupon U.S. Treasury notes.
The expected volatility is derived from the average historical stock volatility of the Company over a period equivalent to the expected term of the CEO
Award. The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the CEO Award:

Dividend yield —  %

Risk-free interest rates 1.7  %

Expected volatility 65  %

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the intrinsic value of options exercised was $ 8.0 million, $ 5.4 million, and $ 6.6 million,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price of the options and the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on The Nasdaq Global Select Market on the day prior to the date of exercise.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $ 19.19 . The Company did not grant any
stock option awards during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. As of December 31, 2024, total unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense is immaterial and will be recognized over a brief period.

RSU and PSU Awards

The following table summarizes the RSU and PSU activity and related information under the 2018 EIP:

Number
Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested balance - January 1, 2024 10,348,892  $ 15.15  

Granted 7,381,550  11.94  

Vested ( 4,559,933 ) 15.36  

Forfeited/canceled ( 4,328,793 ) 13.86  

Unvested balance - December 31, 2024 8,841,716  $ 12.99  

RSUs. The fair value of RSUs awarded to employees is determined based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock, as reported on The
Nasdaq Global Select Market on the date of grant. For the years ended
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December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted was $ 11.90 , $ 11.73 , and $ 19.66 , respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the fair value of RSUs vested was $ 66.2  million, $ 61.9  million, and $ 57.4  million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $ 86.2 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding
RSUs to employees that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.

PSUs. In March 2024, the compensation committee of the Company’s board of directors, which is referred to as the compensation committee, approved
the grant of PSU awards to certain members of the Company’s leadership team under the 2018 EIP, which are referred to as the 2024 PSU Awards.
These awards were granted on March 18, 2024, which is referred to as the 2024 PSU Grant Date.

Up to fifty percent of the total number of shares subject to the 2024 PSU Awards are eligible to vest based on the Company’s achievement of certain
financial performance targets in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025 and up to the remaining fifty percent of the total number of shares subject to
the 2024 PSU Awards are eligible to vest based on the Company’s achievement of certain financial performance targets in the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2026. For each year, the financial performance targets consist of year-over-year revenue growth and adjusted EBITDA margin targets that
were established by the compensation committee at the time of grant, which is referred to as the 2024 PSU Performance Condition. In order to receive the
vested PSUs, a recipient must remain in continuous service with the Company until the compensation committee certifies the achievement of the 2024
PSU Performance Condition for the applicable year, which is referred to as the 2024 PSU Service Condition. The dates on which such certification takes
place are referred to as Certification Dates.

The Company classifies the 2024 PSU Awards as equity awards. Stock-based compensation expense related to the 2024 PSU Awards is a component of
operating expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and is recognized over the longer of the
expected achievement period for the 2024 PSU Performance Condition and the 2024 PSU Service Condition, which is 23 months and 35 months for the
shares eligible to vest under the 2024 PSU Awards based on performance in each of the years ending December 31, 2025 and 2026, respectively. The
grant date fair value of the 2024 PSU Awards was determined using the Company’s closing common stock price on the 2024 PSU Grant Date multiplied
by the number of 2024 PSU Awards that were probable of vesting on the 2024 PSU Grant Date. At each reporting date prior to the Certification Dates,
the number of 2024 PSU Awards that are probable of vesting will be reassessed and any changes are reflected in stock-based compensation expense for
the period.

In 2023, the compensation committee approved PSU grants to certain members of the Company’s leadership team under the 2018 EIP, which are
referred to as the 2023 PSU Awards. These awards were granted on February 18, 2023, which is referred to as the 2023 PSU Grant Date. The number of
shares subject to the 2023 PSU Awards that were earned by the recipients, which are referred to as 2023 Earned PSUs, was determined based on the
Company’s revenue achievement during the year ended December 31, 2023, which is referred to as the 2023 PSU Performance Condition. Pursuant to
the 2023 PSU Performance Condition, the 2023 Earned PSUs are subject to a time-based vesting requirement conditioned on the recipient of the 2023
PSU Award continuing to provide service to the Company for four years from the 2023 PSU Grant Date, which is referred to as the 2023 PSU Service
Condition. The 2023 Earned PSUs will vest with respect to 25 % of the 2023 Earned PSUs on the one-year anniversary of the 2023 PSU Grant Date and
1/16th of the 2023 Earned PSUs on a quarterly basis thereafter.

Stock-based compensation expense associated with the 2023 PSU Awards is a component of operating expenses in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and will be recognized over the longer of the expected achievement period for the 2023 PSU
Performance Condition and the 2023 PSU Service Condition. The grant date fair value of the 2023 PSU Awards was determined using the Company’s
closing common stock price on the 2023 PSU Grant Date multiplied by the number of PSUs that were probable of being earned on the 2023 PSU Grant
Date. At each interim reporting date prior to the date on which the compensation committee certified the 2023 PSU Performance Condition, the number
of PSUs that were probable of being earned was reassessed and any changes were reflected in the total stock-based compensation expense associated
with the 2023 PSU Awards.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the weighted-average grant-date fair value of PSUs granted was $ 12.06 , $ 11.72 , and $
24.49 , respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to
PSUs of $ 3.1  million, $ 2.4  million, and $ 4.4  million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, unrecognized stock-based compensation cost was $ 5.5
 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.
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2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2018, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders each adopted the 2018 ESPP. A total of 1,700,000 shares of common stock was initially
reserved for issuance under the 2018 ESPP. On January 1 of each year, shares available for issuance are increased based on the provisions of the 2018
ESPP, up to an aggregate maximum of 20,400,000 shares issued under the 2018 ESPP, subject to adjustment for certain company capital changes. The
2018 ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a discount of up to 15 % through payroll deductions of their
eligible compensation, subject to any plan limitations. Except for the initial offering period, the 2018 ESPP provides for 24-month offering periods
beginning November 15 and May 15 of each year, and each offering period consists of four 6-month purchase periods. Pursuant to the terms of the 2018
ESPP, in January 2024, the number of shares of common stock available for issuance was increased by 1,098,182 shares.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the assumptions used to determine the fair value of the shares to be awarded was estimated
on the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions:

2024 2023 2022

Dividend yield —  % —  % —  %

Expected term (in years) 0.5 - 2.0 0.5 - 2.0 0.5 - 2.0

Risk-free interest rates 4.3 % - 5.4 % 4.0 % - 5.4 % 1.5 % - 4.6 %

Expected volatility 44 % - 64 % 58 % - 74 % 68 % - 76 %

On each purchase date, eligible employees may purchase the Company’s common stock at a price per share equal to 85 % of the lesser of (1) the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock on the offering date or (2) the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the purchase date. In
the event the price is lower on the last day of any purchase period, that price is used as the purchase price for that purchase period.

Additionally, in the event the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the first day of a subsequent offering period is less than the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock on the offering date of the current offering period, the offering period resets, and the new lower price
becomes the new offering price for a new 24 month offering period. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company issued 657,526 shares of
common stock under the 2018 ESPP.

As of December 31, 2024, there was $ 1.5 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense that is expected to be recognized over the
remaining term of the respective offering periods.

Stock-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes the components of stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Cost of revenue $ 1,586  $ 1,900  $ 1,356  

Research and development 29,923  28,006  26,881  

Sales and marketing 11,670  14,030  11,511  

General and administrative 25,212  30,259  35,753  

Total $ 68,391  $ 74,195  $ 75,501  

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded $ 12.8 million of tax benefit on total stock-based compensation expense, which is
reflected in the benefit from income taxes in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Tax benefits on total stock-
based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were not material.

Stock-Based Compensation to Employees

Stock-based compensation expense related to employees for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $ 1.3 million, $ 66.2 million, and $ 2.6 million
related to stock options, RSU and PSU grants, and the 2018 ESPP, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense related to employees for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was $ 5.1 million, $ 65.1 million, and $ 5.0 million related to stock options, RSU and PSU grants, and the 2018 ESPP,
respectively.
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Stock-based compensation expense related to employees for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $ 11.4 million, $ 59.7 million, and $ 4.5 million
related to stock options, RSUs, and the 2018 ESPP, respectively.

Note 13— Net Income (Loss) per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022:

 (In thousands, except share and per share data) 2024 2023 2022

Numerator:

Basic: net income (loss) $ 215,586  $ 46,887  $ ( 89,885 )

Gain on early extinguishment of debt, net of tax —  ( 38,525 ) —  

Interest expense related to convertible senior notes, net of tax 2,239  389  —  

Diluted: net income (loss) $ 217,825  $ 8,751  $ ( 89,885 )

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used to compute net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted

Basic 133,620,612 134,774,189 130,517,920

Options to purchase common stock 1,211,092  1,401,107  —  

Common stock issuable upon vesting of restricted stock units and performance
stock units 2,437,873  —  —  

Common stock issuable upon exercise of common stock warrants 232,813  299,741  —  

Common stock issuable in connection with employee stock purchase plan 186,594  16,270  —  

Common stock issuable in connection with convertible senior notes 5,463,045  771,923  —  

Diluted 143,152,029  137,263,230  130,517,920  

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ 1.61  $ 0.35  $ ( 0.69 )

Diluted $ 1.52  $ 0.06  $ ( 0.69 )

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the following potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net
income (loss) per share because including them would have been anti-dilutive:

2024 2023 2022

Options to purchase common stock 1,500,000  1,859,807  3,851,647  

Common stock issuable upon exercise of common stock warrants —  —  350,000  

Common stock issuable upon vesting of RSUs and PSUs 6,403,843  10,348,892  7,913,985  

Common stock issuable in connection with employee stock purchase plan 557,444  1,110,018  1,781,469  

Common stock issuable in connection with convertible senior notes —  5,463,045  8,701,935  

Total 8,461,287  18,781,762  22,599,036  
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Note 14— Income Taxes

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, income (loss) before income taxes consisted of the following:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Domestic $ 89,556  $ 48,662  $ ( 89,440 )

Foreign 871  215  91  

Total income (loss) before income taxes $ 90,427  $ 48,877  $ ( 89,349 )

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the components of the income tax provision were as follows:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Current:

Federal $ ( 1,394 ) $ ( 978 ) $ —  

State ( 2,593 ) ( 902 ) ( 494 )

Foreign ( 112 ) ( 110 ) ( 42 )

Total current $ ( 4,099 ) $ ( 1,990 ) $ ( 536 )

Deferred:

Federal $ 110,923  $ —  $ —  

State 18,335  —  —  

Foreign —  —  —  

Total deferred $ 129,258  $ —  $ —  

Income tax benefit (provision) $ 125,159  $ ( 1,990 ) $ ( 536 )

The Company had an effective tax rate of ( 138.41 )%, 4.07 %, and ( 0.60 )% for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The
reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were
as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Tax at federal statutory rate 21.00   % 21.00   % 21.00   %

State tax, net of federal benefit 2.03  1.42  ( 0.38 )

Stock-based compensation 1.63  10.85  ( 4.02 )

Officer’s compensation limitation 1.23  6.81  ( 1.51 )

Foreign-derived intangible income benefit ( 3.76 ) ( 5.56 ) —  

Other items 0.16  ( 0.79 ) ( 0.60 )

Research and development credits ( 5.50 ) ( 9.43 ) 4.36  

Net operating loss expiration —  9.91  —  

Change in valuation allowance ( 155.20 ) ( 30.14 ) ( 19.45 )

Effective tax rate ( 138.41 ) % 4.07   % ( 0.60 ) %
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Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the significant components of the Company’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities were as follows:

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 10,799  $ 44,562  

Stock-based compensation 8,056  8,766  

Operating lease liability 2,561  2,708  

Accrued liabilities, reserves and other 7,080  9,797  

Capitalized research and development 78,606  50,396  

Tax Credits 25,882  25,609  

Gross deferred tax assets 132,984  141,838  

Valuation allowance —  ( 140,339 )

Total deferred tax assets 132,984  1,499  

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid expenses ( 250 ) ( 502 )

Operating lease asset ( 1,316 ) ( 997 )

Acquired intangibles ( 2,639 ) —  

Total deferred tax liabilities ( 4,205 ) ( 1,499 )

Net deferred tax assets $ 128,779  $ —  

The change in valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was as follows for the periods presented:

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
Balance at

Beginning of Year

Additions Charged
to

Costs & Expenses
Additions Charged
to Other Accounts Deductions

Balance at End of
Year

2024 $ 140,339  $ ( 140,339 ) $ —  $ —  $ —  

2023 157,353  ( 16,262 ) ( 752 ) —  140,339  

2022 132,162  24,489  702  —  157,353  

The Company has released the valuation allowance of $ 140.3 million as of December 31, 2024. This release reflects the Company’s determination that it
is more likely than not that its U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets will be realized. As a result, the income tax benefit for the year was primarily
attributable to the release of this valuation allowance. Previously, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance of $ 140.3 million as of December 31,
2023.

The Company regularly evaluates the realizability of its deferred tax assets and establishes a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that
some or all of its deferred tax assets will not be realized. This assessment considers all available positive and negative evidence, including cumulative
pre-tax income, anticipated future earnings, and the impact of permanent differences and other comprehensive losses. As of December 31, 2024, the
Company achieved cumulative U.S. pre-tax income during the prior three years, adjusted for permanent differences and other comprehensive losses,
which provided objective and verifiable evidence supporting the release of the valuation allowance. This sustained profitability, combined with anticipated
future taxable income, led the Company to conclude, based on the weight of all available evidence, that it is more likely than not that its U.S. federal and
state deferred tax assets will be realized.

The Company has federal net operating loss, which is referred to as NOL, carryforwards of approximately $ 18.9 million and $ 181.2 million as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The federal NOL carryforwards of $ 18.9  million generated after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward
indefinitely with utilization in any year limited to 80% of the Company’s taxable income. The Company has California NOL carryforwards of approximately
$ 91.0 million and $ 81.3 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. California NOLs will begin to expire in 2032 if not utilized.
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The Company has federal research and development credits of approximately $ 31.1 million and $ 29.1 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The federal research and development credits will begin to expire in 2038 if not utilized. The Company has California research and
development credits of approximately $ 16.7 million and $ 16.6 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. California research and
development credits have an infinite carryforward period.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 and similar California legislation impose substantial restrictions on the utilization of NOLs and tax credit carryforwards in the
event that there is a change in ownership as provided by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue code and similar state provisions. Such a limitation could
result in the expiration of the NOL carryforwards and tax credits before utilization, which could result in increased future tax liabilities.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $ 20.0 million, which would impact the Company’s effective tax
rate, if recognized.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the activity related to the unrecognized tax benefits were as follows:

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Gross unrecognized tax benefits—beginning balance $ 18,157  $ 16,573  $ 15,391  

Increase related to tax positions taken during prior year 112  342  1,234  

Decrease related to tax positions taken during prior year ( 19 ) ( 21 ) ( 1,253 )

Increase related to tax positions taken during current year 1,716  1,263  1,354  

Decrease related to expiration of unrecognized tax benefit —  —  ( 153 )

Gross unrecognized tax benefits—ending balance $ 19,966  $ 18,157  $ 16,573  

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. To the extent accrued interest and penalties do
not ultimately become payable, amounts accrued will be reduced and reflected as a reduction of the provision for income taxes in the period that such
determination is made. As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not currently recognize any penalties or interest charges relating to uncertain tax
positions. The Company does not anticipate the recorded reserves to change significantly in the next 12 months.

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various other state and foreign jurisdictions. Due to certain tax attribute carryforwards, the tax
years 2001 to 2023 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions in which the Company is subject to tax. As of December 31, 2024, the
Company was not under examination by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company is subject to ongoing audits by state and foreign tax authorities.

Note 15— Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly provided to the
CODM in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the
Company’s CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating
resources, and evaluating financial performance. For information about how the Company derives revenue, as well as the Company’s accounting policies,
refer to “Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

The CODM uses consolidated net income (loss) to assess performance, evaluate cost optimization, and allocate resources, including personnel-related
and financial or capital resources, in the annual budget and forecasting process, as well as budget-to-actual variances on a monthly basis. As such, the
Company has determined that it operates as one operating and reportable segment.

The following tables set forth significant expense categories and other specified amounts included in consolidated net income (loss) that are otherwise
regularly provided to the CODM for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:
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2024 2023 2022

Revenue $ 769,325  $ 689,136  $ 618,318  

Cost of revenue 163,560  164,088  156,240  

Research and development 167,211  146,442  121,813  

Sales and marketing 166,331  206,614  235,106  

General and administrative 97,903  85,881  84,035  

Provision for transaction losses 6,728  12,977  25,153  

Stock-based compensation expense 68,391  74,195  75,501  

Depreciation and amortization 14,813  9,449  8,057  

Interest income ( 27,963 ) ( 24,424 ) ( 7,917 )

Interest expense 2,761  3,218  4,482  

Gain on early extinguishment of convertible senior notes —  ( 38,945 ) —  

Restructuring charges 18,433  —  —  

Income tax (benefit) provision ( 125,159 ) 1,990  536  

Other segment items 730  764  5,197  

Segment net income (loss) $ 215,586  $ 46,887  $ ( 89,885 )

GAAP net income (loss) $ 215,586  $ 46,887  $ ( 89,885 )

 Years 2024, 2023, and 2022 exclude stock-based compensation and depreciation and amortization included in cost of revenue, research and development, sales
and marketing, and general and administrative expenses, as these amounts are regularly provided to the CODM. Additionally, year 2024 excludes restructuring
charges.

 Year 2022 excludes certain incremental expenses associated with the Company’s humanitarian response to Russia’s invasion in Ukraine.

Years 2024, 2023, and 2022 exclude expenses related to the Tides Foundation Warrant.

 During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company incurred $ 19.2 million in costs related to the execution of the Restructuring Plan. Of this amount, $ 18.4
million is included in “Restructuring charges” while the remaining amount is allocated between “Stock-based compensation expense” and “Other segment items”. See
“Note 17—Restructuring Charges” for more information.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, in response to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the Company incurred certain incremental expenses associated with its
humanitarian response efforts of $ 4.3 million.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company incurred $ 0.8  million of expenses related to the Tides Foundation Warrant.

Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets, including operating lease right-of-use assets, were located in the United States as of December 31,
2024 and 2023.

Note 16— 401(k) Plan

The Company offers the Upwork Retirement Savings Plan, which is referred to as the Retirement Plan, a defined contribution plan that allows eligible
employees to defer a portion of their pre-tax salary, subject to the statutory annual limits. The Retirement Plan provides for a discretionary employer cash
matching contribution. The Company makes matching cash contributions equal to 50 % of each dollar contributed, subject to a maximum contribution of $
5,000 annually per participant. The Company’s total expense for the matching contributions was $ 3.9 million, $ 3.7 million, and $ 3.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Note 17— Restructuring Charges

In October 2024, the Company announced the Restructuring Plan, intended to continue the Company’s profitable trajectory, increase efficiency, and
accelerate innovation for its customers. The Restructuring Plan included various cost-reduction measures, including workforce reductions, reductions in
operating expenses, as well as decreases in capital expenditures. As part of the Restructuring Plan, the Company reduced its total workforce by
approximately

(1)(2)

(1)(2)

(1)(2)

(1)(2)(3)

(4)

(4)

(4)(5)(6)

(1)

(2)

(3) 

(4)

(5) 

(6) 
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21 %. The workforce reductions, including associated cash payments, were substantially completed by December 31, 2024.

The total restructuring charges for the fourth quarter of 2024 were $ 19.2 million and are presented within the respective functional line items in the
Company's consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive (loss), as shown in the following table for the year ended December 31, 2024:

(in thousands)

Employee severance
and benefit costs

Contract termination
costs Other charges

Total Restructuring
Charges

Cost of revenue $ 139  $ 198  $ —  $ 337  

Research and development 3,904  4,249  —  8,153  

Sales and marketing 5,262  1,872  —  7,134  

General and administrative 1,699  559  1,043  3,301  

Other income, net —  —  261  261  

Total $ 11,004  $ 6,878  $ 1,304  $ 19,186  

Contract termination costs include expenses related to the reduction in force of the Company’s contracted workforce impacted by the Restructuring Plan,
as well as vendor contract terminations.

Other charges include additional expenses incurred as part of the Restructuring Plan, such as lease termination costs and disposal of certain fixed
assets.

No restructuring charges were recorded for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The following table summarizes the Company’s restructuring liability:

(in thousands) Restructuring Liability

Beginning balance as of January 1, 2024 $ —  

Restructuring charges incurred 19,186  

Payments ( 17,101 )

Ending balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 2,085  

As of December 31, 2024, the remaining restructuring liability of $ 2.1 million consists primarily of accrued severance and benefit costs, and vendor
termination costs, recorded within “Accrued expenses and other current liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated Balance Sheet. The remaining
liability is expected to be settled by the end of the first quarter 2025.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (our Principal Executive Officer) and our Chief Financial Officer (our Principal
Financial Officer), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2024.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures, and is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on that assessment, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2024. This report appears on page 53.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Internal Controls

An effective internal control system, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error or overriding of
controls, and therefore can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to reliable financial reporting. Because of its inherent limitations, our internal
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of
controls, or fraud. Effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements.

Item 9B. Other Information.
Insider Trading Arrangements

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, one of our directors or officers (as defined in Section 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act) adopted ,
modified, or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408 of Regulation
S-K, intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 105b-1(c) under the Exchange Act, which is referred to as the Sales Plan, as set forth in the table
below.

The Sales Plan included a representation from Ms. Brown to the broker administering the plan that she was not in possession of any material nonpublic
information regarding Upwork or the Upwork securities subject to the Sales Plan. A similar representation was made to us in connection with the adoption
of the Sales Plan under our Insider Trading Policy. Those representations were made as of the date of adoption or modification of the Sales Plan and
speak only as of that date. In making those representations, there is no assurance with respect to any material
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nonpublic information of which Ms. Brown was unaware, or with respect to any material nonpublic information acquired by her or us after the date of the
representation.

Name and Position Action Date

Type of Trading
Arrangement

Maximum Number of Shares of
Common Stock
Eligible for Sale

Expiration Date

Hayden Brown Adoption December 6, 2024 Rule 10b5-1 753,510 December 31, 2025

President and Chief

Executive Officer

 The trading arrangement will be in effect until the earlier of (i) the expiration date set forth in the table and (ii) the date on which the maximum number
of shares of our common stock subject to the Sales Plan have been sold thereunder.

 Includes (i) up to 193,510 shares issuable upon exercise of a stock option previously granted to Ms. Brown, which stock option is fully vested and
exercisable and expires on December 31, 2025 and (ii) up to 560,000 shares held by Ms. Brown.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
We have adopted an Insider Trading Policy governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of Upwork securities that applies to all Upwork
personnel, including directors, officers, employees, and other covered persons. The Insider Trading Policy also provides that Upwork will not transact in
its own securities unless in compliance with U.S. securities laws. We believe that our Insider Trading Policy is reasonably designed to promote
compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and listing standards applicable to Upwork. A copy of the Insider Trading Policy is filed as
Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report.

The remaining information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we refer to as
the Proxy Statement, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC, within 120 days of the year ended December 31,
2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements.

Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements and
notes.

(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit Index



Exhibit

Number

Incorporated by Reference

Filed HerewithExhibit Title Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation 8-K
001-38678 3.1 June 12, 2023

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws.
8-K 001-38678 3.1 May 1, 2024

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate.
S-1 333-227207 4.1 September 6, 2018

4.2 Warrant, dated May 1, 2018, by and between Upwork and Tides

Foundation.
S-1 333-227207 4.4 September 6, 2018

4.3 Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Exchange Act. 10-K 001-38678 4.3
February 15, 2024

4.4 Indenture, dated as of August 10, 2021, between Upwork Inc. and Wells

Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee.
8-K 001-38678 4.1 August 10, 2021

4.5 Form of 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (included in Exhibit 4.4).
8-K 001-38678 4.2 August 10, 2021

10.1* Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between Upwork and each of its

directors and executive officers.
S-1 333-227207 10.1 September 6, 2018

10.2* 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of equity agreements

thereunder.
S-1 333-227207 10.3 September 6, 2018

10.3* 2018 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of award agreements thereunder.
S-1 333-227207 10.4 September 6, 2018

10.4* 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and enrollment forms thereunder.
S-1 333-227207 10.5 September 6, 2018

10.5* Offer Letter, dated February 25, 2015, by and between Upwork and

Elizabeth Nelson.
S-1 333-227207 10.13 September 6, 2018

10.6* Offer Letter, dated August 3, 2018, by and between Upwork and Gary

Steele.
S-1 333-227207 10.16 September 6, 2018

10.7* Upwork Performance Bonus Plan.
10-Q 001-38678 10.2 May 8, 2019

10.8* Offer Letter, dated June 17, 2019 by and between Upwork and Leela

Srinivasan.
10-Q 001-38678 10.2 August 7, 2019

10.9* Change in Control and Severance Agreement, dated December 8, 2019, by

and between Upwork and Hayden Brown.
10-K 001-38678 10.8 March 2, 2020

10.10* Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated December 8, 2019, by and

between Upwork and Hayden Brown.
10-K 001-38678 10.11 March 2, 2020

10.11* Offer Letter, dated October 13, 2020, by and between Upwork Inc. and Anilu

Vazquez-Ubarri.
10-K 001-38678 10.21 February 24, 2021

10.12* Stock Option Agreement, dated January 18, 2021, by and between Upwork

Inc. and Hayden Brown.
10-Q     001-38678 10.1 May 4, 2021

10.13 Form of Capped Call Transaction Confirmation.
8-K 001-38678 10.1 August 10, 2021

10.14* Offer Letter, dated March 22, 2023, by and between Upwork Inc. and Erica

Gessert. 10-Q
001-38678

10.1
May 3, 2023

10.15* Change in Control and Severance Agreement, dated April 25, 2023, by and

between Upwork Inc. and Erica Gessert. 10-Q
001-38678

10.2
May 3, 2023

10.16* Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated November 14, 2024, by and

between Upwork Inc. and Dave Bottoms.

X

10.17* Change in Control and Severance Agreement, dated March 18, 2024, by

and between Upwork Inc. and Dave Bottoms.

X

95

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747523000039/exhibit31restatedcertifica.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747524000020/amendedandrestatedbylaws.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747524000012/exhibit43descriptionofcapi.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162828021016425/exhibit41-closing8xk.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162828021016425/exhibit42-closing8xk.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex1013.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000119312518267594/d575528dex1016.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747519000015/exhibit102omnibusbonusplan.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747519000025/exhibit10_22q19.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747520000006/a2019exhibit108hbcicsa.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747520000006/a2019exhibit1011hboffe.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747521000015/exhibit1021offerletterfora.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747521000022/exhibit101stockoptionagree.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162828021016425/exhibit101-closing8xk.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747523000033/exhibit101offerletter.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1627475/000162747523000033/exhibit102cicagreementgess.htm
file:///tmp/T184/96ece0e6-601a-4685-b9fa-2f140f5a5f89/exhibit1016-amendedandrest.htm
file:///tmp/T184/96ece0e6-601a-4685-b9fa-2f140f5a5f89/exhibit1016-amendedandrest.htm
file:///tmp/T184/96ece0e6-601a-4685-b9fa-2f140f5a5f89/exhibit1016-amendedandrest.htm
file:///tmp/T184/96ece0e6-601a-4685-b9fa-2f140f5a5f89/exhibit1016-amendedandrest.htm
file:///tmp/T184/96ece0e6-601a-4685-b9fa-2f140f5a5f89/exhibit1017-changeincontro.htm
file:///tmp/T184/96ece0e6-601a-4685-b9fa-2f140f5a5f89/exhibit1017-changeincontro.htm


19.1 Insider Trading Policy. X

21.1 List of Subsidiaries.
X

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting

firm.
X

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page to Annual Report).
X

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Interim Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
X

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
X

32.1# Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Interim Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
X

32.2# Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
X

97.1* Upwork Inc. Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy. 10-K 001-38678
97.1 February 15, 2024

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the

interactive data file because its XBRL tags are embedded within the inline XBRL

document. X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. X

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page from the Registrant’s Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 is formatted in Inline XBRL.
X

*    Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.

#    This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by

reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Upwork Inc.

Date: February 13, 2025 By: /s/ Hayden Brown

Hayden Brown

President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Hayden Brown and
Erica Gessert, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, proxies, and agents, each with full power of substitution, for him or her in
any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact, proxies, and agents full power
and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, proxies, and agents, or their or his or her
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

98



Signature Title Date

/s/ Hayden Brown President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director February 13, 2025

Hayden Brown (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Erica Gessert Chief Financial Officer February 13, 2025

Erica Gessert (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Olivier Marie Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer February 13, 2025

Olivier Marie (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Gregory C. Gretsch Director February 13, 2025

Gregory C. Gretsch

/s/ Kevin Harvey Director February 13, 2025

Kevin Harvey

/s/ Thomas Layton Director February 13, 2025

Thomas Layton

/s/ Elizabeth Nelson Director February 13, 2025

Elizabeth Nelson

/s/ Leela Srinivasan Director February 13, 2025

Leela Srinivasan

/s/ Gary Steele Director February 13, 2025

Gary Steele

/s/ Anilu Vazquez-Ubarri Director February 13, 2025

Anilu Vazquez-Ubarri
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Exhibit 10.16

November 14, 2024

Re: Amended and Restated Offer Letter

Dear Dave:

This letter amends and restates your offer letter, dated August 4, 2022, in its entirety. On behalf of Upwork Inc. (the
“Company”), I am pleased to confirm your continued full-time employment in the position of General Manager, Vice President II,
Marketplace, reporting to Hayden Brown, President and Chief Executive Officer. You will continue to work remotely to the extent
consistent with the Company’s policies and guidelines from time to time, but will be expected to come into the Company’s principal
offices in the San Francisco Bay Area as requested by the Company and will be expected to travel to other locations, as required in
connection with the performance of your duties with the Company.

The terms of our offer and the benefits currently provided by the Company are as follows:

1. Position. This is a full-time position. While you render services to the Company, you will not engage in any other
employment, consulting or other business activity (whether full-time or part-time) that would create a conflict of interest with the
Company. By signing this letter agreement, you confirm to the Company that you have no contractual commitments or other legal
obligations that would prohibit or impair you from performing your duties for the Company.

2. Cash Compensation. Your base salary will be $448,305 per year, payable in accordance with the Company’s
standard payroll practices. The base salary will be subject to adjustment pursuant to the Company’s employee compensation policies
in effect from time to time.

3. Annual Bonus. You will be eligible to participate in the Company’s 2024 performance bonus plan (the “Bonus Plan”),
with a target bonus eligibility of not less than 60% of the base salary you are actually paid for service during 2024. Because the
bonus is calculated based on actual salary payments, your bonus under the Bonus Plan will be effectively pro-rated in the event of
any leave of absence during the year. Your bonus eligibility is subject to the terms of the Bonus Plan in effect from time to time,
which will be provided to you.

4. Benefits. The Company currently has an unlimited time off policy, and you will be eligible to take time off work with
pay in accordance with the Company’s time off policies then in effect. You will also be eligible to participate in benefit plans
established by the Company for its employees from time to time.

5. Separation Benefits. You will continue to be eligible to receive certain change in control and severance payments
and benefits under the Change in Control and Severance Agreement between you and the Company.



6. At-Will Employment. Employment with the Company is for no specific period of time. Your employment with the
Company will be “at will,” meaning that either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason,
with or without cause. Any contrary representations, whether written or oral, that may have been made to you are superseded by this
letter agreement. This is the full and complete agreement between you and the Company on this term. Although your job duties, title,
compensation, and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the “at will”
nature of your employment may only be changed in an express written agreement signed by you and the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer.

7. Confidentiality and Intellectual Property; Arbitration . By signing this letter agreement, you reaffirm the terms and
conditions of the Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement by and between you and the Company and the
Dispute Resolution Agreement by and between you and the Company.

8. Former Employer or Third-Party Information. You will not, at any time during your employment with the Company,
improperly use, retain or disclose any confidential or proprietary material of any former employer or other third party, whether or not it
was created by you, or violate any other obligations, including non-compete provisions, you may have to any former employer or
other third party. You will disclose to the Company in writing any other gainful employment, business or activity that you are currently
associated with or participate in that competes with the Company.

9. Tax Matters.

a. Withholding. All forms of compensation referred to in this letter agreement are subject to reduction to reflect
applicable withholding and payroll taxes and other deductions required by law.

b. Tax Advice; No Reliance. You are encouraged to obtain your own tax advice regarding your compensation from
the Company. You agree that the Company does not have a duty to design its compensation policies in a manner that minimizes your
tax liabilities, and you will not make any claim against the Company or its Board of Directors related to tax liabilities arising from your
compensation.

10. Entire Agreement. Except to the extent otherwise explicitly provided herein, this letter agreement, and the
agreements incorporated herein by reference, supersede and replace any prior agreements, representations or understandings
(whether written, oral, implied or otherwise) between you and the Company, and constitute the complete agreement between you and
the Company regarding the subject matter set forth herein. This letter agreement may not be amended or modified, except by an
express written agreement signed by both you and the Chief Executive Officer.

11. Equal Employment Opportunity. The Company is an equal opportunity employer and conducts its employment
practices based on business needs and in a manner that treats employees and applicants on the basis of merit and experience. The
Company prohibits unlawful discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, citizenship, ancestry,
age, physical or mental disability, veteran status, marital status, domestic partner status, sexual orientation, or any other
consideration made unlawful by federal, state or local laws.
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12. General Obligations. As an employee, you will be expected to continue to adhere to the Company’s standards of
professionalism, loyalty, integrity, honesty, reliability, and respect for all. You will also be expected to continue to comply with the
Company’s policies and procedures.

[Signature Page Follows]
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On behalf of the Company,

Upwork Inc.

By: /s/ Hayden Brown
Hayden Brown
President and Chief Executive Officer

I agree to and accept continued employment with the Company on the terms and conditions set forth in this amended and restated
offer letter. I understand and agree that my employment with the Company is at will.

/s/ Dave Bottoms Date: November 14, 2024
Dave Bottoms

[Signature Page to Offer Letter]



 

Exhibit 10.17

CHANGE IN CONTROL AND SEVERANCE AGREEMENT

This Change in Control and Severance Agreement (the “ Agreement”) is entered into by and between Dave Bottoms (the “ Executive”) and Upwork Inc.,
a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), on March 18, 2024 (the “Effective Date”).

1.    Term of Agreement.

Except to the extent renewed as set forth in this Section 1, this Agreement shall terminate the earlier of the third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective
Date (the “Expiration Date”) or the date the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates for a reason other than a Qualifying Termination or
CIC Qualifying Termination; provided however, if a definitive agreement relating to a Change in Control has been signed by the Company on or before
the Expiration Date, then this Agreement shall remain in effect through the earlier of:

(a)    The date the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates for a reason other than a Qualifying Termination or CIC Qualifying
Termination, or

(b)    The date the Company has met all of its obligations under this Agreement following a termination of the Executive’s employment with the
Company due to a Qualifying Termination or CIC Qualifying Termination.

This Agreement shall renew automatically and continue in effect for three (3) year periods measured from the initial Expiration Date and each
subsequent Expiration Date, unless the Company provides Executive notice of non-renewal at least three (3) months prior to the date on which this
Agreement would otherwise renew. For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2 or 3 below, the Company’s
non-renewal of this Agreement shall not constitute a Qualifying Termination or CIC Qualifying Termination, as applicable.

2 .    Qualifying Termination . If the Executive is subject to a Qualifying Termination, then, subject to Sections 4, 9, and 10 below, Executive will be
entitled to the following benefits:

(a)    Severance Benefits. The Company shall pay the Executive six (6) months worth of his or her monthly base salary at the rate in effect at the
time of the Separation. The Executive will receive his or her severance payment in a cash lump-sum in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll
procedures, which payment will be made no later than the first regular payroll date occurring after the sixtieth (60 ) day following the Separation.

(b)    Continued Employee Benefits. If Executive timely elects continued coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
(“COBRA”), the Company shall pay the full amount of Executive’s COBRA premiums on behalf of the Executive for the Executive’s continued coverage
under the Company’s health, dental and vision plans, including coverage for the Executive’s eligible dependents, for the same period that the Executive
is paid severance benefits pursuant to Section 2(a) following the Executive’s Separation or, if earlier, until Executive is eligible to be covered under
another substantially equivalent medical insurance plan by a subsequent employer.

3.    CIC Qualifying Termination. If the Executive is subject to a CIC Qualifying Termination, then, subject to Sections 4, 9, and 10 below, Executive will
be entitled to the following benefits:

( a )    Severance Payments. The Company or its successor shall pay the Executive (i) twelve (12) months’ worth of his or her monthly base
salary at the rates in effect at the time of the Separation and (ii) the prorated portion of his or her then-current target bonus opportunity for the portion of
the current year that Executive served prior to the Separation (calculated based on the number of full months to date in the bonus year multiplied by 1/12
of the annual target bonus opportunity) at the rate in effect at the time of the Separation. Such payment shall be paid in a cash lump sum payment in
accordance with the
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Company’s standard payroll procedures, which payment will be made no later than the first regular payroll date occurring after the sixtieth (60 ) day
following the Separation.

(b)    Continued Employee Benefits. Continuation of COBRA on the same terms as set forth in Section 2(b) above for the same period that the
Executive is paid severance benefits pursuant to Section 3(a)(i) following the Executive’s Separation or, if earlier, until Executive is eligible to be covered
under another substantially equivalent medical insurance plan by a subsequent employer.

(c)    Equity. Each of Executive’s then outstanding Equity Awards shall accelerate and become vested and exercisable as to 100% of the shares
subject to the Equity Award. Subject to satisfaction of the Release Conditions, the accelerated vesting described in this Section 3(c) shall be effective as
of the Separation.

4 .    General Release. Any other provision of this Agreement notwithstanding, Executive is only eligible for the benefits under Section 2 and 3 if the
Executive (i) has executed a general release of all known and unknown claims that he or she may then have against the Company or persons affiliated
with the Company and such release has become effective and (ii) has agreed not to prosecute any legal action or other proceeding based upon any of
such claims. The release must be in the form prescribed by the Company, without alterations (this document effecting the foregoing, the “Release”). The
Company will deliver the form of Release to the Executive within ten (10) days after the Executive’s Separation. The Executive must execute and return
the Release within the time period specified in the form.

5 .    Accrued Compensation and Benefits. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2 and Section 3 above, in connection with any
termination of employment (whether or not a Qualifying Termination or CIC Qualifying Termination), the Company shall pay Executive’s earned but
unpaid base salary and other vested but unpaid cash entitlements for the period through and including the termination of employment, including unused
earned vacation pay, if applicable, and unreimbursed documented business expenses incurred by Executive through and including the date of termination
(collectively “Accrued Compensation and Expenses ”), as required by law and the applicable Company plan or policy. In addition, Executive shall be
entitled to any other vested benefits earned by Executive for the period through and including the termination date of Executive’s employment under any
other employee benefit plans and arrangements maintained by the Company, in accordance with the terms of such plans and arrangements, except as
modified herein (collectively “Accrued Benefits”). Any Accrued Compensation and Expenses to which the Executive is entitled shall be paid to the
Executive in cash as soon as administratively practicable after the termination and, in any event, no later than two and one-half (2-1/2) months after the
end of the taxable year of the Executive in which the termination occurs or at such earlier time as may be required by Section 10 below or to such lesser
extent as may be mandated by Section 9 below. Any Accrued Benefits to which the Executive is entitled shall be paid to the Executive as provided in the
relevant plans and arrangements.

6.    Covenants.

( a )    Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement . The Executive agrees and acknowledges that the Executive is bound by the
Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement entered into by and between the Executive and the Company (the “ Confidentiality
Agreement”), including but not limited to the Executive’s confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation obligations thereunder.

(b)    Non-Disparagement. The Executive further agrees that, during the twenty-four (24) month period following his or her Separation, he or she
shall not in any way or by any means disparage the Company, the members of the Board or the Company’s officers and employees. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Executive is not prohibited from cooperating with a government agency or testifying
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truthfully in any government inquiry or other proceeding or in which Executive is required to testify pursuant to subpoena or other valid legal process.

7.    Definitions.

(a)    “Board” means the Company’s board of directors.

(b)    “Cause” means the Executive’s (i) unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s confidential information or trade secrets, which use or
disclosure causes or is reasonably likely to cause material harm to the Company, (ii) material failure to comply with the Company’s written policies or
rules, (iii) conviction of, or plea of “guilty” or “no contest” to, a felony under the laws of the United States or any state, (iv) gross negligence or willful
misconduct, (v) continuing failure to perform assigned duties after receiving written notification of the failure from the Chief Executive Officer or Board, or
(vi) failure to cooperate in good faith with a governmental or internal investigation of the Company or its directors, officers or employees, if the Company
has requested the Executive’s cooperation. The determination as to whether the Executive has been terminated for Cause shall be made in good faith by
the Company and shall be final and binding on the Executive.  The term “Company” will be interpreted to include any subsidiary or parent of the
Company, as appropriate.

(c)    “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(d)    “Change in Control ” means the occurrence of any of the following events, provided that the transaction (including any series of
transactions) also qualifies as a change in control event under U.S. Treasury Regulation 1.409A-3(i)(5):

(i) any “Person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in
Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power
represented by the Company’s then-outstanding voting securities; provided, however, that for purposes of this subclause (i) the acquisition of additional
securities by any one Person who is considered to own more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the securities of the Company will not be
considered a Change in Control;

(ii) the consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;

(iii) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation
which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding
or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent) at least fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the
voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its parent outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation;

(iv) any other transaction which qualifies as a “corporate transaction” under Section 424(a) of the Code wherein the stockholders of the
Company give up all of their equity interest in the Company (except for the acquisition, sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the outstanding shares
of the capital stock of the Company); or

(v) a change in the effective control of the Company that occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is replaced during
any twelve (12) month period by members of the Board whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board prior to
the date of the appointment or election. For purpose of this subclause (v), if any Person is considered to
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be in effective control of the Company, the acquisition of additional control of the Company by the same Person will not be considered a Change in
Control.

For purposes of this definition, Persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that enters into a merger,
consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or similar business transaction with the Company.

(e)    “CIC Qualifying Termination ” means a Separation (A) within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control or (B) within three (3)
months preceding a Change in Control (but as to part (B), only if the Separation occurs after a Potential Change in Control) resulting, in either case (A) or
(B), from (i) the Company terminating the Executive’s employment for any reason other than Cause or (ii) the Executive resigning his or her employment
for Good Reason. A termination or resignation due to the Executive’s death or disability shall not constitute a CIC Qualifying Termination. A “ Potential
Change in Control” means the date of execution of a legally binding and definitive agreement for a corporate transaction which, if consummated, would
constitute the applicable Change in Control (which for the avoidance of doubt, would include, for example, a merger agreement, but not a term sheet for
a merger agreement). In the case of a termination following a Potential Change in Control and before a Change in Control, solely for purposes of benefits
under this Agreement, the date of Separation will be deemed the date the Change in Control is consummated.

(f)    “Equity Awards” means any and all options to purchase shares of Company common stock as well as any and all other stock-based awards
granted to the Executive, including but not limited to stock bonus awards, restricted stock, restricted stock units or stock appreciation rights; provided,
however, that “Equity Awards” expressly excludes any and all Performance Awards.

(g)    “Good Reason” means, without the Executive’s consent, (i) a material reduction in duties, responsibilities or authority, (ii) a material
reduction in Executive’s annual base salary or annual target bonus, or (iii) a requirement that Executive relocate Executive’s principal place of work to a
location that increases Executive’s one-way commute by more than thirty-five (35) miles from Executive’s then-current work location. For the purpose of
clause (i), solely in connection with a Change in Control, a change in responsibility shall not be deemed to occur (A) solely because Executive is part of a
larger organization or (B) solely because of a change in title. For the Executive to receive the benefits under this Agreement as a result of a voluntary
resignation under this subsection (g), all of the following requirements must be satisfied: (1) the Executive must provide notice to the Company of his or
her intent to assert Good Reason within sixty (60) days of the initial existence of one or more of the conditions set forth in subclauses (i) through (iii); (2)
the Company will have thirty (30) days (the “Company Cure Period”) from the date of such notice to remedy the condition and, if it does so, the
Executive may withdraw his or her resignation or may resign with no benefits under this Agreement; and (3) any termination of employment under this
provision must occur within ten (10) days of the earlier of expiration of the Company Cure Period or written notice from the Company that it will not
undertake to cure the condition set forth in subclauses (i) through (iii). Should the Company remedy the condition as set forth above and then one or
more of the conditions arises again, the Executive may assert Good Reason again subject to all of the conditions set forth herein.

(h)    “Performance Awards” means any and all stock-based awards that vest, in whole or in part, upon satisfaction of performance criteria.

(i)    “Release Conditions” mean the following conditions occurring within sixty (60) days following the Separation: (i) the Company has received
the Executive’s executed Release and (ii) any
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rescission period applicable to the Executive’s executed Release has expired without Executive rescinding the Release.

(j)    “Qualifying Termination” means a Separation that is not a CIC Qualifying Termination, but which results from the Company terminating the
Executive’s employment for any reason other than Cause. A termination or resignation due to the Executive’s death or disability shall not constitute a
Qualifying Termination.

(k)    “Separation” means a “separation from service,” as defined in the regulations under Section 409A of the Code.

8.    Successors.

(a )    Company’s Successors. The Company shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect and whether by purchase, lease, merger,
consolidation, liquidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the Company’s business and/or assets, by an agreement in substance and form
satisfactory to the Executive, to assume this Agreement and to agree expressly to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent as
the Company would be required to perform it in the absence of a succession. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Company” shall include
any successor to the Company’s business and/or assets or which becomes bound by this Agreement by operation of law.

(b)    Executive’s Successors. This Agreement and all rights of the Executive hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the
Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.

9.    Golden Parachute Taxes.

( a )    Best After-Tax Result . In the event that any payment or benefit received or to be received by Executive pursuant to this Agreement or
otherwise (“Payments”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) but for this subsection (a), be
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, any successor provisions, or any comparable federal, state, local or foreign excise tax
(“Excise Tax”), then, subject to the provisions of Section 10, such Payments shall be either (A) provided in full pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or
any other applicable agreement, or (B) provided as to such lesser extent which would result in the Payments being $1.00 less than the amount at which
any portion of the Payments would be subject to the Excise Tax (“Reduced Amount”), whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the
applicable federal, state, local and foreign income, employment and other taxes and the Excise Tax (including, without limitation, any interest or penalties
on such taxes), results in the receipt by Executive, on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount of payments and benefits provided for hereunder or
otherwise, notwithstanding that all or some portion of such Payments may be subject to the Excise Tax. Unless the Company and Executive otherwise
agree in writing, any determination required under this Section shall be made by independent tax counsel designated by the Company and reasonably
acceptable to Executive (“Independent Tax Counsel”), whose determination shall be conclusive and binding upon Executive and the Company for all
purposes. For purposes of making the calculations required under this Section, Independent Tax Counsel may make reasonable assumptions and
approximations concerning applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999
of the Code; provided that Independent Tax Counsel shall assume that Executive pays all taxes at the highest marginal rate. The Company and Executive
shall furnish to Independent Tax Counsel such information and documents as Independent Tax Counsel may reasonably request in order to make a
determination under this Section. The Company shall bear all costs that Independent Tax Counsel may reasonably incur in connection with any
calculations contemplated by this Section. In the event that Section 9(a)(ii)(B) above applies, then based on the information provided to Executive and the
Company by Independent Tax Counsel, Executive may, in Executive’s sole discretion
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and within thirty (30) days of the date on which Executive is provided with the information prepared by Independent Tax Counsel, determine which and
how much of the Payments (including the accelerated vesting of equity compensation awards) to be otherwise received by Executive shall be eliminated
or reduced (as long as after such determination the value (as calculated by Independent Tax Counsel in accordance with the provisions of Sections 280G
and 4999 of the Code) of the amounts payable or distributable to Executive equals the Reduced Amount). If the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”)
determines that any Payment is subject to the Excise Tax, then Section 9(b) hereof shall apply, and the enforcement of Section 9(b) shall be the
exclusive remedy to the Company.

( b )    Adjustments. If, notwithstanding any reduction described in Section 9(a) hereof (or in the absence of any such reduction), the IRS
determines that Executive is liable for the Excise Tax as a result of the receipt of one or more Payments, then Executive shall be obligated to surrender or
pay back to the Company, within one-hundred twenty (120) days after a final IRS determination, an amount of such payments or benefits equal to the
“Repayment Amount.” The Repayment Amount with respect to such Payments shall be the smallest such amount, if any, as shall be required to be
surrendered or paid to the Company so that Executive’s net proceeds with respect to such Payments (after taking into account the payment of the Excise
Tax imposed on such Payments) shall be maximized. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Repayment Amount with respect to such Payments shall be zero
(0) if a Repayment Amount of more than zero (0) would not eliminate the Excise Tax imposed on such Payments or if a Repayment Amount of more than
zero would not maximize the net amount received by Executive from the Payments. If the Excise Tax is not eliminated pursuant to this Section 9(b),
Executive shall pay the Excise Tax.

10.    Miscellaneous Provisions.

( a )    Section 409A. To the extent (i) any payments to which Executive becomes entitled under this Agreement, or any agreement or plan
referenced herein, in connection with Executive’s termination of employment with the Company constitute deferred compensation subject to Section 409A
of the Code and (ii) Executive is deemed at the time of such termination of employment to be a “specified” employee under Section 409A of the Code,
then such payment or payments shall not be made or commence until the earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the
Executive’s Separation; or (ii) the date of Executive’s death following such Separation; provided, however, that such deferral shall only be effected to the
extent required to avoid adverse tax treatment to Executive, including (without limitation) the additional twenty percent (20%) tax for which Executive
would otherwise be liable under Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code in the absence of such deferral. Upon the expiration of the applicable deferral period,
any payments which would have otherwise been made during that period (whether in a single sum or in installments) in the absence of this paragraph
shall be paid to Executive or Executive’s beneficiary in one lump sum (without interest). Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, to the extent any
expense reimbursement or the provision of any in-kind benefit under this Agreement (or otherwise referenced herein) is determined to be subject to (and
not exempt from) Section 409A of the Code, the amount of any such expenses eligible for reimbursement, or the provision of any in-kind benefit, in one
calendar year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement or in kind benefits to be provided in any other calendar year, in no event shall any
expenses be reimbursed after the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which Executive incurred such expenses, and in no event
shall any right to reimbursement or the provision of any in-kind benefit be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit. To the extent that any
provision of this Agreement is ambiguous as to its exemption or compliance with Section 409A, the provision will be read in such a manner so that all
payments hereunder are exempt from Section 409A to the maximum permissible extent, and for any payments where such construction is not tenable,
that those payments comply with Section 409A to the maximum permissible extent. To the extent any payment under this Agreement may be classified
as a “short-term deferral” within the meaning of Section 409A, such payment shall be deemed a short-term deferral, even if it may also qualify for an
exemption from Section 409A under another provision of Section
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409A. Payments pursuant to this Agreement (or referenced in this Agreement) are intended to constitute separate payments for purposes of Section
1.409A-2(b)(2) of the regulations under Section 409A.

( b )    Other Arrangements. This Agreement supersedes any and all cash severance arrangements and vesting acceleration arrangements
under any agreement governing Equity Awards, severance and salary continuation arrangements, programs and plans which were previously offered by
the Company to the Executive, including change in control severance arrangements and vesting acceleration arrangements pursuant to an agreement
governing Equity Awards and Executive hereby waives Executive’s rights to such other benefits; provided that, for clarity, this Agreement shall not
supersede, and Executive does not hereby waive his or her rights to, the acceleration of vesting arrangements that may be applicable to any Performance
Awards. In no event shall any individual receive cash severance benefits under both this Agreement and any other severance pay or salary continuation
program, plan or other arrangement with the Company or its subsidiaries. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall Executive receive payment under
both Section 2 and Section 3 with respect to Executive’s Separation.

(c)    Dispute Resolution. To ensure rapid and economical resolution of any and all disputes that might arise in connection with this Agreement,
Executive and the Company agree that any and all disputes, claims, and causes of action, in law or equity, arising from or relating to this Agreement or its
enforcement, performance, breach, or interpretation, will be resolved solely and exclusively by final, binding, and confidential arbitration, by a single
arbitrator, in Santa Clara County, and conducted by Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Services, Inc. (“ JAMS”) under its then-existing employment rules and
procedures. Notwithstanding the foregoing agreement to resolve disputes in arbitration either party may obtain injunctive relief in court to prevent
irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Each party shall be responsible for the payment of its own attorneys’ fees.

(d)    Notice. Notices and all other communications contemplated by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly
given when personally delivered or when mailed by U.S. registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid or deposited with
Federal Express Corporation, with shipping charges prepaid. In the case of the Executive, mailed notices shall be addressed to him or her at the home
address which he or she most recently communicated to the Company in writing. In the case of the Company, mailed notices shall be addressed to its
corporate headquarters, and all notices shall be directed to the attention of its Secretary.

(e)    Waiver. No provision of this Agreement shall be modified, waived or discharged unless the modification, waiver or discharge is agreed to in
writing and signed by the Executive and by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. No waiver by either party of any breach of, or of compliance with,
any condition or provision of this Agreement by the other party shall be considered a waiver of any other condition or provision or of the same condition or
provision at another time.

(f)    Withholding Taxes. All payments made under this Agreement shall be subject to reduction to reflect taxes or other charges required to be
withheld by law.

(g)    Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of
any other provision hereof, which shall remain in full force and effect.

(h)    No Retention Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall confer upon the Executive any right to continue in service for any period of specific
duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of the Company or any subsidiary or parent of the Company or of the Executive, which
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rights are hereby expressly reserved by each, to terminate his service at any time and for any reason, with or without Cause.

( i )    Choice of Law. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of
California (other than its choice-of-law provisions).

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has executed this Agreement, in the case of the Company by its duly authorized officer, as of the
day and year first above written.

EXECUTIVE UPWORK INC.

/s/ Dave Bottoms /s/ Hayden Brown

Dave Bottoms By: Hayden Brown

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 19.1

Policy Name: Insider Trading Policy Confidential: Internal Use Only
Owner: Chief Financial Officer and Chief Legal
Officer

Policy applies to: All employees, independent contractors,
vendors and the Upwork Board of Directors (collectively,
“Service Providers”)

Last Updated: February 9, 2023

General Overview

Upwork is committed to high standards of honest and ethical business conduct and compliance with laws, rules and regulations.

Under this Insider Trading Policy, every Service Provider is prohibited from trading in Upwork stock while in possession of material
nonpublic information about Upwork, and prohibited from giving material nonpublic information about Upwork or others to anyone
who might trade on the basis of that information.

Capitalized terms are in the list of defined terms at the end of this Policy. You may also wish to refer to the list of FAQs about this
Policy following the defined terms. The FAQs are part of this Policy and the rules articulated in the FAQs must be followed as well.

Neither Upwork nor the Compliance Officer is liable for any act made under this Policy. Neither Upwork nor the Compliance Officer is
responsible for any failure to approve a trade or for imposing any Blackout Period.

Scope

1. This Policy covers all Service Providers, as well as the members of their immediate families and persons sharing their
households; it also covers entities (such as partnerships, trusts and corporations) that are affiliated or associated with such
persons. These Covered Persons are responsible for ensuring compliance with this Policy by members of their immediate
families and persons sharing their households, and by entities with which they are affiliated or associated. Additionally, Upwork
will not transact in its securities unless in compliance with U.S. securities laws.

2. This Policy applies to all transactions in Upwork securities, including shares of Upwork common stock, restricted stock units and
options to purchase common stock, however acquired, and any other type of securities that Upwork may issue, such as preferred
stock, convertible notes, warrants and exchange-traded options or other derivative securities.

3. Upwork may impose sanctions for violation of this Policy and may issue stop-transfer orders to our transfer agent to implement it.
Sanctions for individuals may include any disciplinary action, including termination of employment or service relationship with
Upwork, where applicable. Section 16 Persons and/or Access Persons may be required to certify compliance with this Policy on
an annual basis. Notifications and approvals required under this Policy may be provided by electronic mail.



Statement of Company Policy

Prohibited Activities

A. No Section 16 Person, and no Access Person, may trade in Upwork securities unless the trade has been approved in advance by
the Compliance Officer in accordance with this Policy.

B. No Covered Person may trade in Upwork securities while possessing material nonpublic information about Upwork. It does not
matter if the personal decision to trade was made before coming into possession of material nonpublic information – once the
Covered Person comes into possession of the material nonpublic information, he or she cannot trade (other than pursuant to a
permitted 10b5-1 Plan).

C. No Covered Person may trade in Upwork securities outside of the Policy’s Trading Windows, or during any Blackout Period
designated by the Compliance Officer (other than pursuant to a permitted 10b5-1 Plan).

D. No Covered Person may make a gift, charitable contribution or other transfer without consideration, of Company securities during
a period when that Covered Person is not permitted to trade, provided however that a Covered Person may make a gift,
charitable contribution or other transfer without consideration, of Company securities to another Covered Person during a period
when both the parties are not permitted to trade upon review and approval of the Compliance Officer.

E. No Covered Person may disclose material nonpublic information about Upwork to any outside person, unless required to do so
as part of that Covered Person’s regular duties for Upwork or authorized by the Compliance Officer.

F. No Covered Person may give trading advice of any kind about Upwork to anyone while possessing material nonpublic
information about Upwork, except that Covered Persons should advise others not to trade if doing so might violate this Policy or
the law. We strongly discourage Covered Persons from giving trading advice concerning Upwork to third parties even when the
Covered Persons do not possess material nonpublic information about Upwork.

G. No Covered Person may: (a) trade in the securities of any other public company while possessing material nonpublic information
about that company that was obtained in the course of service as a Covered Person; (b) disclose material nonpublic information
about another public company to anyone; or (c) give anyone trading advice about any other public company while possessing
material nonpublic information about that company.

H. No Covered Person may engage in transactions involving options or other derivative securities on Upwork’s securities, such as
puts and calls, whether on an exchange or in any other market; provided however that a Covered Person may exercise
compensatory equity grants issued by Upwork.

I. No Covered Person may engage in hedging or monetization transactions involving Upwork securities, such as zero-cost collars
and forward sale contracts or contribute Upwork securities to exchange funds that could be interpreted as having the effect of
hedging in Upwork securities.

J. No Covered Person may engage in short sales of Upwork’s securities, including short sales “against the box.”

K. No Covered Person may use or pledge Upwork securities as collateral in a margin account or as collateral for a loan unless the
pledge has been approved by the Compliance Officer.
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Section 16 Persons and Access Persons Require Prior Approval of Trades

The Section 16 Persons and Access Persons (as listed on Exhibit A) must obtain prior approval of all trades in Upwork securities
from the Compliance Officer. In addition, Section 16 Persons must notify the Compliance Officer prior to any gifts or other transfers of
Upwork securities.

Trading Windows and Blackout Periods

1. Trading Windows. Other than pursuant to a permitted 10b5-1 Plan, all Covered Persons are permitted to trade in Upwork
securities only during the Trading Window period that begins after the close of trading on the next full trading day following the
widespread public release of our quarterly or year-end operating results, and ends at the close of trading on the seventh calendar
day in the third month of the then-current quarter.

2. No Trading During Trading Windows While in the Possession of Material Nonpublic Information. Even if a Trading Window is in
effect, no Covered Person possessing material nonpublic information about Upwork may trade in Company securities (other than
pursuant to a permitted 10b5-1 Plan). Persons possessing such information may trade during a Trading Window only after the
close of trading on the next full trading day following our widespread public release of such information.

For example, if Upwork announces earnings after close of trading on a Monday (or before trading begins on a Tuesday), then the
first time a Covered Person can trade Upwork securities is after the close of market on Tuesday (effectively the opening of the
market on Wednesday for regular trading), assuming the Covered Person is not aware of other material nonpublic information at
that time. However, if Upwork announces earnings after trading begins on that Tuesday, then the first time the Covered Person
can trade is after the close of market on Wednesday (effectively the opening of the market on Thursday for regular trading).

3. No Trading During Blackout Periods. Even if a Trading Window is in effect, the Compliance Officer may designate special trading
Blackout Periods that apply to particular individuals or groups of persons (including all Covered Persons), for such time, and with
respect to such persons, as the Compliance Officer determines in his or her discretion. No Covered Person may trade in Upwork
securities outside of the applicable Trading Windows or during any such Blackout Periods. No Covered Person who learns of
such a Blackout Period may disclose to any other person that a Blackout Period has been designated or that one was previously
in place. The fact of the Blackout Period is confidential and cannot be disclosed internally or externally. The failure of the
Compliance Officer to subject a person to a Blackout Period does not relieve that person of the obligation not to trade while in
possession of material non-public information.

Permitted Trades Under 10b5-1 Plans

We strongly encourage all Section 16 Persons and Access Persons to trade in Upwork securities pursuant to a 10b5-1 Plan.

Certain sales, purchases and other transfers of Upwork securities may be permitted while a Covered Person is aware of material
non-public information if they are effected pursuant to a written contract, letter of instruction or plan that (a) complies with the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act and this Policy, (b) is entered into during an open Trading Window and not
during any quarterly or Blackout Period, (c) the first trade under the 10b5-1 Plan does not occur (i) for a Section 16 Person: until the
later of (A) ninety (90) days after adoption of the 10b5-1 Plan and (B) two (2) business days following the disclosure of Upwork’s
financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the 10b5-1 Plan was adopted that discloses
Upwork’s financial results (but not to exceed 120 days following the adoption of the 10b5-1 Plan) and (ii) for
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persons other than Section 16 Persons: at least thirty days after adoption of the 10b5-1 Plan, in each case, following our Compliance
Officer’s approval of the 10b5-1 Plan (these waiting periods are collectively referred to as the “Cooling-Off Period”), (d) no trades
under the 10b5-1 Plan may occur within the period between the first day of a quarter and the end of the first full trading day following
the release of quarterly or year-end earnings for the prior quarter, (e) the 10b5-1 Plan is not a single-trade 10b5-1 Plan adopted
during the 12-month period immediately following the person’s adoption of another single-trade 10b5-1 Plan, subject to the
exceptions noted in Rule 10b5-1, which are provided for you in the Appendix, (f) the person establishing the 10b5-1 Plan has certified
to the Compliance Officer in writing, no earlier than two business days prior to the date that the 10b5-1 Plan is formally adopted (and
shall not have withdrawn such certification prior to such adoption), that as of such date and as of the adoption date of the 10b5-1
Plan, (i) such person is not, and to such person’s knowledge, will not be aware of material nonpublic information concerning Upwork
and all such trades to be made pursuant to the 10b5-1 Plan will be made in accordance with applicable SEC rules, (ii) the 10b5-1
Plan complies with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, (iii) such person is adopting the 10b5-1 Plan in good faith and not as part of a
plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act and (iv) such
person will act in good faith with respect to the 10b5-1 Plan throughout its duration. You must notify the Compliance Officer promptly
via email and withdraw the certification if any changes of circumstances prior to the adoption date of the 10b5-1 Plan have or will
render the certification required by clause (f) of the immediately preceding sentence to be inaccurate as of that time.

A Covered Person may have no more than one 10b5-1 Plan adopted at any point in time (i.e., multiple concurrent or overlapping
plans are prohibited), subject to the exceptions noted in Rule 10b5-1, which are provided for you in the Appendix. One of these
exceptions is for plans authorizing certain “sell-to-cover” transactions.

Because Section 16 Persons and Access Persons are more likely than other Covered Persons to receive access to material non-
public information in their roles with Upwork, they are strongly encouraged to adopt 10b5-1 Plans covering Upwork’s securities
(subject to meeting the requirements of this Policy). The Compliance Officer may expand or modify this list of permitted individuals.

Covered Persons are not allowed to enter into “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements” (as defined in Regulation S-K Item 408(c))
unless otherwise approved in advance by the Compliance Officer.

Priority of Statutory or Regulatory Trading Restrictions

The trading prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy are also subject to prohibitions or restrictions prescribed by contract or by
federal and state securities laws and regulations (e.g., contractual restrictions on the resale of securities, short-swing trading by
Section 16 Persons or compliance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act). Any Covered Person who is uncertain whether other
prohibitions or restrictions apply should ask the Compliance Officer.

Reporting Violations; Inquiries

The Compliance Officer or his or her designee will review, and either approve or prohibit, any proposed trades in Upwork securities
as required under this Policy, including proposed trades by Section 16 Persons and Access Persons. The Compliance Officer will
administer and interpret this Policy, and enforce compliance as needed. The Compliance Officer may consult with Upwork’s outside
legal counsel as needed. The Compliance Officer may designate one or more individuals who may perform the Compliance Officer’s
duties in the event that the Compliance Officer is unable or unavailable to perform such duties.
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Any Covered Person who violates this Policy or any federal or state laws governing insider trading or tipping, or knows of any such
violation by any other Covered Person, must report the violation immediately to the Compliance Officer.

The effective date of this Policy is the date first written above. The amendments to this Policy as adopted on the effective date will not
apply to any existing 10b5-1 Plan that was entered into prior to the effective date of this Policy, except to the extent that a Plan
Modification is made to such plan after the effective date of this Policy.

Please direct all inquiries about this Policy to the Compliance Officer.
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Defined Terms in the Insider Trading Policy

“10b5-1 Plan” means a written plan to trade securities that complies with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act.

“Access Persons” means persons, other than Section 16 Persons, who have been designated by Upwork as having regular access to
material nonpublic information about Upwork in the normal course of their duties. Special provisions of this Policy, such as pre-
approval of any trades, apply to Access Persons. The Access Persons are listed on Exhibit A, provided that no such person listed on
Exhibit A that is a Section 16 Person should be considered an Access Person. The Compliance Officer may update and amend this
list from time to time.

“Blackout Period” means any special trading blackouts period specially designated by the Compliance Officer. It may apply to
particular individuals or groups of persons (including all Covered Persons), and last for such time as the Compliance Officer
determines. No Covered Person may trade in Upwork securities outside of the applicable Trading Windows or during any such
Blackout Periods.

“Upwork”, “we”, “our” or “Company” means Upwork Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Compliance Officer” for this Policy refers to our Chief Legal Officer (or, if there is nobody with the Chief Legal Officer title, then the
attorney in the Company’s legal function with the most senior role); in his or her absence our Chief Financial Officer may serve as
Compliance Officer.

“Covered Persons” refers to all Service Providers, as well as the members of their immediate families and persons sharing their
households; it also covers entities (such as partnerships, trusts and corporations) that are affiliated or associated with such persons.
An affiliate is someone who directly or indirectly controls or is controlled by, or is under common control with such person. An
associate of a Covered Person is (1) a corporation or organization (other than Upwork or a majority-owned subsidiary of Upwork) of
which such person is an officer or partner or is directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of 10% or more of any class of equity
securities or (2) any trust in which such person has a substantial beneficial interest or as to which such person serves as trustee or in
a similar capacity.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time.

“Plan Modification” means any modification or change to the amount, price, or timing of the purchase or sale of Upwork securities
underlying a 10b5-1 Plan (or a modification or change to a written formula or algorithm, or computer program that affects the amount,
price, or timing of the purchase or sale of such securities).

“Policy” means this Upwork Insider Trading Policy, as adopted and amended from time to time by the Upwork Board of Directors.

“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Section 16 Persons” means the officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) of Upwork and members of the board of
directors, including the principal accounting officer (if separate from the principal financial officer). Special provisions of this Policy,
such as pre-approval of any trades, and special SEC reporting requirements, apply to Section 16 Persons.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time.

        



“Trading Window” means the period when trading is normally permitted under the Policy. The Trading Window covers the period
beginning after the close of trading on the next full trading day following our widespread public release of quarterly or year-end
operating results, and ending at the close of trading on the seventh day of the third month of the then-current quarter.
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Exhibit A

Access Persons

Maintained separately by the Compliance Officer.



Frequently Asked Questions

What is “material nonpublic information?”

Information is “material” if it would be expected to affect the investment or voting decisions of a reasonable investor, or if the
disclosure of the information would be expected to alter significantly the total mix of the information in the marketplace about Upwork.
In simple terms, material information is any type of information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of
Upwork’s securities. Both positive and negative information may be material.

The following types of information about Upwork (among others) would often be considered material:

● financial performance, especially quarterly and year-end revenues and earnings, and significant changes in financial
performance or liquidity;

● financial and operational forecasts, including projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;

● key operational metrics, such as gross services volume (GSV), freelancer earnings, client spend retention, client and
freelancer counts (including number of core clients), performance metrics, financial metrics, and any changes in such
metrics;

● significant cybersecurity incidents or data breaches;

● user, product, service, pricing, geography and market strategies and shifts;

● status of Upwork’s progress toward achieving significant Company goals;

● potential tender offers, joint ventures, mergers, acquisitions, or material sales of Company assets or subsidiaries or other
strategic transactions;

● significant developments regarding clients, freelancers, vendors, partners or financing sources, such as the acquisition or
loss of a significant contract;

● stock splits, public or private securities or debt offerings, or changes in Upwork’s dividend policies or amounts;

● significant changes in senior management or the Board of Directors;

● entry into a new strategic relationships, and cancellation of existing strategic relationships;

● introduction of new products and services or significant changes in products, services, research or technologies;

● significant developments about Upwork’s technology or business operations;

● initiation or resolution of significant litigation or regulatory proceedings;

● potential defaults under Upwork’s credit agreements or indentures, or the existence of material liquidity deficiencies; and

● potential restatements of Upwork’s financial statements, changes in Upwork’s auditor or notification that Upwork may no
longer rely on an auditor’s report.

The SEC has stated there is no fixed quantitative threshold amount for determining materiality, and that even very small quantitative
changes can be qualitatively material if they would result in a movement in the price of Upwork’s securities.



Information is “nonpublic” if it has not been widely disseminated to the public (e.g., through major newswire services, national news
services, SEC Form 8-K or other filings, webcasts or financial news services). For the purposes of this Policy, information will be
considered public, i.e., no longer “nonpublic,” only after the close of trading on the next full trading day following Upwork’s widespread
public release of the information.

Covered Persons who are unsure whether the information that they possess is material or nonpublic are encouraged to consult the
Compliance Officer for guidance.

What are the penalties for failing to comply with the Policy?

The consequences of prohibited insider trading or tipping can be severe. Persons violating insider trading or tipping laws may be
required to disgorge profits made or losses avoided by trading, pay the loss suffered by the persons who purchased securities from
or sold securities to the insider tipper, pay civil penalties of up to three times the profit made or loss avoided, pay a criminal penalty of
up to $5 million and serve a prison term of up to 20 years. Upwork and/or the supervisors of the person violating the rules may also
be required to pay major civil or criminal penalties and could under certain circumstances be subject to private lawsuits by
contemporaneous traders for damages suffered as a result of illegal insider trading or tipping by persons under Upwork’s control.

Violation of this Policy, or federal or state securities laws governing insider trading, may subject the violator to disciplinary action by
Upwork up to and including termination of employment for cause (in the case of an employee or further service in the case of a
contractor) or removal proceedings (in the case of a director). A violation of this Policy is not necessarily the same as a violation of
law. In fact, for the reasons indicated above, this Policy is intended to be broader than the law. Upwork reserves the right to
determine, in its own discretion and on the basis of the information available to it, whether this Policy has been violated. Upwork may
determine that specific conduct violates this Policy, whether or not the conduct also violates the law. It is not necessary for Upwork to
await the filing or conclusion of a civil or criminal action against the alleged violator before taking disciplinary action.

Are these FAQs part of the Insider Trading Policy?

Yes, these FAQs are part of the policy, and you must comply with their provisions.

How does the Policy apply to trades under Upwork’s Equity Incentive Plan?

The trading prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the exercise of a stock option with cash, or settlement of a
restricted stock unit, or to automatic tax withholding. The trading prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy do apply to the use of
outstanding Company securities to serve as all or a portion of the exercise price of any stock option or to net-exercise an option (if
permitted). Sales of Company securities acquired under that plan are subject to this Policy.

I know trades in Company stock are not permitted in a closed Trading Window. Can I still exercise a stock option, if I am not
going to sell any shares?

Yes. For clarity, exercise of a vested stock option, not accompanied by a sale, is not considered a “trade” under this Policy.

How does the Policy apply to trades under Upwork’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan?

The trading prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy do not apply to periodic wage withholding contributions to the 2018 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan or any successor employee stock purchase plan
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that are used to purchase Company securities under that plan (or the purchases made under the plan in accordance with its terms),
including (i) purchases of Company securities resulting from lump sum contributions to such plan, provided that the election to
participate by lump sum payment was made by the participant at the beginning of the applicable enrollment period, and (ii) any
alteration by a Covered Person of his or her instructions about the level of withholding or purchase of Company securities under that
plan. However, sales of Company securities acquired under that plan are subject to this Policy.

How does the Policy apply to tax withholding arrangements?

The trading prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy do apply to any elective tax withholding right (i.e., pursuant to which an election
has been made to have Upwork withhold shares subject to such awards to satisfy tax withholding requirements), as well as to any
sales of Company common stock, including as part of a broker-assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for
the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option or satisfy tax withholding requirements. The trading
prohibitions and restrictions of this Policy do not apply to automatic tax withholdings initiated and approved by Upwork for the
payment of taxes upon the vesting of restricted stock units.

What are the procedures for getting approval of a proposed trade in compliance with the Policy?

No Section 16 Person or Access Person may trade in Company securities until the following steps are completed:

(a) The person trading has notified the Compliance Officer of the amount and nature of the proposed trade no later than two
business days prior to the proposed trade. The trading person can initiate this process during an open Trading Window by
either emailing tradeapprovals@upwork.com or by accessing the Shareworks approval tool in Shareworks by selecting
“Create Pre-Clearance Request” in the “Restricted Trades” tab.

(b) The person trading will have certified that such person is not in possession of material nonpublic information concerning
Upwork and, to such person’s knowledge, such person will not be in possession of material nonpublic information concerning
Upwork on the date of the proposed trade.

(c) The Compliance Officer or its designee has approved the trade either in writing (including via email) or through the
Shareworks approval tool. The Compliance Officer is not obligated to approve any trades requested by any person.

(d) The trading person makes the trade within five business days after receiving approval from the Compliance Officer.

What does “immediate family member” mean?

For purposes of this Policy, an immediate family member means any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-
law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law of a person security holder, and includes any person
(other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of that person.

Is a gift of Company stock covered by the Policy?

Yes. A Covered Person may not make a gift, charitable contribution or other transfer without consideration, of Company securities
during a period when that Covered Person is not permitted to trade, provided however that a Covered Person may make a gift,
charitable contribution or other
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transfer without consideration, of Company securities to another Covered Person during a period when both the parties are not
permitted to trade upon review and approval of the Compliance Officer.

Is a purchase of Company stock considered a “trade” under the Policy? Or only sales of Company stock?

Both purchases and sales of Company stock are considered “trades” under the Policy.

Are transactions in derivative securities covered by the Policy?

Yes. No Covered Person may acquire, sell, trade or participate in any interest or position relating to the future price of Company
securities, such as a put option, a call option, or a short sale (including a short sale “against the box”).

What is a short sale, and what is a short sale “against the box?”

A short sale is a sale of securities that you do not own (i.e. borrowed securities). A short sale “against the box” is a sale of securities
you own, but with delayed delivery.

Are contributions to exchange funds covered by this Policy?

Yes. No Covered Person may contribute Upwork securities to exchange funds that could be interpreted as having the effect of
hedging in Upwork securities.

Are standing and limit orders covered by the Policy?

Unless part of a 10b5-1 Plan, standing or limit orders should be used only for a very brief period of time, if at all. A standing order
placed with a broker to sell or purchase Upwork stock at a specified minimum or maximum price leaves you with no control over the
timing of the transaction. The limit order could be executed by the broker when you are aware of material nonpublic information,
which would result in unlawful insider trading. Irrespective, for Covered Persons they cannot extend beyond the Trading Window and
for Section 16 and Access Persons, they cannot extend beyond the preclearance period.

Can I hold Upwork securities in a margin account?

Securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral for a loan may be sold without your consent—by the broker if you fail to
meet a margin call, or by the lender in foreclosure if you default on the loan. Because a margin or foreclosure sale may occur at a
time when you are aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in Upwork securities, you are
prohibited from holding Upwork securities in a margin account or pledging Upwork securities as collateral for a loan.

Under what circumstances can I pledge Upwork securities as collateral for a loan?

An exception to the prohibition on using Upwork securities as collateral for a loan (not including margin debt) may be granted by the
Compliance Officer where you have clearly demonstrated the financial capacity to repay the loan without resort to the pledged
securities. If you wish to pledge Upwork securities as collateral for a loan, you must submit a request for approval to the Compliance
Officer at least two weeks prior to the proposed execution of documents evidencing the proposed pledge.
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I have a hardship or other urgent need to sell Company shares, or exercise a stock option so I can sell some Company
shares. Is that okay?

It does not matter that there may exist a justifiable reason for a purchase or sale apart from the nonpublic information; if the Covered
Person has material nonpublic information, the prohibition still applies.

I know that disclosures of material nonpublic information are prohibited under the Policy; is it okay if I monitor or
participate in a chat room?

No.  A Covered Person may not participate, in any manner other than passive observation, in any investment or stock-related Internet
“chat” rooms, blogs, social media sites, message boards or other similar online forums relating to Upwork without the prior approval
of the Compliance Officer and in compliance with Upwork’s Corporate Communications and Social Media Policies and any other
applicable policy.

What are the procedures for trading under a 10b5-1 Plan?

In addition to the procedures for trades not under a 10b5-1 Plan, the person seeking to trade under a 10b5-1 Plan must put in place
such a plan that complies with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1. Compliance Officer approval of a 10b5-1 Plan shall not be
considered a determination by Upwork or the Compliance Officer that the 10b5-1 Plan satisfies the requirements of Rule 10b5-1.
Upwork reserves the right to prevent any transactions in Company securities, even those pursuant to a 10b5-1 Plan, in the sole
discretion of the Compliance Officer.

No trades shall be treated as having been made pursuant to a 10b5-1 Plan under this Policy unless:

(a) the 10b5-1 Plan complies with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and this Policy;

(b) the 10b5-1 Plan is entered into during an open Trading Window and not during any quarterly or Blackout Period;

(c) the first trade under the 10b5-1 Plan may not occur (i) for a Section 16 Person: until the later of (A) ninety (90) days after
adoption of the 10b5-1 Plan and (B) two (2) business days following the disclosure of Upwork’s financial results in a Form 10-
Q or Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the 10b5-1 Plan was adopted that discloses Upwork’s financial
results (but not to exceed 120 days following the adoption of the 10b5-1 Plan) and (ii) for persons other than Section 16
Persons: at least thirty days after adoption of the 10b5-1 Plan, in each case, following our Compliance Officer’s approval of
the 10b5-1 Plan;

(d) no trades under the 10b5-1 Plan may occur within the period between the first day of a quarter and the end of the first full
trading day following the release of quarterly or year-end earnings for the prior quarter;

(e) the 10b5-1 Plan is not a single trade 10b5-1 Plan adopted during the 12-month period immediately following the person’s
adoption of another single-trade 10b5-1 Plan, subject to the exceptions noted in Rule 10b5-1, which are provided for you in
the Appendix;

(f) the person establishing the 10b5-1 Plan has certified to the Compliance Officer in writing no earlier than two business days
prior to the date that the 10b5-1 Plan is formally adopted (and shall not have withdrawn such certification prior to such
adoption), that as of such date and as of the adoption date of the 10b5-1 Plan, (i) such person is not, and to such person’s
knowledge, will not be aware of material nonpublic information concerning Upwork and all such trades to be made pursuant to
the 10b5-1 Plan will be made in accordance with applicable SEC rules,
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(ii) the 10b5-1 Plan complies with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, (iii) such person is adopting the 10b5-1 Plan in good faith
and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 of the
Exchange Act and (iv) such person will act in good faith with respect to the 10b5-1 Plan throughout its duration; and

(g) the Compliance Officer is not obligated to approve any trades requested by any person, or to approve any 10b5-1 Plan. When
approval is sought, there is no set timeline for how long such approval might take.

You must notify the Compliance Officer promptly via email and withdraw the certification if any changes of circumstances prior to the
adoption date of the 10b5-1 Plan have or will render the certification to be inaccurate as of that time.

An individual may have no more than one 10b5-1 Plan adopted at any point in time (i.e., multiple concurrent or overlapping plans are
prohibited), subject to the exceptions noted in Rule 10b5-1, which are provided for you in the Appendix. One of these exceptions is
for plans authorizing “sell-to-cover” transactions.

The establishment and implementation of any 10b5-1 Plan shall be the sole responsibility of the person seeking to establish such a
plan.

Once you have an approved 10b5-1 Plan in place, you will need approval from the Compliance Officer to make certain changes to it.
Making a Plan Modification will be deemed to be the same as terminating your existing 10b5-1 Plan and entering into a new 10b5-1
Plan. As a result, the approval process for a Plan Modification is the same as the approval process for initially adopting a 10b5-1
Plan, including being subject to a new Cooling-Off Period. We discourage you from making multiple Plan Modifications, as that may
give the appearance that you are trading on material nonpublic information under the guise of that plan. Plan Modifications can only
be made during a Trading Window and not during any Blackout Period and only when you are not in possession of material
nonpublic information. For other modifications to a 10b5-1 Plan, you must notify the Compliance Officer of such modification at least
two business days prior to the modification and such modification must be approved by the Compliance Officer.

A 10b5-1 Plan may be terminated with immediate effect provided such request for termination has been approved by the Compliance
Officer. Once a 10b5-1 Plan is terminated, any new plan adopted post-termination must meet the requirements above for new 10b5-1
Plans.

Once a 10b5-1 Plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at
which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The 10b5-1 Plan must either:

● Clearly specify in advance the amount, pricing and timing of transactions (including by formula or algorithm), or

● Delegate discretion on those matters to an independent third party (such as a securities broker or investment manager). Of
course, the independent third party cannot make discretionary investment decisions on behalf of the individual while the
independent third party is in possession of material nonpublic information about Upwork.

Unless otherwise approved by the Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer, all 10b5-1 Plans must be implemented through a
broker included in a list approved by the Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer may amend this list from time to time.
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What are my obligations once I am no longer providing services to Upwork?

You should observe the Trading Window restrictions for 90 days following the termination of your employment or service relationship.
Further, if you are aware of material nonpublic information when your employment or service relationship terminates, you may not
trade in Upwork securities until that information has become public or is no longer material.

How does the Policy apply to trades by the Compliance Officer?

The Compliance Officer may not trade in Company securities unless the trade has been approved by Upwork’s Chief Financial Officer
(or Chief Executive Officer if the Compliance Officer is the Chief Financial Officer) in accordance with this Policy.

What additional duties does the Compliance Officer have?

In addition to the duties of the Compliance Officer specified in the Policy, the Compliance Officer or its designee, shall:

● Respond to inquiries relating to this Policy and its procedures.

● Designate and announce special trading Blackout Periods during which Covered Persons may not trade in Company
securities.

● Revise this Policy as necessary to reflect changes in federal or state laws and regulations, subject to approval by Upwork’s
Board of Directors or a duly authorized committee thereof. The list of individuals who may adopt 10b5-1 Trading Plans and the
list of Access Persons may be amended by the Compliance Officer.

● Maintain as Company records originals or copies of all documents required by the provisions of this Policy or the procedures
set forth herein, and copies of all required SEC reports relating to insider trading, including without limitation Forms 3, 4, 5 and
144 and Schedules 13D and 13G.
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Appendix

Exceptions to the Multiple, Overlapping 10b5-1 Plan Restriction

Such exceptions are:

● An eligible “sell-to-cover” 10b5-1 Plan where such plan authorizes an agent to sell only such securities as are necessary to
satisfy tax withholding obligations arising exclusively from the vesting of a compensatory award, such as restricted stock or
stock appreciation rights, and the Covered Person does not otherwise exercise control over the timing of such sales. For the
avoidance of doubt, this exception does not extend to sales incident to the exercise of option awards.

● A series of separate contracts with different broker-dealers or other agents acting on behalf of the person (other than the
Company) to execute trades thereunder may be treated as a single 10b5-1 Plan, provided that the individual constituent
contracts with each broker-dealer or other agent, when taken together as a whole, meet all of the applicable conditions of and
remain collectively subject to the provisions of Rule 10b5-1, including that a modification of any individual contract acts as
modification of the whole 10b5-1 Plan, as defined in Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(iv). The substitution of a broker-dealer or other agent
acting on behalf of the person (other than the Company) for another broker-dealer that is executing trades pursuant to a 10b5-
1 Plan shall not be a “Plan Modification” as long as the purchase or sales instructions applicable to the substitute and
substituted broker are identical with respect to the prices of securities to be purchased or sold, dates of the purchases or
sales to be executed, and amount of securities to be purchased or sold.

● One later-commencing 10b5-1 Plan for purchases or sales of any securities of the Company on the open market under which
trading is not authorized to begin until after all trades under the earlier-commencing 10b5-1 Plan are completed or expired
without execution. However, if the earlier-commencing 10b5-1 Plan does not end naturally pursuant to its existing terms
without action by the 10b5-1 Plan participant, the first trade under such later-commencing 10b5-1 Plan must be scheduled
after the “Effective Cooling-Off Period,” or the Cooling-Off Period that would be applicable to the later-commencing 10b5-1
Plan if the date of adoption of the later-commencing 10b5-1 Plan were deemed to be the date of termination of the earlier-
commencing 10b5-1 Plan.

Exceptions to the Single-Trade 10b5-1 Plan Restriction

There is an exception for eligible “sell-to-cover” 10b5-1 Plans where the plan authorizes an agent to sell only such securities as are
necessary to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising exclusively from the vesting of a compensatory award, such as restricted
stock or stock appreciation rights, and the Covered Person does not otherwise exercise control over the timing of such sales.



 

Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Upwork Inc.

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction
Elance, Inc. Delaware

Upwork Global Inc. California

Upwork Talent Group Inc. Delaware

Upwork Escrow Inc. Delaware

Elance Limited Ireland

UPW Holdco, Inc. Delaware

Upwork Payments Inc. Delaware

Objective AI, Inc. Delaware



 

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-227684, 333-230140,
333-236839, 333-253406, 333-262756, 333-269835, and 333-277113) of Upwork Inc. of our report dated February 13, 2025 relating
to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California

February 13, 2025



 

EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

I, Hayden Brown, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Upwork Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)     Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

b)     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

  

Date: February 13, 2025

/s/ Hayden Brown

Hayden Brown

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



 

EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

I, Erica Gessert, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Upwork Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)     Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

b)     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

  

Date: February 13, 2025

/s/ Erica Gessert

Erica Gessert

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



 

EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Hayden Brown, Chief Executive Officer of Upwork Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

• the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
for the periods presented therein.

  

Date: February 13, 2025

/s/ Hayden Brown

Hayden Brown

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



 

EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Erica Gessert, Chief Financial Officer of Upwork Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

• the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
for the periods presented therein.

  

Date: February 13, 2025

/s/ Erica Gessert

Erica Gessert

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)


